# Performance of various oral modified release dosage forms in hydroethanolic media

Inaugural-Dissertation

## to obtain the academic degree

Doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)

submitted to the Department of Biology, Chemistry, Pharmacy

of Freie Universität Berlin

by

Tobias Heinrich

The enclosed work was executed between September 2018 and December 2022 under the supervision of Prof. Dr. Roland Bodmeier at the College of Pharmacy, Freie Universität Berlin.

1<sup>st</sup> reviewer: Prof. Dr. Roland Bodmeier

2<sup>nd</sup> reviewer: Prof. Dr. Philippe Maincent

Date of defense: 12.01.2023

### Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Hiermit versichere ich an Eides statt, dass die vorliegende Arbeit von mir selbstständig und ohne unerlaubte Hilfe Dritter verfasst wurde und ich keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel verwendet sowie wörtliche und sinngemäße Zitate als solche kenntlich gemacht habe. Diese Arbeit hat in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form noch keiner anderen Prüfungsbehörde vorgelegen und wurde bisher nicht veröffentlicht.

Berlin den 08.12.2022

**Tobias Heinrich** 

## Acknowledgments

Foremost, I want to thank Prof. Dr. Bodmeier for having the opportunity to accomplish this work. I thank him, for believing in me, giving me the space to explore the scientific world on my own, and the guidance, to not wander astray along the way.

I am very grateful to Prof. Dr. Philippe Maincent for the reading and evaluation of my thesis.

I thank the other members of the College of Pharmacy for taking their time and helping me in my Ph.D. My thanks especially go to Dr. Andriy Dashevskiy, Dr. Martin Körber, Dr. Rebaz Ali, Dr. Marina Kolbina and Dr. Sven Staufenbiel for providing me with smaller and larger insights in scientific discussions and valuable ideas and knowledge. I am grateful to Stefan Walter, Andreas Krause, and Gabriela Karsubke, for their consistent support and to Jan Rost for lending a helping hand.

I want to thank my current and former colleagues, Amira, Marius, Alam, Aysu, Florian, Katharina, Sebastian, Zun, Friedericke, Len, Ting, Lisa, Lukas, Zilin and Neele for sharing their guidance, sorrow, and laughter with me and always keeping up the hope even in troublesome times, especially Alam, Aysu, Florian, and Katharina for their continued support throughout my Ph.D.

I would like to express my gratitude towards my friends for helping me stay on track even if times got difficult. I would like to specially mention Felix, for having sparked my interest in statistics and always having an open ear for my problems and sorrows, whether scientific or not. Special thanks also to Stefan, for having the empathy in sharing this burden with me.

I sincerely thank Florian, Felix, René and Stefan for proofreading all or parts of this thesis.

I want to express my deepest gratitude to my parents and my family for their support in all the steps along the way and to Tanja, for being the patience and calm I miss and for supporting me every day anew.

## Table of contents

1	Intr	Introduction1				
	1.1	Modif	ied release oral dosage forms	1		
		1.1.1	Release from matrix systems	1		
		1.1.2	Release from coated systems	5		
	1.2	Physic	Physiological considerations for release10			
	1.3	The effects of ethanol consumption13				
		1.3.1	Pharmacokinetics of ethanol	14		
		1.3.2	Specific ethanol-drug interactions	15		
	1.4	Effect	of ethanol on release from oral dosage forms	16		
		1.4.1	Matrix systems in hydroethanolic media	18		
		1.4.2	Coated systems in hydroethanolic media	21		
	1.5	Bioequ	uivalence	23		
	1.6	Statist	ical methods	24		
		1.6.1	Statistical comparison of release profiles	24		
		1.6.2	Handling of missing data	25		
		1.6.3	Multiple linear regression	26		
	1.7	Object	tives	29		
2	Ma	Materials and Methods				
	2.1	Mater	ials	30		
	2.2	2 Methods				
		2.2.1	Solubility	31		
		2.2.2	Partition coefficient	32		
		2.2.3	Preparation of tablets	32		
		2.2.4	Preparation of pellets	33		
		2.2.4	.1 Layering	33		
		2.2.4	.2 Coating	34		
		2.2.5	Size of tablets	35		
		2.2.6	Release testing	35		
		2.2.7	Medium uptake & dry weight loss	36		
		2.2.8	Solvent content	36		
		2.2.9	Mechanical properties	37		

	2.2.9.1	Puncture strength and elongation of polymeric films	37
	2.2.9.2	Gel strength of polymer tablets	37
	2.2.9.3	Viscosity	38
	2.2.10 V	isual observations and swelling	38
	2.2.11 S	tatistical evaluation of release behavior	39
	2.2.12 E	valuation of literature data	41
	2.2.12.2	L Literature search	41
	2.2.12.2	2 Data preparation	41
	2.2.12.3	3 Multiple imputation and linear regression	42
3	Results and	Discussion	44
	3.1 Multiple	linear regression of published studies on the in-vitro results of oral modifi	ed
	release f	ormulations in hydroethanolic media	44
	3.1.1 N	Nean-dissolution time and similarity factor	45
	3.1.1.1	MDT-ratio	47
	3.1.1.2	f <sub>2</sub> -value	50
	3.1.2 E	mpiric comparison of release mechanism	52
	3.1.3 C	Conclusion	55
	3.2 The beh	avior of commercial products in aqueous and hydroethanolic media	56
	3.2.1 C	Commercial products of duloxetine HCI	56
	3.2.2 C	Commercial products of doxazosin mesylate	64
	3.3 The beh	avior of matrix tablets in hydroethanolic media	67
	3.3.1 ⊦	lydrophilic polymers	68
	3.3.1.1	Release of paracetamol	69
	3.3.1.2	Change of polymer properties in hydroethanolic media	70
	3.3.1.3	Influence of drug-polymer ratio on release of paracetamol in hydroethanolic m	edia73
	3.3.1.4	Influence of fillers on the release of paracetamol from hydrophilic matrices	75
	3.3.1.5	Influence of agitation on the release in hydroethanolic media	78
	3.3.1.6	Release of carbamazepine from hydrophilic polymers	81
	3.3.1.7	Visual observations of release	83
	3.3.1.8	Mathematical evaluation of release	86
	3.3.1.9	Influence of fillers on the release of carbamazepine from hydrophilic matrices .	88
	3.3.2 li	nsoluble polymers	89
	3.3.2.1	Release of paracetamol from insoluble polymers	89
	3.3.2.2	Influence of fillers on the release of paracetamol from insoluble matrices	92
	3.3.2.3	Release of carbamazepine from insoluble polymers	93
	3.3.2.4	Release of metoprolol from insoluble polymers	95

		3.3.3	Conclusion	96		
	3.4	3.4 The behavior of extended-release pellets in aqueous and hydroethanolic				
		3.4.1	Comparison of different coating polymers	97		
		3.4.2	Release of different drugs from ethylcellulose	101		
		3.4.3	Swelling and medium uptake of ethylcellulose coated pellets	105		
		3.4.4	Mechanical properties of ethylcellulose films	107		
		3.4.5	Influence of osmolality on release	108		
		3.4.6	Influence of coating level on release	110		
		3.4.7	Influence of hydrophilic polymers in the coating on release behavior	113		
		3.4.8	Conclusion	114		
	3.5 The behavior of enteric-coated pellets in aqueous and hydroethanolic media					
		3.5.1	Methacrylic acid-methyl-methacrylate-copolymer (Eudragit <sup>®</sup> L)	115		
		3.5.2	Polyvinyl acetate phthalate (PVAP)	116		
		3.5.3	Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose-phthalate (HPMCP)	118		
		3.5.3.	1 The behavior of HPMCP-coated pellets layered with propranolol HCl	118		
		3.5.3.	2 The effect of a HPMC sub-coating on the release of enteric coated pellets	126		
		3.5.3.	3 The behavior of HPMCP-coated pellets layered with theophylline	129		
4	Sun	nmary.		136		
5	Zus	ammer	ıfassung	140		
6	Ref	erences	5	145		
7	Арр	pendice	S	164		
	7.1 Appendix A – Script for equation fitting					
	7.2 Appendix B – Correlation matrix of variables used in the MLR					
	7.3 Appendix C – Correlation coefficients of omitted variables					
	7.4 Appendix D – VIF values for MLR					
	7.5	dix E – Correlation coefficients for %-release-via-diffusion ratios	183			

## 1 Introduction

## 1.1 Modified release oral dosage forms

Oral modified release refers to the extension or delay of the release of a drug from a pharmaceutical formulation in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) to improve the bioavailability, patient compliance, reduce side-effects or prolong the therapeutic effect [1]. The main approaches to achieve modified release are to disperse the drug homogeneously in the matrix of release-modifying agents, referred to as matrix systems, or to surround the drug and potential excipients with a layer of release-modifying agents, referred to as reservoir systems.

#### 1.1.1 Release from matrix systems

Modified release matrix tablets have previously been the most widespread oral formulation type [2] and can include both soluble, or hydrophilic, and insoluble polymers [3]. The term matrix refers to a homogeneous distribution of the drug, the modified release agents, most often a polymer, and other included excipients.

The release from matrix tablets depends, among others, on the type and amount of polymer, its viscosity and particle size, the amount, solubility, and size of drug particles as well as the amount of excipients [4]. An increase in compression strength usually leads to a reduction in drug release [5]. The geometric shape of the tablet also has a profound effect on the release rate [6] as well as on the swelling, as tablets swell more in the axial direction compared to the radial direction [7].

Diffusion, swelling and, matrix erosion have been identified as possible mechanisms of drug release from systems based on hydrophilic matrix formers [8-11]. In contrast, the release from insoluble matrices is limited to diffusion and, potentially, swelling.

A lot of research regarding the release from hydrophilic matrix tablets has focused on hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC), likely being the most widespread hydrophilic matrix polymer in use [12]. Many of the models, also applied to other hydrophilic matrix polymers, derive from this research, rendering HPMC a model substance in this field.

Upon exposure to aqueous media, HPMC hydrates to form a swollen and viscous gel layer, depending on the concentration of the polymer, sustaining the further invasion of the medium (Fig. 1). Over time, the gel layer erodes as the HPMC dissolves in the medium. The diffusion front separates areas of dissolved drug from undissolved drug [2]. The interaction of the release medium with the HPMC reduces the glass transition temperature. This results in a glass-liquid transition, separating the more hydrated rubbery state from the lower hydrated glassy core. This is associated with a strong increase in the diffusion coefficient of the medium inside the polymer [13]. The position of these fronts can vary depending on the drug solubility [9]. Drug particles of low solubility can be transported with the gel layer and shift the diffusion front further outwards compared to drugs of high solubility. The presence of these undissolved particles also reduces the entanglement of the polymer, leading to less swelling and faster erosion. Drug release from these matrices is therefore by diffusion of the dissolved drug or by erosion of the polymer, resulting in the release of dissolved or undissolved drug.



Fig. 1 Layers and fronts of a HPMC tablet in media, adapted from Pygall et al. [4]

The release-inhibiting properties of HPMC are highly dependent on its hydration rate and therefore on its hydrophilic properties. The most commonly used type for extended-release is the 2208 type (e.g. Methocel® K), which is cellulose substituted with 22% methoxy-groups and 8% hydroxypropyl groups [14] and available in different viscosity grades. Due to its high hydrophilicity, it swells faster than the 2906 (e.g., Methocel® F) and the 2910 (e.g., Methocel® E) grades and reduces media penetration into the inside of the tablet more. The viscosity of HPMC is determined in a 2% aqueous solution at 20°C and is an indirect measurement of the molecular weight. Lower viscosity grades of HPMC are recommended for low solubility drugs [14-16] to accelerate their release to allow complete drug release in the intestine.

Like HPMC, many other polymers used for formulating hydrophilic matrix systems contain a sugar structure and derive from starch or cellulose. Starch derivates can be applied in their natural form [4, 17] or chemically modified [18]. Corn starch has been used in the preparation of modified release matrix pellets [17]. However, a poor compactability and problems of enzymatic degradations often create a necessity to use modified starches. These include e.g. pregelatinized starch, carboxymethyl starch, or cross-linked starch [19].

Cellulose is water-insoluble and must be chemically modified to be used as a matrix polymer. Hydroxypropyl cellulose (HPC) is not substituted with methylene groups, but with a higher amount of hydroxypropyl groups of over 50% [20]. Due to the additional hydroxypropyl-part it is more hydrophobic than HPMC but can also be utilized for modified release and other applications like 3D printing [21, 22].

Other polymers successfully applied for extended-release matrices include natural oligosaccharides like xanthan gum [23, 24]. Polyethylenoxide (PEO) has recently attracted more attention for modified release [25] and releases drugs through a similar layer model in the release medium as HPMC [26]. While these polymers mainly release pH-independent, some matrix formers have a pH-dependent release behavior. Carbopol<sup>®</sup>, a brand of acrylic acid polymers with an acidic carboxyl group, swells more at neutral pH, which may result in a faster release of highly soluble drugs at low pH [27-29].

Different methods have been developed to calculate the release from matrix systems [30, 31]. Empirical approaches aim to give information about the mechanism, by which the drug is released. The most commonly used is the Peppas equation [8]:

$$\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} = k * t^m \qquad \qquad \text{equation 1}$$

Where  $\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}}$  is the drug amount released at time *t*, *k* is a kinetic constant and *m* is an exponent to resemble the release mechanism. A value of m of 0.5 would imply a diffusion-based release, a value of 1 would imply a Case-II release and higher values a super-Case-II release. Case-II refers to a special type of anomalous, diffusion mechanism characterized by linear kinetics and a sharp diffusion front, potentially occurring in systems with polymer swelling [32]. This equation is limited to the first 60% of release [31, 33]. There are a few expansions of this equation, introducing, e.g., a burst release [34] or a lag time [35]. The burst release is associated with the

presence of drug particles on the tablet surface, which are directly subjected to the dissolution medium. The lag time can be a result of slow drug dissolution or a reduction in medium penetration due to other excipients [35].

Another extension of this equation by Peppas and Sahlin separated the diffusional and the Case-II release to allow calculation of the %-release-via-diffusion [31]. These methods are not suited for quantitative predictions, but they can be useful to compare different release profiles due to their ease of application [30].

An analytical model considering medium diffusion, polymer swelling, and drug dissolution has been developed for soluble drugs. The model assumes an absence of volume contraction, perfect sink conditions and a time-invariance of the diffusivity of drug and water. Then, a quarter of the axial plane of the matrix is simulated with a uniform distribution of drug and polymer. Through a series of equations the diffusion of water into the tablet, the swelling of the polymer (and simultaneous increase in diffusivity), the diffusion of the drug and the dissolution of the polymer can be calculated simultaneously [11].

This sequential layer model can be applied to drugs of different solubility and different viscosity grades of HPMC [6]. Other approaches like the finite element method have later also been used to predict the release from HPMC tablets with high amounts of maltitol. They could, however, not predict the dissolution and release of the HPMC itself [36].

Insoluble polymers may swell, but do not dissolve in the release medium. They include, among others, the non-swelling ethylcellulose, which differs from the chemically similar hydrophilic cellulose ethers due to its higher degree of substitution. The mixture of polyvinylacetate with polyvinylpyrrolidone, marketed as Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR combines an insoluble polymer with a soluble polymer, leading to a porous, but viscous matrix [3]. Polymethacrylates like Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS are insoluble, but swell to various degree, depending on their substitution. All these polymers create a matrix system, where the drug is released via diffusion [37]. The release from these systems can be described using percolation theory [38]. In brief, the particles fill the sites of a volume with a specific probability *p*. Medium penetrating from the outside will fill the empty sites. Above the site percolation threshold, the medium cannot penetrate all empty sites as some of these will be completely surrounded by particles and thus inaccessible to medium. A similar approach can be applied both to release [3] as well as to tablet compaction [39]. The percolation threshold can change in

the wet state if the glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ) is reduced and the polymer undergoes swelling [3]. A mechanistic mathematic model to predict the drug release from Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR matrices, taking into account the tablet geometry, showed good agreement with experimental data [37].

Lipids can be used alternatively as an insoluble matrix former. They are usually pH-independent due to their insolubility in water and release drugs through fickian diffusion [40]. Calcium stearate has been employed as matrix former for modified release-matrix pellets of paracetamol and codeine phosphate [41]. The addition of xanthan gum accelerated the release rate in 0.1 N HCl and the addition of guar gum the release rate in phosphate buffer system (PBS) 6.8, whereas TiO<sub>2</sub> did not change the underlying release behavior [42].

#### 1.1.2 Release from coated systems

Next to matrix systems, film coated pharmaceutical dosage forms are of utmost practical importance in formulation design [43]. They can be employed for pulsatile-release [44], colon-targeting [45], enteric protection [46] or extended-release [47]. Coated systems are often administered as multiparticulate system, e.g. as coated pellets, due to their higher bioavailability [48] and their better reproducibility [49]. These pellets can then be filled into a capsule or compressed into a tablet [50].

The release mechanism from coated pellets has been the subject of numerous investigations [51, 52]. Ozturk et al have identified three mayor release mechanism from ethylcellulose-coated pellets [52]: osmotic driven release, diffusion through aqueous pores and diffusion through the plasticized polymer phase (Fig. 2). However, an osmotically driven release itself can increase the number of aqueous pores by causing rupturing or cracking of the coating, as well as increase diffusion due to a higher medium uptake and a stretching, and thus thinning, of the coating.





The drug is mainly released via diffusion, if the coating is permeable towards the drug, or via osmotic pumping, if the coating is semi-permeable towards the drug [51, 53].

If a drug cannot permeate through the coating, while the medium can, it can create an osmotic pressure. Medium penetrates into the core and dissolves the drug and other excipients, building up this osmotic pressure [52], if the medium volume exceeds the displaceable volume [54]. This creates a pressure on the coating, which may result in rupturing [55, 56]. The pressure is, strictly speaking, not created by the drug, but by the membrane [57]. As a complete semi-permeability is unlikely in practice, the reflection coefficient is used. It refers to the amount of drug, which cannot pass through the membrane in dissolved state. A high reflection coefficient is essential for the creation of the osmotic pressure [52].

The release mechanism, however, also depends on the preparation method. Coating from an aqueous dispersion will generally result in a less dense coating compared to an organic solution [58]. Coating from an aqueous-organic solution may result in phase separation of the polymer molecules during drying and the creation of a porous coating [59]. At low coating levels the coating may not completely cover the core. In this case, the wettability of the core is critical for release [60].

The distribution of the drug in the core affects the relative release rate [61], as drug-matrix cores have a comparatively higher drug loading at constant surface area compared to drug-layered cores. However, even for layered pellets the material of the core has an impact on release and to

factors such as medium osmolality [62]. Sugar cores will dissolve and may thus create an osmotic medium flow sustaining the release due to media convection, but also creating an osmotic pressure on the coating. The release from microcrystalline (MCC) cores does not show this strong media convection. However, the general release mechanism for MCC and sugar cores with ethylcellulose and small amounts of poly(vinyl alcohol)-poly(ethylene glycol) graft copolymer has previously been stated to be similar [62]. Kállai et al investigated isomalt, sugar and MCC cores coated with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RL and Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS and found a strong difference between isomalt and sugar cores on one side and MCC core on the coating compared to the soluble compounds. They also showed a stronger effect of osmolarity on the release from MCC cores compared to isomalt and sugar cores [63].

The usage and type of plasticizer has a profound effect on the release [55, 64]. Plasticizers are small molecules, that can interact with the coating, either by acting as a lubricant between the polymer chains or by breaking up the intermolecular bonds [65]. Plasticizers can lower the T<sub>g</sub>, allowing coalescence of coating polymers. They can be essential to ensure appropriate polymer properties like enteric-resistance [66]. However, the medium itself can also act as a plasticizer [55]. The elongation and the puncture strength may be increased by the addition of a plasticizer [55]. However, the tensile strength and the elongation to break may also be reduced, depending on the type and amount of plasticizer [67]. This results from the distribution of the plasticizer in the polymer matrix, which may be inhomogeneous [65, 68].

Ethylcellulose (EC) is a rather lipophilic and brittle polymer and thus it mainly releases through cracks created by osmotic pressure, but the inclusion of hydrophilic polymers [69] or the usage of lipophilic drugs [55] allows more release via diffusion through the coating.

Polymethacrylates, marketed as Eudragit<sup>®</sup>, are a versatile group of excipients derived from esterification of poly acrylic acid to achieve immediate release, extended-release with different swelling ability and even enteric-resistance.

Polymethacrylates often swell in release media. Swelling can increase the diffusivity [13] and allow the drug to diffuse through the swollen polymer [70]. Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RL and RS possess quaternary ammonium groups, which may interact with the drug or excipients to further facilitate the release [71].

For Kollicoat<sup>®</sup> SR a mixed effect involving both diffusion through the polymer and through pressure-induced cracks explains the release [72].

The combination of an insoluble coating polymer with a pH-dependent soluble polymer can be used to modify the release further. One approach is colon-targeting, where the introduction of a pH-dependent polymer will result in a lag time. This has been used for indomethacin pellets coated with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS as insoluble coating and Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L and S as pH-dependent soluble coatings [73]. Lecomte et al investigated the combination of ethylcellulose with Eudragit L in various ratios for the release of propranolol HCl [58, 64] and theophylline [61]. They identified an inverse correlation between ethylcellulose content and release rate in phosphate buffer 7.4, but a non-linear, plasticizer dependent order in 0.1 N HCl [64]. The release mechanism changed from diffusion through the intact coating for pure Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L at pH 1.2 to diffusion through water filled cracks with increasing ethylcellulose content [58].

Different models have been established to predict the release from pellets coated with extendedrelease polymers. Frenning et al developed a mathematical model employing liquid inflow, drug dissolution and liquid efflux for the release of salicylic acid from extruded-spheronized pellets of MCC coated with ethylcellulose. They additionally identified the core porosity and the solubility of the drug in the release medium as further factors affecting the drug release [74].

Rosiaux et al used a mathematical model to determine the release of theophylline from pellets coated with ethylcellulose and guar gum. They identified surface area, coating thickness, solubility of the drug in the medium, the partition coefficient between drug and polymer as well the diffusion coefficient of the drug inside the polymer as relevant factors [69]. Marucci et al developed a mechanistic model for the lag time prior to the release of remoxipride from ethylcellulose coated pellets of MCC. They simulated the medium uptake, the drug dissolution, the build-up of tensile stress and the deformation of the pellet before the onset of coating ruptures. They showed a nice fit to experimental data while only having to fit the tensile strength and the drug permeability of the coating.

Oral osmotic systems (OROS) are a special type of coated system, as they differ in their release behavior from both matrix- and other reservoir-systems. They take up medium through a semipermeable coating, which dissolves an osmotically active excipient. The drug then gets transported out via convection through an orifice of a specified size (Fig. 3) [75]. A push layer consisting of hydrogels can be added to accelerate the release [76]. These systems can release drugs independent of pH and stirring rate [77]. The coating is often made of cellulose acetate,

which is semi-permeable, allowing the influx of medium but stopping any outward diffusion of the drug or the osmotic agent.



Fig. 3 Schematic description of different osmotic pumps, adapted from Chen et al [78]

Enteric coatings differ in their intended release mechanism, as they should only allow limited medium penetration or drug release in the stomach, but a rapid release in the intestine [46]. These polymers often possess a weakly acidic group, which is protonated in the acidic pH of the stomach and dissociates at the neutral pH in the intestine. The different enteric polymers differ in their permeability to water vapor and simulated gastric juice [79], their stability [80] as well as the pH, at which they dissolve [81]. The plasticizer used during the coating procedure can also have an effect on the water vapor transmission rate [82].

Thoma et al investigated the residual lipase activity of HPMCAS-coatings from an aqueous suspension or an organic solution and found a better enteric-resistance for the organic solution [80]. For aqueous dispersions of HPMCP they also concluded that a subcoating, a reduction in particle size or an increase in coating amount could improve the residual lipase activity.

Including a partially neutralized coating layer beneath the enteric layer can result in an acceleration of release in the intestine [83]. This is especially important, as there is some controversy regarding the buffering capacity inside the intestine and it has been suggested, that a reduced buffer capacity, compared to the standard USP phosphate buffer 6.8, is more representative of the in-vivo situation [84].

Enteric-resistance for one hour was achieved using ethylcellulose with carboxymethyl cellulose or sodium alginate [85]. An even better combination to achieve enteric-resistance of shellac with sodium alginate did not disintegrate or allow fast release at pH 6.8.

The dissolution of the enteric coating and thus the rate of drug release in the intestine have been successfully modelled for weakly acidic drugs [86]. However, only few publications have evaluated the release in 0.1 N HCl. Lecomte et al have proposed the release of propranolol HCl from pellets coated with an aqueous Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L formulation to be diffusion controlled [58].

#### **1.2** Physiological considerations for release

In recent years different approaches have been employed to evaluate how the gastrointestinal milieu affects the release from peroral dosage forms [87]. Ideally, a formulation should release independent of food or ethanol effects, variations in gastrointestinal motility or gastrointestinal pH, the presence or absence of enzymes, gastrointestinal water volume and independent of pathophysiological changes in the gastrointestinal-physiology or -anatomy. If the absorption is affected by these factors, an ideal formulation may even equilibrate this effect.

The most common approach to mimic the GIT is the use of biorelevant media, hereby taking into consideration the fasted or postprandial state. These can be divided into 4 groups [88]: level 0 mimics the gastrointestinal pH, level 1 adjusts for the buffer capacity, level 2 adds bile salts, lipids and adjusts for osmolarity and level 3 adds dietary proteins, enzymes and adjusts for viscosity. The different stages of the GIT can be mimicked by a change of release medium [89]. Jantratid et al used in-vivo data summarized by Porter et al [90] to develop fed-state media mimicking different parts of the digestion process. They claimed this to be specifically relevant for monolithic extended-release dosage forms, which may experience changes in the intestinal medium composition due to their prolonged exposure and residence [91].

Other approaches have used grinded meals, milk or fat emulsions to simulate the release in fedstate [92]. In the case of HPMC, the fat content of the medium can reduce the release [93]. This was explained by a phase separation at the surface of the tablets, resulting in a coalescence of the fat and the creation of a lipid layer on the tablet surface. This effect is more pronounced for lower viscosity grades of HPMC, as the lipid layer can reduce the erosion rate of the tablet [94]. Such a film can also be caused by proteins and even reduce the disintegration rate of immediate release tablets [95]. Besides the creation of a separating layer, the media in the fed state may be more viscous, reducing the penetration of media into a tablet [96]. The food itself can also interact with the drug and reduce the absorption as shown e.g., for zolpidem [97].

The release is additionally affected by the hydrodynamic conditions and mechanical forces present in the GIT [87].

One of the first approaches to mimic the hydrodynamic conditions derive from Aoki et al, who included polystyrene beads into a paddle apparatus [98]. They found a relationship between their in-vitro results and the in-vivo release observed in dogs. A similar approach was later developed employing a beaker equipped with a magnetic stirrer, where the tablet is subjected to forces by both the glass beads as well as the stirrer [99]. They could replicate the effect of different stirring rates from paddle apparatus on two tablet formulations but did not extend to other applications. Abrahamson et al modelled the required amount of shear forces in-vitro to simulate the fed stomach [100]. They found a high correlation between the surface shear and the mass erosion rate of HPMC tablets using a fixed tablet in a rotating beaker.

The inclusion of random movements, generated by inflation of a balloon, was used to explain the drug release of Voltaren<sup>®</sup> Retard, a commercial product of diclofenac [101]. The new dissolution apparatus could explain the high variability observed in-vivo. In contrast, the use of osmotic tablets showed stable release characteristics, unaffected by mechanical forces [102]. This set-up was later extended to show a strong susceptibility of HPMC tablets to mechanical stress [103]. A similar conclusion was reached by Goldoozian et al, who tested tablets with different viscosity grades of HPMC. They showed that lower viscosity grades of HPMC more likely to show accelerated release in the case of a higher agitation rate [104]. In-vivo monitoring of different HPMC grades confirmed this behavior of a faster erosion rate of the lower viscosity grades. The erosion rates were significantly higher in the fed-state than in the fasted state [105].

Gastrointestinal motility and physiologically equivalent media were combined by Blanquet et al, who presented a multicompartmental in-vitro system (TIM-1) simulating the different parts (stomach, duodenum, jejunum, ileum) of the GIT using a series of glass jackets filled with heated water with a flexible wall, in which the simulated chyme is transported. They could show the difference in absorption of paracetamol from a modified release tablet vs. application as powder, the reduction of absorption by a reduction of transit time and the reduction in absorption in the presence of a meal [106].

Gastric emptying as a physiological process is likely the most relevant transition during drug release in-vivo. It often affects both the pH of the surrounding medium as well as the absorption of drugs, which are frequently absorbed mainly in the intestine [107].

Gastric emptying depends on the prandial status of the patients. The emptying of large dosage forms like tablets and capsules from the stomach is usually during phase III of the migrating motor complex, but can also be introduced by isolated antral contractions [108]. In fasted state, emptying times of both pellets and tablets vary over a wide range [109]. The emptying of minitablets is faster than for pellets, but the time of highest plasma concentration (t<sub>max</sub>) is higher for minitablets than for pellets [110]. The data on gastric emptying of pellets in the fed state is non-conclusive and a long residence time in the fed state, at least for some patients, appears likely [111]. The caloric content of a meal can also have a negative effect on the gastric emptying of pellets [112]. Therefore, while both pellets and tablets are effective modified release formulations, neither can completely avoid the variability in gastric emptying associated with the intake of food [111].

A longer gastric residence time is especially relevant for the release from enteric coated dosage forms. Kenyon et al used gamma scintigraphy to follow the disintegration of enteric coated capsules. While nearly all remained intact in the stomach, the disintegration in the intestine was faster, if the gastric residence time was longer [113].

Knowledge of the physiological conditions in the stomach and the intestine are important, as they would both apply to a formulation taken without ethanol, as well as be altered in the presence of ethanol.

#### **1.3** The effects of ethanol consumption

Ethanol is one of the most widespread legal drugs [114] with the highest intake recorded for Europe, America and the western Pacific region. Despite numerous programs to reduce the amount of ethanol intake, it still increases in some countries like Germany [115]. Frequent drinking is more often encountered in males than in females [115], in countries with higher income [115] as well as in lower income groups [116].

Ethanol consumption accounted for 5.3% of total deaths worldwide and for 5.1% of disabilityadjusted life years (DALYs) in 2016 [115]. 21.3% of these deaths and 17.6% of these DALYs were attributed to digestive diseases, showing the long-term effect of ethanol intake on the gastrointestinal physiology, as explained in more depth by Patel et al. [117]. Briefly, different studies have shown an increase in the intestinal permeability due to acute intake of ethanol [118] as well as with chronic intake [119, 120] and up to two weeks after chronic intake [119]. Chronic intake of ethanol can alter the intestinal microbiota, especially increasing Proteobacteria and Firmicutes [121]. The type of ethanol intake also plays a significant role, as shown in a 20 day trial [122], where the increase in certain bacterial groups was attributed to the presence of polyphenols in red wine compared to gin. The chronic intake can also increase the bacterial growth in the small intestine, i.e., in the upper part of the GIT [123, 124]. Many of these bacteria are gram-negative, and possess lipopolysaccharides, which can cause inflammation and enhance the intestinal permeability [125]. This may not only affect drug uptake but has also been proposed to account for the alcohol-induced liver damage. The treatment with probiotics has shown to reduce this effect [126].

The results regarding the effect of ethanol on the gastric pH are contradictory, showing an increase at low (~5%) concentrations and no or inhibitory effects for high concentrations (40%). This may be caused by fermentation products present in low alcoholic beverages like beer or wine, but not present in distilled products [127]. A prolonged gastric residence time of meals is also described for ethanol [128], even though this may be mostly attributed to the higher caloric content of alcoholic beverages [129]. However, since the concomitant consumption of high concentrations of ethanol and food would lead to a dilution, the presence of highly concentrated ethanol at elevated pH in the stomach seems rather unlikely.

Ethanol can have different effects on the cardiovascular system. A few protective effects like a reduction in plasma glucose, endothelial protection or a reduction in platelet aggregation have been proposed. However, ethanol can also act as a direct toxin of the heart and the vascular system. By stimulating the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone-system, it can raise the blood pressure, further increasing the pressure on the cardiovascular system. An increase in cell apoptosis and a reduction in protein synthesis reduce the contractility of the heart and vascular system. This was believed to result in an overall J-shaped curve of the risk-drinking relationship [130]. However, the J-shape, sometimes also referred to as U-shape, was only visible in conventional observational studies. The use of genetic epidemiology showed no benefit of moderate ethanol consumption [131]. Ethanol dose not only affect the gastrointestinal and the cardiovascular system. Other effects include the fetal alcohol syndrome, an increased risk of cancer, diabetes and infectious diseases as well as unintentional and intentional injuries [115].

Another large problem associated with chronic intake of ethanol is addiction. There are different mechanisms underlying the addiction. In the beginning, patients encounter positive reinforcement, e.g., stimulation or pleasure due to the ethanol. This later turns to a negative reinforcement, where the patients aim to reduce any symptomatic of withdrawal. During this process termed allostasis, the neurotransmitters of the amygdala become dysregulated and cause changes in the reward and stress system [132]. Another mechanism is the incentive sensitization, where patients experience an increase in desire for ethanol, while the rewarding properties experienced during the consumption are either constant or decreasing [133]. However, distinguishing a high ethanol consume from an ethanol addiction is not simple, as different definitions of addiction exist, differentiating e.g., by different diagnostic criteria or special behavior [134].

#### 1.3.1 Pharmacokinetics of ethanol

Ethanol is partially absorbed from the stomach following a zero order rate [135] with a constant value irrespective of ethanol concentration in the range of 1 to 6% of the consumed drink [135, 136], whereas the main absorption is via diffusion in the intestine [137]. However, this only holds for fasted absorption, as in the case of a meal ethanol is absorbed mainly from the stomach due to the longer gastric retention [138]. Without concomitant food intake, ethanol is emptied slower than water [135], but faster than an isocaloric glucose solution [139], indicating that the emptying

is more affected by the osmolarity than the caloric content. The absorption is reduced if the ethanol is cooled [140]. It remains unclear, to what extent and in what region ethanol is first-pass metabolized [141]. A multi-compartment model with a parallel Michaelis-Menten and first order elimination can be used to describe ethanol distribution [142]. Total-body-water-volume is considered to be the main physiological compartment [143] . Ethanol is eliminated mainly by metabolization [141] to acetaldehyde and later on to acetic acid [144]. There are however also other elimination routes like the lungs and the kidneys [145]. Ethanol also induces Cytochrome P450 2E1 (CYP2E1), which can affect both drug metabolism, as well as ethanol metabolization, increasing the risk for liver toxicity [146]. Feeding increases ethanolic metabolization compared to the fasted state [147]. Age affects the distribution of ethanol due to an altered body composition, but not the elimination [148].

#### 1.3.2 Specific ethanol-drug interactions

There are different ways for ethanol to interact with drugs. In pharmacodynamic terms ethanol acts on gamma-amino-butyric acid (GABA) und glutamate dependent synapses [149], which are also the area of effect of many hypnotics like barbiturates, benzodiazepines or Z-drugs [150] leading to an (unwanted) synergistic effect. Alcohol can also increase the side effects of opioid therapy [150]. This is especially problematic, as patients having a methadone addiction also have a higher likelihood of alcohol addiction and a reduced efficacy in standard alcohol abstinence treatment [151]. One explanation may be a higher cerebral availability of unmetabolized methadone due to a modification of its metabolism by ethanol [152]. Pharmacokinetic interactions regarding the metabolism have also been described for paracetamol and ethanol [150]. This was attributed to the induction of CYP2E1, which can increase the creation of toxic metabolites of paracetamol and ultimately lead to liver failure [153].

The risk of concomitant ethanol and drug intake is especially high in elder people. In a 2005 study 77% of the study population aged above 65 used drugs, that have an interactive ethanol effect. Of these, 19% reported concomitant alcohol use, emphasizing the need for better patient information [154].

#### 1.4 Effect of ethanol on release from oral dosage forms

The effects of ethanol on oral controlled release dosage forms have been investigated for nearly fifty years [155], but have gotten a lot more attention in the last two decades following reports of dose dumping from Palladone XL<sup>®</sup>. It was demonstrated, that upon administration of the 12-mg capsule of hydromorphone with 240 ml of 20% or 40% ethanol, the maximum plasma concentration (c<sub>max</sub>) increased to values up to 6 or 16 times higher than without ethanol, respectively [156, 157]. Such an unintended, rapid release of the entire or a significant amount of the active substance in a modified release dosage form in-vivo is often referred to as Dose Dumping [158]. Palladone XL<sup>®</sup> was subsequently removed from the market [156], but this discovery brought about many more investigations on the effects of ethanol [129, 159-161]. Following up on this case, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) as well as the European Medicines Agency (EMA) have issued guidelines to test for ethanol effects of controlled release dosage forms [158, 162]. For ethical reasons, this testing is mostly performed in-vitro, due to the risk of side effects [163]. However, if an in-vivo study is required, e.g., if the in-vitro experiments show an ethanol effect, the patients are given opioid antagonists at a carefully selected scheme to avoid any overdose complications [164].

The assessment of the effect of ethanol on pharmaceutical products has, in contrast to many other requirements, not been harmonized between the FDA and the EMA [162]. The FDA recommends in-vitro testing for the lowest and highest strength of a drug product employing the optimal apparatus and agitation rate in 0.1 N HCl and potentially an optimal dissolution medium. The dissolution media should contain 0, 5, 20 and 40% ethanol and the similarity factor (f<sub>2</sub>) [165] should be employed for comparison of the release profile [166]. The EMA recommends testing at the same conditions as for routine testing, but with a justified range of alcohol added and gives 5%, 10% and 20% as an example [167].

There have been different approaches and goals in scientific testing in hydroethanolic media. The avoidance of drug extraction is often performed with highly concentrated ethanol over longer time period [22]. For the in-vitro release focus has been on prolonged exposure to ethanol [168] or a media exchange (i.e. a reduction in ethanol content), after 1 or 2 hours [169, 170]. The former concerns with prolonged drinking, whereas the later assumes a single drink. Some researchers claimed, that the regulatory requirements are too strict and not representative of the in-vivo

situation [1], while others propose that a two hour testing window may not be sufficient and a longer period should be considered [129].

The risk of accelerated release in ethanol may derive from the accidental intake of medicine with ethanol or the purposeful intake with larger amounts of ethanol. Wolf et al reported misunderstanding rates of five dosage instructions of marketed drug formulations in the range from 8 to 33% and these were patients, who were actively encouraged to read the prescription drug container labels [171]. Only about two third of patients report to read these kind of labels [172]. Even if ethanol consumption warnings are printed in colors onside the primary packaging material, there may still be questions left by the patient, e.g., if drinking at other times of the day is ok [173].

It is likely, that only a small subset of the population would consider the concomitant intake of drinks with high ethanol content and drugs. However, those at risk may suffer from addiction and are likely not dissuaded due to warning labels or contraindication, a point also mentioned by the FDA [158]. In such cases, to err on the side of caution may be preferable to the possibility of acute toxicity by dose dumping.

The mechanisms by which ethanol increases the drug release can be formulation dependent or formulation independent. Formulation independent are, e.g., the increase in drug solubility [169] or the increase in intestinal permeability [118]. Formulation dependent are the increase/decrease in excipient solubility as well as changes in swelling behavior [174]. In contrast, the use of multiparticulate systems is, supposedly, more susceptible to ethanol in the media [87], due to the reduced thickness of the coating.

Following the case of Palladone SR, many researchers investigated commercial products, where the focus was to determine the presence of dose dumping and not the underlying mechanism. A summary published by members of the FDA in 2010 showed that 9 of 10 capsules had accelerated release in 40% ethanol, while only 2 out of 17 tablets had accelerated release in 40% ethanol. No formulation had accelerated release in 5% ethanol. Of the investigated drug classes, opioid analgesics had the potentially highest accelerated release followed by antiarrhythmics and calcium channel blockers [175]. They did not further extend on excipients used in these formulations. Many companies published studies of their own product in hydroethanolic media like Alpharma Pharmaceuticals, who conducted an in-vivo study of Kadian<sup>®</sup>, a morphine sulphate extended-release capsule. They showed no accelerated release with concomitant ethanol intake

in-vivo [164]. Xanodyne pharmaceuticals was involved in an in-vitro release of their morphine sulphate tablets Oramorph<sup>®</sup> SR, which showed no sign of accelerated release [176].

Different modified release dosage forms have been evaluated for their susceptibility to ethanol in the release medium. These include matrix tablets [168, 169, 177], enteric dosage forms [178], extended-release coated systems [170], microcapsules [155, 179] and coated dosage forms for colonic targeting [180]. In most cases, ethanol effects seen in-vitro can also be observed in-vivo [181] but this effect can be more pronounced [157] or less pronounced [174].

There are also some issues of hydroethanolic media regarding immediate release dosage forms. Bisharat et al showed a reduced swelling of the super disintegrants sodium starch glycolate, croscarmellose sodium and crospovidone in the presence of 40% ethanol, but not in 10% ethanol. They showed an 8 times higher disintegration time for theophylline tablets in 40% ethanol [182].

#### 1.4.1 Matrix systems in hydroethanolic media

Solubility, wettability, swellability, and mechanical properties have been identified as the key components of matrix tablets affected by hydroethanolic media. The addition of ethanol to water reduces the dielectric constant, leading to an increase in lipophilicity of the solvent mixture. This can lead to an increase in drug or polymer solubility, especially if the drug or polymer is lipophilic [29]. However, this reduction in the dielectric constant can also reduce the solubility of excipients. The solubility of sucrose decreases with increasing ethanol content [183]. Wettability, swellability and mechanical properties have only been investigated for specific excipients and will be discussed individually for the excipients where they were investigated.

The results on HPMC tablets in hydroethanolic media are non-conclusive. Tablets of acetylsalicylic acid and HPMC K4M showed an increase in release linked directly to the increase in solubility of acetylsalicylic acid and a possible higher amount released via diffusion [168], whereas another study found similar release behavior of tablets of various drugs and HPMC grades with different fillers [169]. The weight gain of pure HPMC tablets in 0 and 40% ethanol was similar [169]. However, in another study pure HPMC tablets swelled more in aqueous medium than in 40% ethanol [168]. The gel strength of HPMC tablets is increased in hydroethanolic media [184], as is the viscosity of HPMC in water-ethanol mixtures [185]. Interestingly HPMC solutions show a cloud

point in aqueous medium, but not in 40% ethanol, which was explained as a solvation effect due to a stronger interaction between ethanol and HPMC compared to water and HPMC [168].

Different fillers have been evaluated for their effect in hydroethanolic media. The inclusion of soluble lactose into HPMC tablets was supposedly associated with a faster release of different drugs in 40% ethanol compared to the insoluble MCC [177]. The authors explained this with a higher porosity due to the dissolution of lactose. In contrast, the inclusion of maltitol led to a slower release of theophylline in 40% ethanol due to a lower solubility of the maltitol in 40% ethanol [186].

Other hydrophilic polymers have been investigated with different drugs in different proportions. PEO, employed as a matrix polymer for gliclazide and metformin with MCC, showed no accelerated release in 5% or 40% ethanol [187]. Carbopol<sup>®</sup> was evaluated for the release of different model drugs in hydroethanolic media. The authors concluded that dose dumping from these tablets is unlikely, but the release mechanism and rate can be strongly affected, depending on the drug type. The ethanol affected both drug solubility and the swelling and erosion of the polymer. In buffered media, the addition of ethanol reduced polymer swelling and erosion of Carbopol<sup>®</sup> [28].

3D prints of tramadol with hydroxypropyl cellulose prepared by direct powder extrusion showed no accelerated release in hydroethanolic media [22]. Xanthan gum has been evaluated as a matrix former for theophylline at 30% and 60% polymer amount with different particle- and dosage form sizes. Large polymer particles and a low polymer amount were associated with more accelerated release in 40% ethanol. The accelerated release is more pronounced for mini tablets compared to normal tablets due to the shorter diffusion pathway [23]. All these factors may be influenced by wettability and swelling behavior. Less accelerated release in hydroethanolic media has been stated if the drug is presented in an extrudate instead of only being compressed [17, 188]. In these cases, the wettability is reduced, as the drug is mostly covered by the polymer.

Insoluble matrix formers are less frequently used for modified release matrix tablets. Different tablets of tramadol with Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR did not show accelerated release, but a reduced release in 40% ethanol [189-191]. Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR is also included in Locktab<sup>®</sup>, a mechanically strong formulation by Ethypharm, where the good compressibility of Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR is used to produce tablets with a high crush resistance of up to 467 N [192].

Compritol<sup>®</sup> 888 ATO was used in tablets in comparison to and in combination with HPMC with tramadol and pentoxifylline by Lochař et al. [193]. Compritol<sup>®</sup> prevented accelerated release for tramadol, but not for pentoxifylline. Combinations of HPMC and Compritol<sup>®</sup> showed accelerated release in 40% ethanol for tramadol, but not for pentoxifylline. They attributed this difference to the ionizing behavior of tramadol and an increased wettability of Compritol<sup>®</sup> in the presence of ethanol. Keen et al evaluated the effect of twin screw and melt-mixing granulation of tramadol and Compritol<sup>®</sup> 888 on the release of tramadol. Neither formulation showed any accelerated release in 40% ethanol [194].

Jedinger et al showed pellets prepared from lipids showed a strong dependency on the solubility ratio, with ethanol independent release behavior for codeine phosphate and accelerated release for paracetamol. The wettability of Compritol<sup>®</sup> and Precirol<sup>®</sup> was, however, affected by the addition of ethanol [41]. The inclusion of titanium dioxide into extruded calcium stearate pellets resulted in less accelerated release in the presence of ethanol compared to the inclusion of xanthan gum or guar gum. This was due to the blocking of pores by the insoluble titanium dioxide [42].

The focus on resistance to accelerated release in hydroethanolic media is often combined with abuse-resistant dosage forms. Abuse-resistant dosage forms incorporate a physical barrier to reduce the release through physical or chemical interaction with the dosage form [195]. These are most often matrix system, as these are less susceptible to different forms of abuse like grinding or solvent extraction. For example DETERx<sup>®</sup> is an abuse-resistant technology based on microspheres containing fatty acids and waxes [196]. The Intac<sup>®</sup> technology employs hot melt extrusion of high molecular weight PEO to get a hard matrix that gels in contact with fluids. The SECUREL<sup>®</sup> technology combines HPMC with fumed silica and a thermo-softening material, e.g. fractionated coconut oil, to avoid drug extraction [192]. The Guardian<sup>®</sup> technology issued by Egalet utilizes injection molding of PEO with morphine sulphate at high temperature and pressure [197]. It was robust to vaporization, aqueous extraction and grinding and did not show accelerated release in the presence of ethanol [198]. However, many of these abuse-resistant formulations rely on similar technologies and most employ PEO as polymer, which can pose a problem, if methods of abuse are shared [197].

These systems are often employed for the use of opioid-drugs, but a risk of misuse is also given for other drugs, e.g., stimulants [199].

#### 1.4.2 Coated systems in hydroethanolic media

The performance of film coated systems in hydroethanolic media depends among others on the amount of coating applied to the dosage form [200], the process conditions [200, 201], the type of pore-forming [24, 202] or the use of pore-blocking excipients [42].

Much research about the effect of hydroethanolic media on film coated systems has been performed with commercial products [180, 203]. Many film coatings show susceptibility to ethanol like ethylcellulose [157, 189, 200], some polyacrylates [178, 180], hydroxypropyl methylcellulose acetate succinate (HPMCAS) and hydroxypropyl methylcellulose phthalate (HPMCP) [178].

Aquacoat ARC<sup>®</sup> has been developed to avoid ethanol susceptibility and is an aqueous suspension of ethylcellulose and dissolved guar gum. The composition of 93% ethylcellulose and 7% guar gum proved to be the most useful, as the release is too fast at higher guar gum amounts and is accelerated in hydroethanolic media at lower guar gum amounts [200]. It has been tested with theophylline and shown to reduce ethanol-induced accelerated release even for highly soluble drugs like codeine phosphate [17, 69, 170, 200]. The guar gum, which is soluble in water, is insoluble in ethanol, compensating for the solubility of ethylcellulose in ethanol. Other modifications of ethylcellulose coatings to avoid ethanol susceptibility, like the addition of aliphatic alcohols, have also been patented [204].

Burger et al investigated the release of oxycodone from a compressed tablet of EC-coated sugar pellets and an Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS matrix tablet in-vivo with concomitant ethanol intake. 240 ml of 20% ethanol had no effect, whereas 40% ethanol led to a slight increase in absorption, but not in c<sub>max</sub>, for the pellets, and an increase in c<sub>max</sub> and area-under-the-curve (AUC) for Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS. However, no formulation showed dose dumping [205].

Not all coatings are designed for extended release. Immediate release coatings can be applied to a matrix system and still affect the drug release. ReadiLYCOAT<sup>®</sup> is a coating suspension containing hydroxypropyl starch extracted from peas as polymer. It showed more resistance to the influence of ethanol than Opadry<sup>®</sup> II, a polymer system comprising PVA and HPMC [206]. The authors of

the study concluded that higher amounts of matrix polymers were necessary when using Opadry<sup>®</sup> II to obtain similar release.

3D printed coatings of HPMC, derived from Affinisol<sup>®</sup>, and a commercial polyvinyl alcohol formulation were used to coat different matrix tablets consisting of Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR, Compritol<sup>®</sup> and tramadol [191]. The Affinisol-derived coating could change the underlying release mechanism and even introduce a lag time before the begin of the dissolution. It was claimed to be beneficial to avoid alcohol-induced accelerated release.

Only very little work has been published on the performance of OROS and enteric dosage forms in hydroethanolic media.

The OROS system has only been evaluated in-vivo, where it was robust to concomitant alcohol intake [159]. The OROS system is also considered to be abuse-resistant due to its resistance to crushing or extraction [192].

Enteric polymers were evaluated both in products for colon-targeting and for release in the intestine. pH-dependent Eudragit® L coated pellets used in commercial products of mesalazine for colon-targeting showed accelerated release after 2 h in hydroethanolic media, whereas those employing Eudragit<sup>®</sup> S did not [180]. A more in-depth evaluation was performed on paracetamol tablets coated with HPMCP, HPMCAS, Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L and polyvinyl acetate phthalate. The polymers differed in their release rate and their media uptake, but all polymers failed enteric-resistance in the presence of ethanol and showed an increase in media uptake. SEM-pictures of the pellet surface showed pores, which were claimed responsible for the accelerated release. The effect of ethanol was even more pronounced, if a pH 4.5 buffer was used instead of the 0.1 N HCl [178]. Different patents have been issued on enteric dosage forms that resist the influence of ethanol. The use of cellulose acetate phthalate has been proposed to reduce ethanol susceptibility when used as a top coating [207]. A top coating of Eudragit<sup>®</sup> NE and Eudragit<sup>®</sup> E on an enteric layer showed less than 10% release after 120 minutes in 40% ethanol [208]. The drawback to these top coating methods is the slow release in phosphate buffer. The combination of an alginic acid salt and shellac coated onto tablets showed enteric-resistance at pH 1.2. However, release already started above a pH of 4.5 [209].

Some patents have combined enteric polymers like Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L or Eudragit<sup>®</sup> FS with extendedrelease polymers like Eudragit<sup>®</sup> NE [210]. These approaches, however, suffer the same drawbacks

as the top coating in that they are suitable for extended-release, but not for rapid release in the intestine.

#### 1.5 Bioequivalence

One parameter to assess the similarity between two dosage forms and to decide, whether one may be exchanged for the other, is bioequivalence. Bioequivalence is defined by the FDA in that "the rate and extent of absorption of the drug do not show a significant difference from the rate and extent of absorption of the listed drug when administered at the same molar dose of the therapeutic ingredient under similar experimental conditions in either a single dose or multiple doses...." [1]. This concerns foremost the AUC of the drug concentration in the blood plasma vs. time and the c<sub>max</sub>. However, for modified release products other parameters like partial-AUCs may be necessary to appropriately represent the originator product [1].

The requirement of bioequivalence can be encountered both in originator products, e.g. if a clinical trial has used a different formulation than is later going to be marketed [211], as well as in generic drug formulations as a prerequisite for approval. Bioequivalence has to be proven in comparison to the originator product, but may differ between two generic products deriving from the same originator product [212]. Different guidelines for the establishment of bioequivalence have been issued, focusing e.g. on the individual bioequivalence instead of the average of the population [213]. For drugs with a narrow therapeutic index the criteria of the bioequivalence, i.e. the range of the AUC and c<sub>max</sub>, are stricter [214].

As the intention of bioequivalence is to ensure similar release profiles, bioequivalence studies with co-administration of food are generally required by regulatory authorities [215]. Similarly, the requirements for testing in hydroethanolic media also apply to generic products. While the absence of an ethanol effect is still the foremost desired outcome, an alcohol effect may be acceptable, if the originator product also has an alcohol effect [166]. In some cases, an in-vivo study on the effects of concomitant ethanol intake may be reasonable [1].

#### **1.6 Statistical methods**

#### 1.6.1 Statistical comparison of release profiles

Release profiles of different dosage forms or in different media can be evaluated using model dependent approaches or using model independent approaches [33]. Model dependent approaches fit a perceived underlying release mechanism to the dissolution curve. In the beginning most of these models were analytical in nature, fixing a fitted value for the complete release, but further insight into release behavior has caused a need for numerical solutions to account for the change of coefficients, i.e. the permeability due to swelling, during the release [30, 216]. Examples to these models have been discussed (Chapter 1.1, P. 1). For a linear model, like the Peppas-Sahlin equation, described by the addition of individual terms, ordinary least squares (OLS) is often the preferred method of fitting. OLS, as described by the Gauss-Markov-theorem, is the best linear unbiased estimator, if the requirements are met [217]. These include absence of multicollinearity of the predictors, homoscedasticity, and independence of error from the model [218].

Model independent approaches like the similarity  $(f_2)$  and the difference factor  $(f_1)$  proposed by Moore et al. [165] are widely used and requested by the FDA for immediate release generic medicines [219] as well as in-vitro alcohol dose dumping studies [166]. Different research groups have also employed the  $f_2$  due to its ease of interpretation for controlled release formulations [41, 190]. The  $f_2$ -factor, however, poses some drawbacks for statistical analysis, as the logarithmic calculus changes the underlying sample distribution, rendering it impossible to calculate the variance correctly [220]. Another issue may be the independence of direction, as an  $f_2$ -value only proves the presence of a difference, but not whether the test or reference formulation has an accelerated release.

The mean dissolution time (MDT) can be used to calculate a ratio between two or more dissolution curves. In contrast to using the AUC-ratio it does not change if additional data points at 100% are taken. The MDT is a standardized measure of the timepoint, at which 50% of the drug is released (D50). This may deviate from the experimental D50 value as the MDT is affected by the shape of the curve. The points at which specific amounts of drug are released, e.g. the D50 or the D80, can also be compared directly [33].

#### 1.6.2 Handling of missing data

Missing data is frequently encountered in research [221]. It can be characterized as missing completely at random (MCAR), missing at random (MAR) or missing not at random (MNAR). MCAR refers to data which are missing by chance, i.e., the reason that the datapoint is missing is not related to the inherent value of the data point nor to the variable it represents. E.g., if data is lost due to a power shortage, not deriving from the experimental set-up itself, it can be considered MCAR. MAR refers to data points that are missing due to the variable they represent, but not due to their inherent value, after correcting for other factors in the model [222]. This can happen e.g., if some researchers do not report a specific measurement, e.g., a tablet size, while other researchers do. MNAR refers to data points missing due to their inherent value. This means e.g., that a researcher will not report the hardness of a tablet, because it is outside of the measurement range of his equipment. Both MCAR and MAR data can be used for analysis, whereas MNAR data will falsify the results and should be treated with care [223].

The different approaches to address missing data in regression analysis include line- or pairwise deletion, mean substitution, multiple imputation (MI) and full-information maximum likelihood estimation (FIML) [222]. Line- and pairwise deletion remove data, which decreases the power and can lead to biased estimates, especially for MAR-data. They should only be applied to MCAR data. Mean substitution will not reduce data but reduce the variability and thus falsely increase the significance of the data calculation. It is generally not recommended [223]. MI and FIML are therefore the preferable approaches to handle missing data [224]. MI refers to creating multiple datasets, where the missing data is filled (imputed) by different methods, e.g. by a chain of mathematical equations [225]. Each dataset is then analyzed and the results combined according to Rubin's rules [226]. MI may pose problems if the analysis model and the imputation model differ, i.e. if variables are included in the analysis model, that are not included in the imputation model [227]. Recently, MIDAS, a MI-model based on deep learning, has been developed for programming languages [228]. MIDAS uses denoising autoencoders, a type of unsupervised neural network to corrupt datasets and reconstruct them using nested non-linear transformations. The advantages of MIDAS are an increased accuracy over other approaches to MI as well as a higher computation rate.

Multiple imputation is a common procedure in clinical trials [229] and medicine [230]. It is seldomly found in in-vitro analysis. To et al. used multiple imputation for chemical prioritization applications with up to 80% of data missing for certain chemicals. They concluded that MI, is preferable to ignoring missing data. They, however, referred to mean substitution also as a method of multiple imputation [231].

FIML is built upon maximum likelihood estimation, which estimates parameters of a distribution of predictor and outcome variables so that these maximize the likelihood of the values observed [232]. FIML extends this principle to the missing data. FIML is easier to implement and does not require additional steps to interpret the results, but it has drawbacks regarding its accessibility and potential assumption of multivariate normality [227]. FIML has proven to be more powerful than deletion methods regardless of the type and amount of missing data [233].

Both of these methods, MI and FIML, can produce similar results if the underlying model is correctly specified, but differ in their results if misspecification is present [234]. No method is generally superior to the other.

#### 1.6.3 Multiple linear regression

Multiple linear regression (MLR) is a method to establish a relationship between a set of independent predictor variables and a dependent outcome variable [235]. A linear regression model with p independent variables and n observation in this sense refers an equation of the type:

$$\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{X}\mathbf{B} + \mathbf{\varepsilon}$$
 equation 2

where y is a n\*1 vector of the dependent variable, X is a n \* (p + 1) matrix of values of the independent variable, which comprises an n\*1 vector of ones to include the regression constant, the intercept in simple linear regression. B is a 1\* p vector of the partial regression coefficients and  $\varepsilon$  is a n\*1 vector of errors [236].

The multiple linear regression is an extension of the simple linear model and thus also requires homoscedasticity of the residual errors and the absence of correlation of errors [237]. It does not require a linear relationship between y and x but a linearity in the parameters  $b_n$  [238], meaning, that the parameters are added in a linear fashion opposed to e.g. an exponential way. Homoscedasticity is necessary to ensure the accuracy of standard errors, even though the estimated parameters themselves remain unbiased [239]. It can be assessed using e.g. the Breusch-Pagan test [240] for normally distributed errors or the white test [241], if the errors are distributed non-normal.

MLR does not require normality in the residual errors to produce the best linear unbiased results, but to calculate unbiased standard errors and therefore p-values and confidence intervals [242, 243]. The residual errors should not indicate a clear trend, as this would imply a non-linear relationship between the predictors and the outcome.

An appropriate choice of predictors should ideally be performed a priori to the regression analyses. The commonly used method of forward, backward, or stepwise regression uses latent degrees of freedom and introduces overfitting. This will create a regression that fits very well to the observed data, but cannot be extrapolated to other applications [244]. To avoid overfitting, some authors have introduced guidelines on the subject-per-variable ratio. Austin and Steyerberg used Monte-Carlo simulation to propose a two-subject-per-variable-ratio in linear regression analyses [245]. However, their work was later criticized as being too general and a more specific approach, depending on the type of study was suggested [246].

Care also must be taken when performing sub-group analysis in methods like MLR, as there is a risk of both under- as well as overestimating the significance of subgroups. Instead, sub-group analysis should only be performed if proposed in advance and carefully justified [247].

The goodness of fit of an MLR model can be quantified using e.g., the coefficient of determination, R<sup>2</sup>. The R<sup>2</sup> describes how much of the variability of the data can be explained by the predictor variables. An R<sup>2</sup> of 1 would imply that all variability can be explained by the model [248].

MLR has been performed in the field of pharmaceutical technology on very specific research questions. Lambert & Janjic used MLR to estimate the droplet size of perfluorocarbon nano emulsions. They identified oil, oil blend type and amount as the key components to calculate droplet size ( $R^2 > 0.91$ ) [249]. Mercuri et al analyzed the in-vitro release from nifedipine capsules using MLR to establish an in-vitro-in-vivo correlation (IVIVC). Volume, stirring rate and ethanol content were relevant to establishing an IVIVC and the use of water or orange juice without additional ethanol did not reflect the in-vivo conditions ( $R^2 > 0.95$ ) [250]. Pund et al. used MLR in

the preparation of site-specific release of isoniazid from pellets coated with Aquacoat<sup>®</sup> ECD. They assessed the effect of amount of granulating fluid, amount of binder and spheronization rate as well as their interactions on multiple outcome variables like the usable yield, the porosity or the moisture content ( $R^2 > 0.99$ ) [251].

## 1.7 Objectives

- Identification of parameters in the composition and formulation of pharmaceutical products that affect their behavior in hydroethanolic media in comparison to aqueous media according to previous publications using multiple linear regression
- Assessment of the effect of aqueous and hydroethanolic media on commercially available generic oral modified release products
- Investigation of the effect of formulation parameters on the release in aqueous and hydroethanolic media of different drugs from matrix tablets and identification of approaches to avoid accelerated release
- Investigation of the effect of formulation parameters on the release in aqueous and hydroethanolic media of different drugs from pellets coated with enteric polymers and identification of approaches to avoid accelerated release
- Investigation of the effect of formulation parameters on the release in aqueous and hydroethanolic media of different drugs from pellets coated with extended-release polymers and identification of approaches to avoid accelerated release

## 2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Materials

#### 2.1.1. Drugs

Carbamazepine, metoprolol tartrate, paracetamol, theophylline (BASF SE, Ludwigshafen, Germany), propranolol-HCl (IPCA Laboratories Limited, Mumbai, India)

#### 2.1.2. Polymers

Ethylcellulose (Ethocel® 10 FP, Ethocel® 10), hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC, Methocel® E5, K100LV CR, K4M CR, K100M CR, Colorcon Ltd., Dartford, UK), guar gum (polygal ag, Märstetten, Switzerland), hydroxypropyl methylcellulose-phthalate (HPMCP, HP-55®, Shin-Etsu chemical, Tokyo, Japan), hydroxypropyl cellulose (HPC, Klucel® MXF, Ashland Inc, Wilmington, USA), polyethylenoxide (PEO, Sentry Polyox® WSR 303 LEO NF Grade, Dow, Inc., Connecticut, USA), poly(ethylacrylate-methyl-methacrylate-trimethylammoniuoethylmethacrylate chloride) [1:2:0.1] (Eudragit® RS), methacrylic acid-methyl-methacrylate-copolymer [1:1] (Eudragit® L, Röhm GmbH, Darmstadt, Germany), polyvinyl pyrrolidone (PVP, Kollidon® 30), polyvinyl acetate (PVAc) with PVP (Kollidon® SR), aqueous dispersion of polyvinyl acetate with polyvinyl pyrrolidone (Kollicoat® SR 30D, BASF SE, Ludwigshafen, Germany), polyvinylacetate phthalate (PVAP, Sureteric®, Colorcon Ltd., Dartford, UK),

#### 2.1.3. Pellet cores

Microcrystalline cellulose cores 600-800 μm (MCC, Celphere<sup>®</sup> 507, Asahi Kasai Chemical, Tokyo, Japan), 1000-1400 μm (Cellets<sup>®</sup>, Harke Pharma GmbH, Mülheim an der Ruhr, Germany), sugar spheres (Suglets<sup>®</sup> 710–850 μm, NP Pharma, Bazainville, France), theophylline matrix cores (Fujisawa Deutschland GmbH, München, Germany).

#### 2.1.4. Other excipients

Lactose (Flowlac 100, Meggle GmbH & Co. KG, Wasserburg am Inn, Germany), magnesiumstearate (Baerlocher GmbH, Unterschleissheim, Germany), microcrystalline cellulose (MCC
(Avicel PH 102, FMC Corp., Philadelphia, PA, USA), silicium dioxide (Aerosil<sup>®</sup> 200, Evonik Industries AG, Hanau, Germany), talc (Imerys Talc, Luzenac France, Luzenac, France), triethyl citrate (Citrofol A, Jungbunzlauer Ladenburg GmbH, Ladenburg, Germany), HCl, ethanol (99.8%)(Carl Roth GmbH + Co. KG, Karlsruhe, Germany), isopropanol (IPA, VWR International LLC, Radnor, PA, USA).

#### 2.1.5. Commercial products

All commercial products used in this thesis were marketed in Germany (Table 1).

Commercial product	Dose [mg]	Batch-Nr.	Drug	Supplier
Cymbalta®	30	D185967	Duloxetine HCl	Eli Lilly and Company
Duloxetine 1A Pharma®	30	KX1329	Duloxetine HCl	1 A Pharma GmbH
Duloxetine Beta	30	210549	Duloxetine HCl	Betapharm GmbH
Duloxetine Aurobindo	30	QJ3020007-B	Duloxetine HCl	Aurobindo Pharma Limited
Cardular <sup>®</sup> PP	4	CY4687	Doxazosin mesylate	Viatris Pharma GmbH
Doxazosin AL	4	93401	Doxazosin mesylate	Aliud Pharma GmbH

Table 1 Overview of commercial products

### 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 Solubility

An excess of drug was added to 0.1 N HCl containing 0, 20 or 40% (v/v) of ethanol and exposed to a horizontal shaker (80 rpm, 37 °C, n=3, innova 4230 Refrigerated Incubator Shaker, New Brunswick Scientific, New Jersey, USA). After 48 hours samples were withdrawn, centrifugated (VWR Mega Star 1.6 / 1.6R, VWR International bvba, Leuven, Belgium) and, were measured via UV-spectrophotometer (UV HP 8453, Agilent Technologies Deutschland GmbH, Waldbronn, Germany) at 222, 319, 244, 235 and 255 nm for metoprolol tartrate, propranolol HCl, paracetamol, theophylline, and carbamazepine, respectively.

The solubility of lactose was determined at room temperature by addition of 1 g lactose to 3.5 ml of the agitated medium (n=3). After 30 min intervals, additional medium was added, until the lactose had dissolved completely.

In cases, where the solubility was not measured, it was calculated either with own data (for 20% ethanol, if the solubility in 40% ethanol was measured), or using literature data (if indicated) according to equation 3 [252]:

$$S_{mix} = S_{Aqua} \, 10^{(1.32+0.933 \, logD)f + [\frac{(-2.28+0.287 \, logD)f}{(1+10^{3.6(f-1)})}}$$
equation 3

Where  $S_{mix}$  is the solubility of the drug in an ethanol-water mixture with an ethanol fraction of f, in range 0 to 1.  $S_{Aqua}$  is the solubility in aqueous medium and log D the partition coefficient between octanol and water.

#### 2.2.2 Partition coefficient

Ethylcellulose films were casted from isopropanol-water mixtures (88:12 w/w, polymer content = 6%) onto a Teflon plate. After drying at 60 °C for 12 h, square films samples of 3 cm were carefully cut and weighed into a screw cap glass. After addition of 10 ml of drug solution (1 mg/ml) of the different media, the films were exposed to a horizontal shaker (n=3, 80 rpm, 37°C). At predetermined time points, samples of the aqueous content were withdrawn and measured UV-spectrophotometrically. When the concentration plateaued, film samples were taken out, dried, weighed (to determine the medium uptake), and dissolved in pure ethanol for UV-analysis.

#### 2.2.3 Preparation of tablets

Tablets consisting of 49.5% drug, 49.5% polymer and 1% Mg-Stearate were blended in a Turbula mixer (Willy A. Bachofen AG, Basel, Switzerland) for 10 minutes and then manually compressed on a Korsch EK-0 (Korsch AG, Berlin, Germany, 7 mm round stamp) at a compression force of 25±2 kN (MGCplus, catman, HBM, Darmstadt, Germany).

32

Deviating, tablets with fillers consisted of either

- 30% drug, 35% polymer, 33% lactose, 1% Mg-stearate and 1% Aerosil®
- 49.5% drug, 24.5% HPMC, 24.5% filler and 1% Mg-stearate or
- 24.5% paracetamol, 49.5% HPMC, 24.5% filler and 1% Mg-stearate or
- 10% carbamazepine, 35% Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR, 53% lactose, 1% Mg-stearate and 1% Aerosil<sup>®</sup>

Colored tablets consisted of 48.5% drug, 48.5% polymer, 2% Patent Blue V and 1% Mg-stearate or 24.5% drug, 24.5% lactose, 48.5% polymer, 2% Patent Blue V and 1% Mg-stearate and drug-free matrix compacts for swelling consisted of 99% polymer and 1% Mg-stearate or 49.5% HPMC K4M, 49.5% lactose and 1% Mg-stearate and were compressed with a 10 mm round stamp.

#### 2.2.4 Preparation of pellets

#### 2.2.4.1 Layering

Theophylline, propranolol-HCl and metoprolol tartrate were layered onto different cores employing HPMC (Methocel E5, 20% based on drug) as a binder. Theophylline (as milled suspension, Dyno-Mill Typ KDL A, Willy A. Bachofen AG, Basel, Switzerland) and metoprolol tartrate (as solution) were sprayed from an aqueous mixture, propranolol-HCl from an isopropanol/water (80:20 w/w%) solution. Layering was performed either in a Glatt GPCG-1 (Glatt GmbH, Binzen, Germany) or in a MiniGlatt (Glatt GmbH, Binzen, Germany) fluidized bed coater. The layering conditions are given in Table 2:

Drug	Propranolol	Propranolol	Theophylline	Theophylline	Metoprolol
Core	Celphere® 507	Cellet®	Celphere® 507	Suglet <sup>®</sup>	Celphere® 507
Coater	GPCG 1.1	MiniGlatt	GPCG 1.1	GPCG 1.1	MiniGlatt
Batch size [g]	900	60	900	900	60
Inlet temperature [°C]	51	34	48	48	54
product temperature [°C]	39±1	27±1	30±2	30±2	33±2
Nozzle diameter [mm]	1.2	0.8	1.2	1.2	0.8
Spray rate [g/min]	8.9	0.7	9	9	0.8
Spray pressure [bar]	1.2	0.8	1.2	1.2	1

#### Table 2 Layering conditions

### 2.2.4.2 Coating

The coating of the pellets was performed in a fluidized bed coater (MiniGlatt, Glatt GmbH, Binzen, Germany). The coating conditions varied depending on the polymer (Table 3):

Polymer	Eudragit <sup>®</sup> L	HP-55	Ethyl- cellulose 10 Std.	Sureteric®	Methocel ® E5	Eudragit <sup>®</sup> RS	Kollicoat® SR
Dispersion medium [w/w%]	IPA/ Water 90:10	IPA/ Water 80:20	IPA/ Water 88:12	Water	Water	IPA/ Water 90:10	Water
Plasticizer [w/w% of polymer]	10	6.66	-	-	-	10	10
Talc [w/w% of polymer]	50	43	-	-	-	50	50
Solid contents [w/w %]	12.59	9.1	6.22	10	5	12.6	8
Inlet temperature [°C]	38	34	42	41	50	34	40
Product temperature [°C]	31±3	27±2	31±1	33±1	37±1	29.5	27
Nozzle diameter [mm]	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2	0.8	0.8
Spray rate [g/min]	0.7	0.8	0.7	1	0.8	0.8	0.7
Spray pressure [bar]	1	0.8	1	1	0.8	0.75	0.9

#### Table 3 Coating conditions

#### 2.2.5 Size of tablets

Tablets were characterized with regards to their size using a hardness tester (n=5, Manual Tablet Hardness Tester, MT50, Sotax, Lörrach, Germany) and a caliper.

#### 2.2.6 Release testing

Release testing for tablets and pellets was conducted in 0.1 N HCl containing 0, 20 or 40% (v/v) of ethanol or in phosphate buffer (PBS) 6.8 using a USP II paddle apparatus (500 or 900 ml, 75 rpm, or, if specified, at 10 or 150 rpm. 37°C, n=2-3, VK 7010, Vankel Industries, Edison, NJ, USA) For release testing employing a media change method, pellets were placed in 750 ml of 0.1 N HCl in a USP I basket apparatus at 37°C. After 120 minutes, 250 ml of prewarmed 0.2 M  $Na_3PO_4$  were added to to the release medium to mimic the transition into the intestinal pH. For hyperosmolar medium, NaCl was dissolved in the release medium prior to release testing. Samples were measured on-line via UV-spectroscopy (Cary 50 Tablet, Varian Optical Spectroscopy Instruments, Mulgrave, Victoria, Australia) at 222, 319(270), 244, 235(270), 255, 246 and 290 nm for metoprolol tartrate, propranolol HCl, paracetamol, theophylline, carbamazepine, doxazosin mesylate and duloxetine HCl, respectively. Additional release set-ups were used to assess specific aspects of the release (Fig. 4). Release of paracetamol was evaluated from matrix tablets in a diffusion cell, with a specified surface area. Diffusion through tablet was employed to measure the diffusion rate of dissolved paracetamol through drug free tablets of HPMC K4M or HPMC K4M/lactose. Diffusion through film was measured with theophylline in 0.1 N HCl containing 0, 20 or 40% (v/v) of ethanol.



Fig. 4 Schematic overview of different dissolution set-ups

#### 2.2.7 Medium uptake & dry weight loss

Medium uptake studies were conducted in a USP-I-basket method (VK 7010, Vankel Industries, Edison, NJ, USA) in 0.1 N HCl containing 0, 20 or 40% (v/v) of ethanol (75 rpm, 37°C, 900 ml, n=2). Samples were taken at predetermined time points, weighed  $(m_{wet})$ , dried overnight in a drying oven (105°C) and weighed again  $(m_{dry})$ . Medium uptake was determined as  $\frac{m_{wet} - m_{dry}}{m_{dry}}$ , dry weight loss as  $\frac{m_{initial} - m_{dry}}{m_{initial}}$ .

#### 2.2.8 Solvent content

Ethanol and isopropanol content was determined like the media uptake studies on HPMCP- and EC-coated pellets of Propranolol-HCl. Samples were taken at predetermined time points and analyzed using headspace gas chromatography (GC-2014, Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan) comprising a flame-ionization detector (FID-2014), a split injector and a moderately polar fused silica capillary column (3 µm x 30 m Rtx-1301 w/Integra-Guard, Restek, Bellefonte, USA). Nitrogen was chosen as carrier gas at a flow rate of 32.3 ml/min. Samples were dissolved in 5 ml of DMSO

and heated for 45 min at 110 °C prior to injection. 1 ml of the gas phase was injected with a split of 1:10. Ethanol was detected at 40 °C at a retention time of 3.9 min, isopropanol at 4.8 min.

#### 2.2.9 Mechanical properties

#### 2.2.9.1 Puncture strength and elongation of polymeric films

Ethylcellulose films were casted onto a Teflon plate (IPA:  $H_2O$ : 88:12 w/w, polymer content = 6%). After drying at 60°C for 12 h, square film samples of 3 cm were carefully cut. Thickness was measured via a Minitest 600 (Erichsen GmbH & Co. KG, Hemer, Germany). Film samples were measured dry or after 2 hours of immersion into 0.1 N HCl containing 0, 20 or 40% ethanol (v/v) (Incubation shaker, 37°C, 80 rpm, n=3). After dabbing the fluid with a paper cloth, the films were punctured using a texture analyzer (TA.XTplus, Stable Micro Systems Ltd., UK) (5 mm probe, 5 kg loading weight) in a set-up similarly to those previously described [253]. In brief, the films were fixed on a holder with an orifice (r = 0.4 cm), and the probe penetrated through the film in the middle of the orifice at a rate of 6 mm/min. The puncture strength was calculated according to equation 4:

$$puncture strength = \frac{F}{A_c s}$$
 equation 4

Where F is the force at puncture and  $A_cs$  is the cross-sectional area located inside the hole of the film holder. The elongation was calculated according to equation 5:

elongation 
$$\% = \frac{\sqrt{(r^2 + D^2)} - r}{r} * 100$$
 equation 5

Where r is the radius of the exposed film in the hole of the film holder and D is the displacement of the probe at the point of film puncture.

#### 2.2.9.2 Gel strength of polymer tablets

HPMC matrix compacts were immersed inside a diffusion cell into 0.1 N HCl containing 0 or 40% (v/v) of ethanol inside a glass-bowl equipped with a propeller stirrer (100 rpm, 1 cm above

diffusion cell). The set-up deviated from the USP-paddle method to increase the hydrodynamic stress applied to the tablet and as the diffusion cell was necessary to allow complete tablet transfer and avoid tablet movement during the measurement. Gel strength was measured using a texture analyzer (TA.XTplus, Stable Micro Systems Ltd., UK, equipped with a 2 mm flat, cylindrical probe).

The gel strength was calculated according to equation 6 [104, 254]:

$$G = \frac{F}{x} * \frac{F1}{r_p} * 0.0098$$
 equation 6

Where G is the gel strength (MPa), F is the force (g) registered at the penetration depth x (mm) and  $r_p$  is the radius of the probe. Measurement began at a trigger force of 0.1 g with a movement rate of 0.1 mm/s.

#### 2.2.9.3 Viscosity

The kinematic viscosity v of a 5% (w/w) solution of Kollidon<sup>®</sup> 30 was measured using a capillary viscosimeter ( $k = 0.03 \text{ mm}^2/\text{s}^2$ , n=3, SCHOTT AG, Mainz, Germany) at 19°C using equation 7

$$\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{k} * \mathbf{t}$$
 equation 7

Where k is the viscosimeter dependent correction factor and t is the flow time of the liquid.

#### 2.2.10 Visual observations and swelling

Video monitoring of tablets and pellets was performed using a light macroscope supplied with an image analyzing software (ICCapture, The Imaging Source Europe GmbH, Bremen, Germany). Tablets were clamped between two transparent inert discs and placed in the medium ( $37^{\circ}C$  of 0.1 N HCl with 0% or 40% (v/v) ethanol) and pictures were taken against a white background with either top-lighting or back-lighting. The brightness, if necessary, was adjusted using the auto-function of FIJI [255]. The dry area of tablets was calculated via the color-threshold function of

FIJI [255] by using the Hue-Saturation-Brightness (HSB)-system (Hue: 80/120 – 220/255; saturation: 0/125 – 255, brightness: 50 – 255).

Pellets were monitored in a petri dish or on a sieve on top of a magnetic stirrer (0.1 N HCl containing 0, 20 or 40% (w/w) ethanol or with addition 2M Na<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> solution, 37°C, 80 rpm). MCC cores were evaluated with or without 3% (w/w) additional NaCl. The size of pellets and tablets was calculated using FIJI [255]. The feret diameter was used for pellets.

#### 2.2.11 Statistical evaluation of release behavior

Release curves were compared via the similarity factor  $(f_2)$  [165], given by equation 8

$$f_{2} = 50 * \log \left\{ \left[ 1 + \left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{j} \left| R_{j} - T_{j} \right|^{2} \right]^{0.5} * 100 \right\}$$
equation 8

with n being the sample number,  $w_j$  being an optional weigt factor,  $R_j$  being the amount of drug released at timepoint j of the reference product and  $T_j$  being the amount of drug released at timepoint j of the test product. The similarity factor can take on values between 0 and 100 (completely identical). A value above 50 is considered as similar [33].

Release curves were analyzed by a methodology proposed by Peppas and Sahlin [31]:

$$rac{M_t}{M_\infty} = k_1 t^m + k_2 t^{2m}$$
 equation 9

Where the exponent *m* is chosen based on the geometric properties of the tablet and the kinetic constants  $k_1$ (diffusional release) and  $k_2$ (Case-II transport) are fitted to equation 1 using an ordinary least squares regression programmed via Python[256] v.3.6. The program code is included in Appendix A (Chapter 7.1, P. 164)

The quotient between these constants was used for the estimation of the average % of drug release-via-diffusion until 60% ( $\bar{F}$ , equation 10).

$$\overline{F} = \frac{\sum_{t=0}^{T_{60\%}} \frac{1}{1 + \left(\frac{k_2}{k_1}\right) t^m}}{T_{60\%}}$$
 equation 10

For the analysis of literature data, a lag-time was introduced to account for other dosage forms (equation 11):

$$\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} = k_1(t-l)^m + k_2(t-l)^{2m}$$
 equation 11

Where l is the lag time. The term t - l was limited to  $t - l \ge 0$ . The calculation of the average %-release-via-diffusion was adjusted accordingly for the lag time (equation 12):

The comparison between the values was performed using a Welch-Test or a paired T-test [257]. The requirements of these tests were confirmed using the Levene's test for equality of variances [258] and the Shapiro-Wilk test for normality [259].

The mean dissolution time (MDT) was calculated [33] according to equation 13

$$MDT = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \hat{t}_{i} \Delta M_{i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \Delta M_{i}}$$
 equation 13

Where i is the sample number, n is the number of sample time points,  $\hat{t}_i$  is the time at the midpoint between  $t_i$  and  $t_{i-1}$  and  $\Delta M$  the additional amount of drug released between  $t_i$  and  $t_{i-1}$ . The MDT included an additional 100%-value in the numerator with  $t_n(\Delta 100\% - M_n)$ , if the release was stopped prior to 100% release.

#### 2.2.12 Evaluation of literature data

#### 2.2.12.1 Literature search

Literature was found by usage of different search terms ([in-vitro] + [dissolution] + [ethanol/hydroalcoholic]; [Alcohol] + [Dose dumping]) in PubMed as well as through the reference section or different reviews [29, 87] published between 2007 and August 2022. Literature articles were included if in-vitro release data for aqueous release media as well as with 20% or 40% ethanol were provided. Not included were release data for drug powders without additional excipients as well as for immediate release dosage forms (e.g. [260]).

#### 2.2.12.2 Data preparation

Release data was extracted from the publications using WebPlotDigitizer [261]. Available data were analyzed with the Peppas-Sahlin equations (equation 11 & equation 12). n was fixed to 0.4501 for calculation purposes and as there were only very little studies with data on width and height of formulations. If available literature data only included data points larger than 60% release, an additional point at  $\frac{t_1}{2}$  with  $\frac{R_1}{2}$  was added, where  $t_1$  is the first measured time point and  $R_1$  is the amount of drug released at this time point.

The f<sub>2</sub>-value (equation 8) and the MDT-ratio ( $\frac{MDT_{Ethanol}}{MDT_{No \ ethanol}}$ , equation 13) was calculated for 20% and 40% ethanol in comparison to aqueous medium.

The included data extracted from the papers include the type of release system (coated or matrix), the preparation method (melted/granulated or compressed), the desired release profile (sustained or extended), the size of the system, the type of drug and excipients in their respective amounts, the compression strength and hardness as well as the coating level if mentioned. The complete list is given in APPENDIX C (Chapter 7.3, P. 180). The solubility of the drug in the aqueous

release medium (adjusted to the pH), if not given in the publication, was calculated using the ADMET Predictor<sup>®</sup> module in GastroPlus<sup>®</sup> (Version 9.0, Simulation Plus, Inc., Lancaster, USA), along with the according log D value. The solubility of the drug in the 20 or 40% ethanol-containing medium, if not mentioned in the publication or given by another publication employing the same drug, was calculated using equation 3.

#### 2.2.12.3 Multiple imputation and linear regression

A subset of the data excluding the data on sustained release [178, 180] was used to perform an exploratory data analysis. Excipients were included in the Multiple Imputation (MI) and in the regression model, if exact information on the (non-zero) amount of at least 2 tested formulations was available. Multicollinearity was assessed by calculating the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) [262, 263]. Variables with a value above 10 were evaluated and excluded from the analysis if justified.

Data was multiply imputed using MIDAS [228], using Python (layer structure: 256, 256; vae layer=False, seed= 89, input drop = 0.5).

The estimates from the multiply imputed estimates were combined by MIDAS using Rubin's rules [226]. The estimate of a quantity  $\hat{\theta}$  is calculated as the mean, or as sum of the individual estimations  $\hat{\theta}_j$  with the variance  $W_j$  from the j<sup>th</sup> imputed dataset from  $m_i$  imputed datasets (equation 14).

$$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\theta}} = \frac{1}{m_i} \sum_{j=1}^{m_i} \widehat{\boldsymbol{\theta}}_j \qquad \text{equation 14}$$

The variance of  $\hat{\theta}$  (equation 15) includes both the within-imputation variability W (equation 16) as well as the between-imputation variability B (equation 17).

$$var(\widehat{\theta}) = W + \left(1 + \frac{1}{m_i}\right)B$$

equation 15

$$W = \left(rac{1}{m_i}
ight) \sum_{j=1}^{m_i} W_j$$
 equation 16

$$B = rac{1}{m_i - 1} \sum_{j=1}^{m_i} (\widehat{ heta}_j - \widehat{ heta})^2$$
 equation 17

Heteroscedasticity was calculated for each imputed file separately according to the White-test [241] and reported. The f-test statistic and p-value are reported as median of the imputed datasets [264].

The linear regression was performed both via MIDAS [228] and via Scikit-Learn [265]. The latter was used to calculate the determination coefficient  $R^2$  as well as present the residual errors, which the first one does not supply.

# 3 Results and Discussion

# 3.1 Multiple linear regression of published studies on the in-vitro results of oral modified release formulations in hydroethanolic media

This chapter is focused on identifying patterns in published studies of the release profiles of modified release formulations in 0 vs. 20 or 40% ethanol. The effect of different formulation and preparation parameters on the difference in release between hydro- and aqueous media was assessed in an exploratory multiple linear regression (MLR). Furthermore, the effect of formulation and preparation parameters on the change in release mechanism, assessed using the empiric Peppas-Sahlin equation [31], in 40% ethanol was studied using MLR.

The literature search yielded a total of 197 release test combinations published in 39 articles comprising 177 unique formulations. Of these, 4 enteric formulations of paracetamol [178], 4 commercial products of metoprolol [203], 2 matrix tablets of theophylline with hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC) and maltitol [186], 2 commercial formulations of morphine [198], 2 matrix tablets of theophylline with HPC and sesamum polysaccharide gums [266] and 6 pH-dependent matrix tablets of Carbopol<sup>®</sup> with different drugs [28] were tested at different pH. 189 tests were conducted in 0 and 40% ethanol, whereas only 101 tests were conducted in 0 and 20% ethanol.

The most tested drug was tramadol HCI [22, 157, 177, 189-191, 193, 267]. It was evaluated in 42 experiments and showed accelerated release in 40% ethanol in 4 formulations, two coated tablets [189] and two HPMC tablets [177]. Accelerated release in 20% ethanol was only reported for the coated system of Eudragit NE. In contrast, it showed slower release in 40% ethanol compared to 0% ethanol in 17 formulations, including 2 HPMC tablets. Tramadol HCl is an opioid which has less restrictions in its usage compared e.g., to oxycodone or morphine. The original guidelines of the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) mainly focused on dose dumping of opioid medication, thus tramadol HCl has been chosen by many formulators as model drug. However, the statistical likelihood of tramadol, 10%, to show accelerated release is far lower than that of the other opioids combined with a likelihood of 29% (6 formulations showing accelerated release, 11 being similar and 4 formulations being decelerated in 40% ethanol).

## 3.1.1 Mean-dissolution time and similarity factor

The MLR was performed in an exploratory style to identify risk- or protective factors for accelerated release in ethanol-containing media. Due to the limited number of studies on ethanol effects and the numerous possibilities in drug formulation, a confirmatory approach is not feasible.

The variables excluded due to a high variance inflation factor (VIF), and therefore risk of multicollinearity, were (in this order) Aerosil, dibutylsebacate, magnesium stearate, coating level, solubility in 20% ethanol, stearic acid, copovidone, weight and height (see also Appendix D, 7.4, P. 182). The determination coefficient R<sup>2</sup> (calculated for the mean dissolution time (MDT) 40/ratio) reduced from 0.71 to 0.69 after the deletion of these 9 variables, implying that the eliminated variables indeed explained only a very small amount of the outcome variable. Aerosil and magnesium stearate were commonly only used in very small amounts to improve compression and showed multicollinearity with the matrix formers they are combined with. Dibutylsebacate was combined exclusively with ethylcellulose [69, 170, 200], as was copovidone with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS [206]. The solubility in 20% ethanol correlated with the aqueous solubility and the solubility in 40% ethanol. Coating level correlated both with tablet type (coated), as well as with ethylcellulose. Both height and weight are correlated to the size but have less available data points (see also Appendix C, 7.3, P. 180).

The distribution of the missing data showed a strong concentration on a few parameters of size and mechanical forces (Fig. 5).

# 3.1 Multiple linear regression of published studies on the in-vitro results of oral modified release formulations in hydroethanolic media



Fig. 5 Matrix distribution of missing data, white spaces resemble missing data.

The high number of missing values also implies, that the multiple imputation (MI) and linear regression of this data should only be used for the establishment of hypothesis [227]. For the breaking force, a maximum of 87% data points were missing. According to the rule of thumb proposed by White et al. [225] this required approximately 90 imputations.

There was no trend in the residual errors (Fig. 6, all  $R^2 < 0.00001$ ). Heteroscedasticity was rejected according to White's test for 40% ethanol (f<sub>2 40</sub>%: p = 0.26, t = 183.3) (MDT 40%: p = 0.25, t = 183.9) and was failed to reject for 20% ethanol (f<sub>2</sub> 20%: p =0.04, t = 184.0) (MDT 20%: p = 0.04, t = 185.14). Thus, the standard errors in 20% ethanol are unreliable and while the direction of the effect is correct, they may not be statistically significant despite a p < 0.05.

3.1 Multiple linear regression of published studies on the in-vitro results of oral modified release formulations in

hydroethanolic media



Fig. 6 Residual errors of the multiple linear regression

# 3.1.1.1 MDT-ratio

According to the calculation of the MDT-ratio  $\frac{MDT_{Ethanol}}{MDT_{No \ ethanol}}$ , a value below 1 would indicate accelerated release in the presence of ethanol. Accordingly, a positive relationship between  $\beta_j$  and MDT-ratio would imply a protective action.

An increase in dosage form size as well as preparing the core via melting or granulation was associated with a significant reduction in accelerated release in 40% ethanol (Table 4,  $R^2 = 0.70$ , f = 11.58, p < 0.0001). An increase in the log D or the use of a coating was associated with an increase in accelerated release (b = -0.19, p < 0.01 and b = -0.34, p = 0.01, respectively). The solubility ratio had a small but significant positive effect (b = 0.001, p = 0.01). However, this effect was only present if log D was included in the model as the bi-variate correlation between solubility ratio and MDT ratio was negative. As the log D and the solubility ratio were partially correlated (R = 0.6), the solubility ratio may account for error terms not explained by the log D.

hydroethanolic media

**Table 4** Results of regression for MDT-ratio in 40% ethanol  $R^2 = 0.70$ , f = 11.58, p < 0.0001

term	estimate	std. error	statistic	df	p value
Const*	0.37	0.13	2.79	139	0.01
Calcium stearate*	-0.01	0.00	-2.69	142	0.01
Carbopol 971 P NF	0.02	0.01	1.74	151	0.08
Carbopol 974 P	0.02	0.01	1.71	149	0.09
Ethylcellulose	0.01	0.01	0.98	128	0.33
Eudragit RS	0.00	0.01	-0.30	151	0.77
Glycerol Dibehenate	0.00	0.00	-0.56	146	0.57
Guar gum	0.00	0.01	0.35	152	0.73
HPC (Hydroxypropyl cellulose)	-0.01	0.01	-1.07	150	0.29
НРМС	0.00	0.00	-0.86	149	0.39
Hydroxypropyl starch	0.00	0.04	-0.02	151	0.99
Kollidon SR**	0.03	0.00	8.06	145	0.00
Lactose	0.00	0.00	0.83	149	0.41
Mannitol	0.00	0.01	0.06	152	0.95
MCC* (Microcrystalline cellulose)	0.01	0.00	2.07	146	0.04
PEO (Polyethylenoxide)	0.00	0.00	1.26	147	0.21
PVA (Polyvinyl alcohol)	-0.01	0.02	-0.50	149	0.62
Povidone	0.14	0.14	0.96	141	0.34
Propylenglycol alginate	0.00	0.01	0.07	151	0.94
Talc	0.03	0.15	0.23	139	0.82
Titanium dioxide	0.01	0.02	0.25	152	0.80
Xanthan gum	0.00	0.00	0.28	148	0.78
Size[mm]**	0.05	0.01	4.47	147	0.00
Solubility release media[g/L]	0.00	0.00	0.41	150	0.68
log D** (partition coefficient)	-0.19	0.03	-5.43	150	0.00
40% EtOH solubility[g/L]	0.00	0.00	-0.15	149	0.88
Solubility ratio 40*	0.001	0.00	2.49	151	0.01
Drug loading (%)	0.00	0.00	0.06	148	0.95
Compression strength [MPa]	0.00	0.00	0.89	150	0.38
Breaking Force [N]	0.00	0.00	-1.40	148	0.16
Preparation [Melted=1,compressed=0]**	0.38	0.12	3.23	93	0.00
Tablet type [Coated=1;matrix=0]*	-0.34	0.12	-2.78	115	0.01

\* p < 0.05

\*\* p < 0.01

Std. error refers to standard error and df to degrees of freedom.

Three excipients included in the analysis showed significant associations. Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR (b = 0.03, p < 0.01) as a matrix polymer as well as MCC (b = 0.01, p = 0.04) showed a positive relationship with MDT – ratio, while calcium stearate (b = -0.01, p = 0.01) showed a negative relationship.

As there was less data available for testing in 20% ethanol, some excipients present in the model for 40% ethanol were not actually tested in 20% ethanol. To avoid a purely computer-driven prediction, these variables were excluded from the analysis of 20%. These included Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS, HPC, Hydroxypropyl starch, Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR, Mannitol, PEO, PVA, Povidone, Propylene glycol alginate and Xanthan gum.

The size of the dosage form (b = -0.01, p = 0.03) and the use of a coating (b = 0.59, p < 0.01) was associated with a reduction in MDT-ratio, while the breaking force (b = 0.001, p < 0.01) was associated with a small increase (Table 5,  $R^2 = 0.60$ , f = 12.38, p < 0.0001). Increasing the amount of calcium stearate (b = -0.01, p < 0.01), glycerol dibehenate (b = -0.005, p = 0.03) or MCC (b = -0.01, p = 0.03) were associated with a small reduction in MDT-ratio, while increasing the ethylcellulose amount (b = 0.03, p = 0.01) resulted in an increase in MDT-ratio.

**Table 5** Results of regression for MDT-ratio in 20% ethanol  $R^2 = 0.60$ , f = 12.38, p < 0.0001

<b>h</b> a <i>u</i> a a		معمدهم أمغم	at a tiatia	<b>م</b> ا <b>د</b>	منامينه
term	estimate	sta. error	statistic	at	p value
Const**	1.15	0.09	13.52	151	0.00
Calcium stearate**	-0.01	0.00	-3.28	155	0.00
Carbopol 971 P NF	0.01	0.01	1.05	160	0.30
Carbopol 974 P	0.01	0.01	1.87	161	0.06
Ethylcellulose*	0.03	0.01	2.67	124	0.01
Glycerol Dibehenate*	-0.005	0.00	-2.21	157	0.03
Guar gum	0.00	0.01	-0.54	160	0.59
НРМС	-0.01	0.00	-1.84	150	0.07
Lactose	0.00	0.00	0.19	156	0.85
MCC	-0.01	0.00	-2.82	155	0.01
Talc	0.09	0.11	0.78	118	0.44
Titanium dioxide	0.02	0.02	0.88	158	0.38
Size[mm]*	-0.01	0.01	-2.25	160	0.03
Solubility release media[g/L]	0.00	0.00	-1.11	156	0.27
log D	-0.04	0.02	-1.79	159	0.08
40% EtOH solubility[g/L]	0.00	0.00	1.17	155	0.24
Solubility ratio 40	0.00	0.00	-0.52	158	0.61
Drug loading (%)	0.00	0.00	-0.39	152	0.70
Compression strength [MPa]	0.00	0.00	1.92	159	0.06
Breaking Force [N]**	0.001	0.00	4.01	150	0.00
Preparation [Melted=1,compressed=0]	0.071	0.07	0.96	105	0.34
Tablet type [Coated=1;matrix=0]**	-0.59	0.08	-7.14	101	0.00

#### 3.1.1.2 f<sub>2</sub>-value

While the MDT is a useful tool, it is not defined by regulatory agencies like the f<sub>2</sub>-value. However, the f<sub>2</sub>-value is bi-directional, meaning it does not indicate whether the release with or without ethanol is higher. For 40% ethanol size, log D, solubility ratio, preparation type or coating were all non-significant, but the direction of the effect complied to the MDT-ratio, meaning that an increase of these parameters for the MDT-ratio was associated with an increase in f<sub>2</sub>-value (Table 6, R<sup>2</sup> = 0.35, f = 2.68, p < 0.001). Interestingly, ethylcellulose (b = 1.93, p < 0.01), xanthan gum (b = 0.61, p < 0.01) and HPC (b = 0.61, p = 0.03) were associated with a significant increase in f<sub>2</sub>-value, whereas Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR (b = -0.59, p < 0.01) resulted in a decrease. As the amount of Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR increased the MDT-ratio (Table 4), this reduction in f<sub>2</sub>-value resulted from a slower release in 40% ethanol.

**Table 6** Results of regression for  $f_2$ -value in 40% ethanol.  $R^2 = 0.35$ , f = 2.68, p < 0.001

term	estimate	std. error	statistic	df	p value
Const**	41.95	6.26	6.70	144	0.00
Calcium stearate	-0.12	0.13	-0.94	143	0.35
Carbopol 971 P NF	0.78	0.50	1.56	151	0.12
Carbopol 974 P	0.08	0.53	0.16	149	0.88
Ethylcellulose**	1.93	0.67	2.87	131	0.00
Eudragit RS	-0.50	0.45	-1.11	151	0.27
Glycerol Dibehenate	0.16	0.16	1.00	144	0.32
Guar gum	0.79	0.62	1.27	152	0.20
HPC*	0.61	0.28	2.23	151	0.03
НРМС	0.31	0.22	1.44	141	0.15
Hydroxypropyl starch	0.04	1.97	0.02	149	0.98
Kollidon SR**	-0.59	0.20	-3.00	145	0.00
Lactose	0.25	0.24	1.03	145	0.30
Mannitol	-0.54	0.50	-1.07	152	0.29
MCC	0.24	0.21	1.15	134	0.25
PEO	-0.03	0.17	-0.19	146	0.85
PVA	0.85	1.05	0.81	140	0.42
Povidone	-4.25	7.82	-0.54	98	0.59
Propylenglycol alginate	0.53	0.50	1.06	150	0.29
Talc	-13.48	7.92	-1.70	101	0.09
Titanium dioxide	0.81	1.17	0.70	149	0.49
Xanthan gum**	0.61	0.16	3.81	148	0.00
Size[mm]	0.80	0.48	1.66	151	0.10
Solubility release					
media[g/L]	0.00	0.02	-0.15	148	0.88
log D	-1.40	1.67	-0.84	145	0.40
40% EtOH solubility[g/L]	0.01	0.02	0.32	146	0.75
Solubility ratio 40	0.00	0.02	-0.21	150	0.83
Drug loading (%)	-0.11	0.10	-1.06	150	0.29
Compression strength					
[MPa]	0.00	0.01	-0.45	147	0.66
Breaking Force [N]	-0.03	0.03	-1.15	135	0.25
Preparation [Melted=1,					
compressed=0]	4.40	5.62	0.78	91	0.44
Tablet type					
[Coated=1;matrix=0]	-6.69	5.66	-1.18	122	0.24

For 20% ethanol, solubility in the release medium (b = -0.05, p < 0.01), log D (b = -3.85, p < 0.01), breaking force (b = -0.03, p < 0.05) and the use of a coating (b = -13.27, p < 0.01) were associated with a significant reduction in  $f_2$ -value (Table 7,  $R^2$  = 0.30, f = 3.43, p < 0.001). The solubility in 40% ethanol (b = 0.06, p < 0.01) and the amount of calcium stearate (b = 0.21, p = 0.01) and ethylcellulose (b = 1.27, p < 0.01) were associated with an increase in  $f_2$ -value.

**Table 7** Results of regression for  $f_2$ -value in 20% ethanol.  $R^2 = 0.30$ , f = 3.43, p < 0.001

term	estimate	std. error	statistic	df	p value
Const**	51.07	3.62	14.09	148	0.00
Calcium stearate*	0.21	0.08	2.71	153	0.01
Carbopol 971 P NF	-0.08	0.28	-0.29	160	0.77
Carbopol 974 P	-0.57	0.30	-1.91	161	0.06
Ethylcellulose**	1.27	0.43	2.95	118	0.00
Glycerol Dibehenate	0.03	0.09	0.36	156	0.72
Guar gum	0.04	0.38	0.10	159	0.92
НРМС	0.05	0.14	0.37	144	0.71
Lactose	0.20	0.15	1.36	155	0.18
MCC	0.20	0.10	1.90	152	0.06
Talc	-8.99	5.02	-1.79	100	0.08
Titanium dioxide	0.53	0.76	0.69	157	0.49
Size[mm]	0.28	0.27	1.02	161	0.31
Solubility release media[g/L]**	-0.05	0.01	-4.36	156	0.00
log D**	-3.85	1.06	-3.65	151	0.00
40% EtOH solubility[g/L]**	0.06	0.01	4.66	156	0.00
Solubility ratio 40	0.01	0.01	0.62	156	0.54
Drug loading (%)	-0.03	0.05	-0.64	153	0.52
Compression strength [MPa]	0.00	0.01	-0.64	157	0.53
Breaking Force [N]*	-0.03	0.02	-2.01	145	0.05
Preparation[Melted=1,compressed=0]	0.54	3.24	0.17	91	0.87
Tablet type[Coated=1;matrix=0]**	-13.27	3.57	-3.71	93	0.00

#### 3.1.2 Empiric comparison of release mechanism

The Peppas-Sahlin equation (equation 11) was chosen due to its simple implementation and its applicability to different systems. The %-release-via-diffusion ratio  $\left(\frac{\%-diffusion_{40\%}}{\%-diffusion_{0\%}}\right)$ , calculated from the %-release-via-diffusion according to equation 12, was used to emphasize the difference in %-release-via-diffusion between 40% and 0% ethanol. Neither MDT-ratio nor f<sub>2</sub>-value were included in the model, as these are not appropriate predictors and, a causality, if given at all, would be inverse. Also, none of these variables correlated with %-release-via-diffusion ratio more than 0.22, implying that these variables do not show a meaningful correlation.

In the MLR-model, the White test rejected heteroscedasticity (p = 0.46, t = 173.41), implying that the standard errors are unbiased. The solubility-ratio showed a significant correlation (b = 0.02, p < 0.01) with the %-release-via-diffusion ratio (Table 8,  $R^2 = 0.46$ , f = 4.17, p < 0.0001). This appears plausible, as a higher solubility would result in more dissolved drug and thus a higher concentration gradient between the formulation and the medium. The significant increase (b = 3.11, p < 0.01) associated with the presence of a coating may be a result of an increased permeability of the coating polymer to the drug. This is in accordance to own experimental data (Chapter 3.4, P. 97). The log D has a negative correlation (b = -0.72, p = 0.02) with the %-release-via-diffusion ratio. This may be the residual part, after correcting for the increased solubility and the diffusion through a coating.

Both Carbopol 971 P NF and glycerol dibehenate showed a significant correlation, which may imply a change of release behavior for systems with polymers to a more diffusion-based release. For Carbopol 971 P NF, the authors observed such an effect and ascribed it to the reduced polymer erosion [28]. For glycerol dibehenate, the drug is mainly released via diffusion through pores [194], however, Jedinger et al mentioned the possibility of erosion in aqueous media [41] and Lochař et al proposed a better wettability of glycerol dibehenate in 40% ethanol [193]. The effect of HPMC was nonsignificant (b = 0.07, p = 0.06), which may be a result of the variability of the included studies.

hydroethanolic media

**Table 8** Results of regression for %-release-via-diffusion ratio in 40% ethanol  $R^2$  = 0.46, f = 4.17, p < 0.0001

term	estimate	std. error	statistic	df	p value
Const	0.79	1.10	0.71	151	0.48
Calcium stearate	0.01	0.02	0.64	149	0.52
Carbopol 971 P NF*	0.19	0.09	2.17	152	0.03
Carbopol 974 P	0.01	0.09	0.14	151	0.89
Ethylcellulose	-0.17	0.11	-1.45	148	0.15
Eudragit RS	0.00	0.08	-0.02	152	0.99
Glycerol Dibehenate**	0.08	0.03	2.90	151	0.00
Guar gum	0.01	0.11	0.08	152	0.94
HPC	0.01	0.05	0.17	152	0.86
НРМС	0.07	0.04	1.86	150	0.06
Hydroxypropyl starch	0.03	0.35	0.08	151	0.93
Kollidon SR	-0.05	0.04	-1.49	151	0.14
Lactose	-0.02	0.04	-0.43	150	0.67
Mannitol	0.00	0.09	0.04	152	0.97
MCC	-0.01	0.04	-0.23	147	0.82
PEO	0.03	0.03	1.01	150	0.31
PVA	-0.01	0.18	-0.03	148	0.98
Povidone	0.41	1.27	0.32	130	0.75
Propylenglycol alginate	0.02	0.09	0.26	151	0.80
Talc	-0.25	1.27	-0.19	139	0.85
Titanium dioxide	0.01	0.21	0.06	152	0.95
Xanthan gum	0.00	0.03	-0.04	151	0.97
Size[mm]	0.01	0.09	0.09	151	0.93
Solubility release media[g/L]	0.00	0.00	-0.54	151	0.59
log D*	-0.72	0.29	-2.45	151	0.02
40% EtOH solubility[g/L]	0.00	0.00	-0.15	150	0.88
Solubility ratio 40**	0.02	0.00	6.24	152	0.00
Drug loading (%)	-0.01	0.02	-0.72	151	0.47
Compression strength [MPa]	0.00	0.00	0.10	151	0.92
Breaking Force [N]	-0.01	0.00	-1.09	147	0.28
Preparation	4.47	0.00	4.24	400	0.40
[IVIeIted=1,compressed=0]	-1.1/	0.89	-1.31	133	0.19
Tablet type [Coated=1;matrix=0]*	3.11	0.94	3.30	147	0.00

# 3.1.3 Conclusion

For both the MDT-ratio and the  $f_2$ -value the same predictor variables were used, but differences were made between 20% and 40% ethanol. The different  $R_2$ -values for the MDT-ratio and the  $f_2$ -value indicate, that the MDT-ratio is a better outcome variable to predict than the  $f_2$ -value.

The use of a coating and a high log D can universally cause accelerated release in ethanol. This may result from the increased permeability of many coating polymers in the presence of ethanol [174] and for drugs with a higher log D [268] as well as an increased drug solubility in the presence of ethanol [168]. Apparently, log D reflected this behavior better than the solubility ratio. Melting or granulating a product and increasing the size of a product reduces accelerated release in ethanol except for the MDT-ratio in 20% ethanol. However, this effect was small (b = -0.01, p = 0.03) and, due to the heteroscedasticity of the errors, may not be unbiased. Drug loading and compression strength had no significant effect.

Only the amount of ethylcellulose had a protective effect against accelerated release in hydroethanolic media for all outcome variables. However Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR, being only tested in 40% ethanol, showed a reduction in release in the presence of ethanol when used as a matrix polymer. Calcium stearate had a risk of accelerated release for all but the f<sub>2</sub>-value in 20% ethanol. Other excipients had either differing effects or were not significant for any outcome variable.

Combining these results allows some general guidelines for formulation scientists: A formulation robust to the influence of ethanol should, ideally, consist of Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR as a matrix former, be granulated or molten and preferably of a larger size. A coating is not advised, but if a coating is required, ethylcellulose is the polymer of choice.

The %-release-via-diffusion ratio can be a useful tool to observe a change in the underlying release mechanism. The presence of ethanol can increase the release via diffusion for specific systems. However, this change in release behavior does not necessarily result in a difference in MDT-ratio or  $f_2$ -value.

# 3.2 The behavior of commercial products in aqueous and hydroethanolic media

#### 3.2.1 Commercial products of duloxetine HCl

Duloxetine is a selective serotonin-noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor and as such indicated as a treatment against major depressive disorder, generalized anxiety disorder and polyneuropathic pain as well as stress urinary incontinence [150]. It is used as hydrochloric salt and has been patented in 1994 [269]. It was introduced to the European Union (EU) in 2004 and generic products have been marketed since 2015 [270]. Cymbalta, the originator product, is applied as pellets coated with the enteric polymer hydroxypropyl methylcellulose-acetate-succinate (HPMCAS, because, in acidic media, duloxetine is prone to degradation, resulting in the elimination of 1-naphthol [271]. For duloxetine, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has issued the recommendation for Cymbalta and generic products to include in-vitro alcohol dose dumping tests at different concentrations (5%, 20% and 40% (v/v)) in 0.1 N HCI [271]. In contrast, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) requests the testing at an elevated pH of 4.5 to simulate fed state, but does not ask for ethanol testing [272, 273].

The four tested commercial products are all marketed in the EU and would, therefore, be routinely tested up to 20% ethanol. The formulations were chosen to represent different enteric polymers and different dosage forms (Table 9). All formulations contain the same warning inside the package leaflet advising special caution when consuming alcohol, but not advising against the consumption.

Formulation name	Enteric polymer	Core type	Additional excipients
Cymbalta®	HPMCAS	Sucrose / starch pellet	Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC), talcum, titanium dioxide, triethyl citrate
Duloxetin Beta	Eudragit L (aqueous dispersion)	Sugar pellet	HPMC, talcum, titanium dioxide, triethyl citrate
Duloxetin Aurobindo	Hydroxypropyl- methylcellulose phthalate (HPMCP)	Sucrose/ corn starch pellet	HPMC, hyprolose, crospovidon, talcum, titanium dioxide, indigocarmin, sodium dodecylsulfate, triethyl citrate
Duloxetin 1A Pharma	HPMCAS	Minitablet	HPMC, pregelatinized starch, microcrystalline cellulose (MCC), povidone K30, talcum, magnesium stearate, sodium stearyl fumarate, titanium dioxide, lactose monohydrate, macrogol 4000

Table 9 Composition of the evaluated commercial duloxetine HCl products

While being applied in capsules, the capsule shell was removed prior to release testing. Cymbalta pellets have a finishing layer consisting of talc, HPMC and titanium dioxide (Fig. 7), which is described in the patent [269]. All formulations showed enteric-resistance in 0.1 N HCl, and rapid disintegration in PBS 6.8, which represents the intestinal pH (Fig. 8). The release behavior in this buffer followed three distinct phases (Fig. 9). Initially, the top coating with the enteric polymer dissolved. Pigments or whiteners like titanium dioxide are often included in this top layer, which caused the white spreading. The second phase at about 6 to 8 min was likely the dissolution of TiO<sub>2</sub>.



**Fig. 7** Pellet of Cymbalta in 0.1 N HCl after 5 minutes. The white layer surrounding the grey core is a finishing layer consisting of talc, HPMC and TiO<sub>2</sub>

HPMC, used as a separating layer to avoid interaction of duloxetine with the enteric polymer. Simultaneously the mixed bulk and surface erosion of the core and the drug layer began as can be observed by the size increase, which would not be visible for pure surface erosion.



**Fig. 8** Release of duloxetine HCl from different commercial products in 750 ml 0.1 N HCl. After 2 h, 250 ml of prewarmed  $2M Na_3PO_4$  were added to the release media.



Fig. 9 Dissolution behavior of a Duloxetine Beta pellet in PBS-buffer 6.8.

The addition of ethanol at 20 and 40% to 0.1 N HCl led to premature release of duloxetine (Fig. 10). The only exception to this was the Duloxetine 1A Pharma, which is a mini-tablet formulation and accordingly larger in size (Table 10). This formulation showed no premature release in 20% ethanol and can thus be considered resistant to hydroethanolic media. HPMCAS is the polymer included in this formulation and is also the polymer used in Cymbalta. The resistance to hydroethanolic media is thus not a function of the polymer alone, but of the increased coating thickness, surface-volume ratio or due to different excipients included for tableting. Several of the excipients included in Duloxetine 1A Pharma are not soluble (e.g., MCC) in either water or

ethanol and, thus, would not execute an osmotic pressure, which may facilitate rupturing. Further, the drug is homogeneously dispersed inside the tablet instead of on the surface, prolonging the path of diffusion. The plateauing effect visible in 20% ethanol, resulting in less than 100% release may be due to interaction of duloxetine with the undissolved acidic groups of the polymer [274, 275]. Dissolution of the polymer in PBS 6.8 released additional drug. This effect did not affect the general observation or effect of hydroethanolic media.



Fig. 10 Release of Duloxetine HCl from different commercial products in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol.

Cymbalta	Beta	Aurobindo	1A Pharma
130.94	165.85	173.66	179.04
203	168	164	4
0.65	0.99	1.06	44.76
1.13	1.30	1.41	3.45
5.51	4.71	4.41	1.44
1.45	1.45	1.42	3.22
44	59	53	97
	Cymbalta 130.94 203 0.65 1.13 5.51 1.45 44	CymbaltaBeta130.94165.852031680.650.991.131.305.514.711.4559	CymbaltaBetaAurobindo130.94165.85173.662031681640.650.991.061.131.301.415.514.714.411.451.451.42445953

Table 10 Geometric and gravimetric data of evaluated commercial duloxetine products per capsule.

The premature release may be explained by the behavior of the pellets in the hydroethanolic media (Fig. 11, Fig. 12, Fig. 13). This differed from the polymer dissolution visible in PBS 6.8 (Fig. 9) and is thus a different mechanism.

Pellets of Cymbalta only showed minor swelling, but the build-up of osmotic pressure and the bulging of the coating could lead to small ruptures (Fig. 11). As this was only visible for one pellet, the other may have micro ruptures or rupturing on the non-visible side. Micro ruptures in hydroethanolic media have previously been reported for all tested polymers via SEM [178].

Pellets of Duloxetin Betapharm, coated with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L showed a massive rupturing, splitting open the complete pellet side (Fig. 12). Upon opening, the (already) drastically eroded core could be seen. Thus, Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L has a high permeation of the medium, enabling rapid core dissolution. Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L is very flexible in the wet state [55], but apparently the presence of ethanol negatively affected the integrity of the polymer and its elongation properties.

Pellets of Duloxetine Aurobindo showed both rupturing and swelling (Fig. 13). While one pellet bulged and started rupturing after 20 min, the other swelled massively and showed indistinct rupturing only after 70 min. This implies a different coating integrity or -thickness between the two pellets.



**Fig. 11** Pellets of Cymbalta in 40% ethanol. Images were adjusted for brightness and contrast by the autofunction of FIJI. The upper pellet shows bulging and rupturing (opening) in the lower right side.



**Fig. 12** Pellet of Duloxetine Beta in 40% ethanol. Images were adjusted for brightness and contrast by the auto-function of FIJI.



**Fig. 13** Pellets of Duloxetin Aurobindo in 40% ethanol. The left pellet bulges and ruptures at the top after 20 min, the right pellet ruptures on the left side between 70 and 80 min, visible by the crizzeling of the film.

A direct comparison of the four formulations showed the same order of release for both 20 and 40% ethanol, but at different rates (Fig. 14). Betapharm had the earliest release, followed by Cymbalta and Aurobindo and the least affected 1A, which had a lag time of 25 min in 40% ethanol. While this is not robust according to FDA-requirements [158], the absence of release in 20% ethanol may be regarded as sufficient according to the requirements of the EMA.



Fig. 14 Release of Duloxetine HCl from different commercial products in 20% or 40% ethanol

The different release of the pellets in 20% ethanol (Fig. 14) was reflected in the medium uptake (Fig. 15). Cymbalta, which showed very little visual swelling prior to rupturing, accordingly,

showed little wet weight gain. The dry weight loss was due to erosion and dissolution of the sugar core. Duloxetin Beta showed rapid medium uptake followed by a drastic decrease in wet and dry weight. The complete opening of the pellets (Fig. 12) accelerated the core dissolution and reduced the medium amount staying inside the pellets. The polymer did not dissolve and resulted in aggregation of the pellets; individual pellets could not be separated anymore. Due to the opening of the coating the medium and excipients are released from the pellet. This resulted in a wet-weight below 100%. In contrast, pellets of Cymbalta and Aurobindo constantly had a wet weight above 100%, indicating that the pellet shape is maintained. Pellets of Aurobindo showed the largest amount of swelling, as seen with the largest size increase (Fig. 13).



Fig. 15 (a) Wet and (b) dry weight of and release (dashed line) of commercial duloxetine products in 20% ethanol.

#### 3.2.2 Commercial products of doxazosin mesylate

Doxazosin is an antagonist on adrenergic  $\alpha$ -1 receptors and used in the therapy of hypertension [276]. Osmotic tablets of doxazosin mesylate have first been patented in 1989 [277], nearly ten years after the introduction of doxazosin [278].

CHE STA

Cardular PP is a push-pull osmotic system, consisting of a cellulose-acetate coating surrounding a pull layer of NaCl, drug, HPMC and polyethylenoxide (PEO) and a push layer of HPMC and PEO. Iron (II, III)-oxide is

**Fig. 16** Pictures of a Cardular PP tablet, (a) top view, uncut, (b) lateral view, cut. The orifice for osmotic release is visible below the X in (a). The push (red) and the pull layer (white) are visible in (b).

included as coloring agent in the push layer (Fig. 16). The generic product Doxazosin AL consists of a matrix core of PEO surrounded by an Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L coating. Neither formulation is accompanied by a warning label against the consumption of ethanol.

For both formulations, release was higher in 20% and 40% ethanol compared to 0% ethanol (Fig. 17). As expected, there were only slight differences between 0.1 N HCl (0% ethanol) and PBS for the osmotic system, despite the higher solubility of doxazosin mesylate in acidic media [279]. Doxazosin AL, however, released very differently, resulting from the dissolution of the enteric Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L coating.



Fig. 17 Release of doxazosin mesylate from Cardular PP or Doxazosin AL in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol or PBS buffer 6.8.

The accelerated release of both formulations in hydroethanolic media resulted from the interaction of ethanol with the coating material. Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L does not dissolve like it does in PBS 6.8 but disintegrates substantially (Fig. 12). A similar behavior was seen for the cellulose acetate coating of Cardular PP (Fig. 18), where the coating seemed to disintegrate and pull together (white coloring on the tablet side). Interestingly, neither the disintegration of Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L nor that of cellulose acetate led to rapid release. This was due to the hydrophilic matrix formers, which are less affected by the presence of ethanol (Chapter 3.3.1, P. 68). This behavior will likely not extend to other osmotic tablets without hydrophilic matrix formers.



**Fig. 18** Pictures of Cardular PP tablets after immersion in 40% ethanol. The white coloring seen e.g., in the red part in the 2 h picture are likely the remnants of the cellulose acetate coating.

As mentioned previously, osmotic tablets did not show accelerated release in-vivo [159], which contradicts these in-vitro results (Fig. 17). This can be attributed to the difference in study design. The patients of the study took the ethanol at the beginning and thus the ethanol will be diluted and absorbed over time. The lag time observed in-vitro may be sufficient to avoid dose dumping in-vivo and would comply with the FDA recommendation for 2 h testing [166]. The slight increase observed in-vivo may result from the disintegration of the coating, resulting in an exposure of the polymer former to the intestine, potential motility forces and accelerated release, as well as different tablet compositions and drug solubilities. Therefore, certain types of OROS do not result in in-vivo dose dumping despite accelerated release in-vitro.

A direct comparison between Cardular PP and Doxazosin AL showed the different release behaviors in 0% ethanol and PBS 6.8 resulting from the enteric coating (Fig. 19). In-vivo this difference may not be seen, due to the transition from acidic media in the stomach to the neutral medium in the intestine and thus the dissolution of the Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L. However, the variability of the stomach transit may cause problems that affect the difference in release. The release in 20% ethanol was similar for both formulations, whereas in 40% ethanol Cardular PP releases faster. As both coatings disintegrate at this concentration, this may be explained by differences in the matrix part of the tablet.



**Fig. 19** Release of doxazosin mesylate from Cardular PP or Doxazosin AL in PBS buffer 6.8 or 0.1 N HCl containing 0, 20 or 40% ethanol.

The performance of commercial products in hydroethanolic media depended strongly on the type of system. The enteric products all showed different behaviors and the likelihood of observing an accelerated release in-vivo is, potentially except for Duloxetine 1A Pharma, very high. In contrast, the accelerated release of doxazosin tablets was less pronounced and would require extensive drinking over a longer period to have significant adverse effects.
# 3.3 The behavior of matrix tablets in hydroethanolic media

The main challenges associated with matrix tablets for release in hydroethanolic media are an increase in solubility of the drug and matrix-former and affected swellability of the matrix-former [29]. Matrix tablets show different release mechanisms depending on the type of polymer and the solubility of the drug [9, 280]. An increase in solubility of the drug can accelerate the release, an increase in solubility of the polymer may result in a near-immediate release. A higher medium uptake of the polymer can lead to faster dissolution of the drug and increase diffusion through the polymer [13], but may also close pores [174] or reduce medium penetration [2] due to swelling.

Different researchers have addressed the issue of matrix tablets in hydroethanolic media by varying e.g. the ethanol content [168], the drug type [169], the particle size [23] or the filler [186]. Some of these studies proclaimed accelerated release in 40% ethanol [23, 168], while others claimed robustness to hydroethanolic media [169, 187]. Thus, individual formulations can be stated as robust to hydroethanolic media but there is a lack of general guidelines or recommendations.

Thus, the object of this work was to identify the mechanisms with which ethanol accelerates release and how this can be mitigated by the choice of polymer or inclusion of excipients.

To assess the influence of solubility, different model drugs were chosen to account for different solubilities and ratios (Table 11). Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC), polyethylenoxide (PEO) and hydroxypropyl cellulose (HPC) were chosen as hydrophilic polymers with different molecular structure and hydrophilicity. The influence of viscosity was evaluated by using three different grades of HPMC (K100LV, K4M, K100M). Ethylcellulose, Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR and Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS were chosen as insoluble polymers with different swelling behavior in aqueous media to reflect a broad spectra of possible release mechanisms.

Drug	0% EtOH	20% EtOH	40% EtOH	Ratio 40% / 0%	
Metoprolol tartrate	> 1000		> 1000	-	
Propranolol HCl	142.18	176.96	302.54	2.13	
Paracetamol	7.63	34.65*	155.99	20.43	
Theophylline	7.18	9.39	17.84	2.49	
Carbamazepine	0.19	0.85*	3.76	19.97	

Table 11 Solubility and solubility ratio of evaluated drugs [mg/ml] in 0.1 N HCl

\* Value calculated according to equation 3

## 3.3.1 Hydrophilic polymers

The different drugs were tableted with the widely used HPMC K4M. Release of propranolol HCl and theophylline was independent of ethanol content (Fig. 20). Metoprolol tartrate showed slower release in 40% ethanol. Paracetamol and carbamazepine showed accelerated release in 40% ethanol.

The aqueous solubility influenced the release rate and -curve shape, but not the similarity. A high solubility ratio allows more drug to be dissolved inside the tablet and can thus increase the diffusion rate of the drug. A solubility ratio of 2.1 for theophylline or 2.5 for propranolol HCl was not sufficient to cause accelerated release and HPMC K4M is a suitable polymer for these types of drugs. Further experiments focused therefore on paracetamol and carbamazepine with a higher solubility ratio.



Fig. 20 Drug release from HPMC K4M tablets with different drugs in 0% or 40% ethanol.

## 3.3.1.1 Release of paracetamol

The release of paracetamol in 40% ethanol was accelerated from matrix tablets with all investigated viscosity grades of HPMC as well as PEO WSR 303. The release in aqueous media was fastest from HPMC K100LV and similar for the higher viscosity grades. For HPMC, an upper limit of viscosity has been identified, above which the diffusion coefficient is not reduced further [281]. The release from HPC MXF-containing matrix tablets was less affected and even slightly slower in 40% ethanol. Thus, it is a suitable polymer for avoiding accelerated release in ethanolic media for paracetamol. HPC is more hydrophobic than HPMC and may interact differently with ethanol, but it may also differ in its medium uptake behavior.



**Fig. 21** Release of paracetamol from tablets containing hydrophilic matrix polymers in 0 or 40% ethanol.

#### 3.3.1.2 Change of polymer properties in hydroethanolic media

The medium uptake is a part of the release mechanism and can depend on the release medium as well as the polymer(s) used for manufacturing of matrix tablets. The medium uptake of tablets consisting of pure polymers increased in the rank order: HPC MXF < HPMC K4M < PEO WSR 303 and was independent of the ethanol content in the medium (Fig. 22). The medium uptake of polymers depends on the molecular size, the hydrophilicity of the polymer as well as its three dimensional structure [282]. Larger molecules can bind more water before dissolving. The hydrophilicity and the three-dimensional structure affect the enthalpy upon mixing. HPC is less hydrophilic than HPMC due to the higher substitution grade [15, 20]. The substituted

hydroxypropyl groups, especially the multiple substituted, are more hydrophobic than the unsubstituted hydroxy groups present in the HPMC. PEO also erodes and dissolves in aqueous media [283]. Its molecular structure results in a hydrogen-bond acceptor, as the only hydroxy groups are at the ends of the chain [284]. With increasing molecule size, the ratio of hydrogen bond donor-to-acceptor decreases, resulting in a very low number of donors in the polymer. Accordingly, it has a higher affinity to water molecules, as there are very little intramolecular hydrogen-bonds which must be split prior to binding with water, especially in contrast to HPMC and HPC. The lower intramolecular bonding led to a larger heat of mixing when in contact with aqueous media [282], which resulted in a faster dissolution (Fig. 22b). A higher medium uptake was correlated with more accelerated release in 40% ethanol (Fig. 21). A higher medium content of the tablets allowed faster drug dissolution, and thus a higher diffusion gradient. As saturation effects are frequently found inside tablets [285], an increase in solubility will often increase the release.



**Fig. 22** (a) Medium content and (b) dry weight loss of drug-free polymer tablets after immersion in 0 or 40% ethanol. PEO WSR 303 tablets disintegrated after 4 hours, leading to high dry weight variability.

The dry weight loss was slightly faster in 0% ethanol but differed only little between the polymers. Dry weight loss often decreases when the viscosity is increased [286], as the polymer dissolution depends on the diffusion, which is lower for larger molecules and at higher viscosity. Ethanol can increase the viscosity of HPMC gels [168, 184], which may explain the slower dry weight loss in hydroethanolic media. The dry weight loss is also affected by the hydrodynamic conditions [104]. Thus, in a different experimental set-up, the extent of dry weight loss between these polymers may be increased.

Besides drug dissolution, polymer relaxation is necessary for accelerated release [13]. The size expansion of tablets of HPMC K4M was larger in 0% ethanol compared to 40% ethanol (Fig. 23). Therefore, the gel structure in 40% ethanol is denser, likely increasing the resistance to diffusion.



Fig. 23 Swelling of tablets of HPMC K4M after immersion in 0 or 40% ethanol.

This also resulted in a higher gel strength for hydroethanolic media compared to aqueous media (Fig. 24). Other researchers have also found a higher gel strength of HPMC tablets in hydroethanolic media [184] as well as an increase in viscosity for HPMC gels. A higher gel strength makes the tablet matrix more resistant to mechanical stress [104]. The shear viscosity of water-ethanol mixtures is larger than the viscosity of single components [287] and the self-diffusion of water is higher without ethanol. A "bell-shaped" curve of viscosity against ethanol content can be seen for most cellulose ethers [185]. This is attributed to a "dehydration" effect of ethanol. Increased ethanol-water interactions increase the inter- and intra- chain interactions of the HPMC. Thus, the mobility of the polymer molecules is lower in hydroethanolic media, resulting in the observed increased gel strength as well as in the reduced size-increase due to slower disentanglement. Interestingly, this did not negatively affect the medium uptake (Fig. 22).



**Fig. 24** Gel strength of HPMC K4M tablets after immersion in 0 or 40% ethanol. The dashed line shows the behavior of dry tablets.

A reduced mobility of the polymer will result in a slower diffusion. When omitting the dissolution step, the diffusion of paracetamol through a hydrated HPMC matrix was slower in hydroethanolic media (Fig. 25). However, the diffusion rate was similar for the first two hours before declining in

40% ethanol. This may be due to equilibration effects, where the water initially binds to the HPMC to a similar extent in both media, before reaching equilibrium and the faster disentanglement of the polymer chains takes place in 0% ethanol. This effect is likely to be dependent on tablet size. Thus, the accelerated dissolution of the drug is the critical aspect of HPMC matrix tablets in hydroethanolic media and drugs with a low solubility ratio will likely show similar or slower release for a sufficiently large tablet size.



**Fig. 25** Diffusion of paracetamol through a HPMC K4M-matrix tablet in a diffusion cell in 0 or 40% ethanol.

#### 3.3.1.3 Influence of drug-polymer ratio on release of paracetamol in hydroethanolic media

Release from matrix tablets does not only depend on the type of polymer, but also on the amount of polymer. A lower amount of xanthan gum had a higher likelihood of burst release for theophylline in matrix tablets [23]. Thus, changing the amount of matrix polymer may lead to different behaviors in hydroethanolic media. The release of paracetamol decreased when increasing the amount of matrix polymer from 30% to 50% for HPC, HPMC and PEO (Fig. 26). However, release only decreased further upon increasing the amount of matrix polymer from 50% to 70% for HPC, but not for HPMC and PEO. For some formulations, increasing the amount of matrix polymers did not change the release profile above a specific amount of matrix polymer [288]. It is likely, that this amount depends on the drug and differs with drug solubility, similar to the effect of coating level in extended-release pellets (Chapter 3.4.6, P. 110). Interestingly, the difference in release between 0% and 40% ethanol decreased for HPMC and PEO with an increase in polymer content. For HPC the difference was larger for 30% and 70% polymer compared to 50%. Thus, the "plateauing" effect of polymer content is different for the polymers. Tablets of HPMC and PEO reduced the release in 40% ethanol more at higher polymer contents than the release in 0% ethanol, whereas tablets of HPC showed the opposite behavior, leading to similar release at lower polymer amount. At low polymer amounts, matrix tablets are more affected by polymer disentanglement and erosion due to mechanical stress [104]. HPC showed a faster release in aqueous media if the mechanical stress is higher (Chapter 3.3.1.5, P. 78). At the higher polymer amount the resistance of the tablet to stress is higher, resulting in the faster release in hydroethanolic media. The opposite behavior was observed for HPMC tablets, which released slower in hydroethanolic medium at lower mechanical stress (Chapter 3.3.1.5, P. 78) and also for higher polymer amounts. This is supposedly a result of the different hydration speed. The faster release of HPC at 30% polymer content may be the result of a higher matrix porosity, due to the dissolution of the high amount of paracetamol.



**Fig. 26** Release of paracetamol from matrix tablets of different matrix polymers and matrix-polymer amounts in 0 or 40% ethanol.

#### 3.3.1.4 Influence of fillers on the release of paracetamol from hydrophilic matrices

The addition of fillers is common in tablet manufacturing and can affect the release. Soluble fillers increase the diffusion rate by reducing the tortuosity and increasing the porosity of the polymer network. Insoluble fillers can disturb the polymer entanglement and accelerate erosion [9]. Lactose as a soluble and microcrystalline cellulose (MCC) as an insoluble filler were investigated with HPMC K4M tablets. The solubility of lactose decreases with increasing ethanol content

 $(S_{0\%}$ =209.3 mg/ml,  $S_{20\%}$ =84.2 mg/ml,  $S_{40\%}$ =41.2 mg/ml). Some unspecific effects associated with dilution of either drug or matrix former by inclusion of fillers also needed to be considered.

Since the inclusion of a filler inevitably leads to a reduction of either drug or matrix polymer, both combinations were assessed. Substituting the polymer with filler increased the release rate in aqueous and hydroethanolic media (Fig. 27). Lactose increased the release rate more than MCC.

Both MCC and lactose reduced the difference in release by accelerating the release in aqueous media more than in hydroethanolic media. This acceleration was faster for lactose than for MCC due to the higher porosity resulting from the dissolution of lactose. This contrasts with a publication, which claimed better ethanol resistance for MCC compared to lactose [177]. Since, in this publication, the particle size of drug, polymer and filler are not specified, it is possible that the observed difference may be due to a rapid initial release.



**Fig. 27** Release of paracetamol from a tablet consisting of 49.5% drug, 24.25 % HPMC K4M and 24.25% of lactose or MCC in 0 or 40% ethanol.

When substituting the drug with filler, the release rate was also increased (Fig. 28). Interestingly, the release was similar, irrespective of the filler. Thus, the matrix polymer determines the release at these concentrations. This conforms to previous reports, which claimed that the type of diluent does not change the release profile above a certain polymer amount [288].



**Fig. 28** Release of paracetamol from a tablet consisting of 24.25% drug, 49.5 % HPMC K4M and 24.25% of lactose or MCC in 0% or 40% ethanol.

To confirm the effect of lactose against accelerated release in ethanol, the diffusion of dissolved

paracetamol through matrix tablets of HPMC K4M and lactose was investigated. The release rate was faster in 0% ethanol and slower in 40% ethanol compared to the pure HPMC tablet (Fig. 29). This may result from the different solubilities, i.e., more medium is needed to dissolve the lactose in 40% ethanol.

Thus, the inclusion of lactose is a suitable approach against a different, faster release in hydroethanolic media.

The applicability of fillers for other polymers was assessed using a more realistic tablet composition with 30% drug, 35% matrix polymer and 33% filler.



**Fig. 29** Diffusion of paracetamol through a HPMC-lactose-matrix tablet in a diffusion cell in 0% or 40% ethanol. The dashed line indicates the release in a pure HPMC tablet without lactose.

Tablets of PEO WSR 303 and HPMC K4M with lactose showed similar release behavior at 0, 20 and 40% EtOH. The release from HPC MXF was inversely proportional to the ethanol content and no longer similar (20% EtOH:  $f_2$ =45, 40% EtOH:  $f_2$ =36). Thus, the addition of lactose increases release in aqueous media more than in hydroethanolic media and may even lead to a more rapid release in aqueous media compared to hydroethanolic media.



**Fig. 30** Release of Paracetamol from a tablet consisting of 35% matrix polymer, 30% paracetamol and 33% lactose in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol.

#### 3.3.1.5 Influence of agitation on the release in hydroethanolic media

There is evidence suggesting that ethanol intake can reduce gastrointestinal movement, especially for chronic alcohol abuse [289]. This would lead to a reduction in mechanical stress on the dosage form and may affect the release rate [290].

Tablets of HPC MXF showed accelerated release in 0% ethanol when immersed in a paddle apparatus (Fig. 31). The density of the medium with 0% ethanol is higher than with 40% ethanol, resulting in a higher likelihood of tablet swimming, which was seen during the release testing. The tablet was therefore subjected to increased hydrodynamic motility in the release vessel and a faster removal of dissolved drug, lactose, or polymer in the diffusion layer around the tablet. Switching to a basket method decreases this hydrodynamic mobility in 0% ethanol and also the release. It is, however, still larger than that of 40% ethanol. Placing the tablet in a diffusion cell results in a change of release behavior with a slightly faster release in 40% ethanol. The poor

hydrodynamic conditions inside the diffusion cell led to a near zero-order release in 0% ethanol, whereas the higher solubility in 40% resulted in an initially faster release.



**Fig. 31** Release of paracetamol from matrix tablets of HPC MXF and lactose from different release-testing set-ups in 0 or 40% ethanol.

Interestingly, the same behavior was not observed for HPMC K4M tablets (Fig. 32), where the release was slightly faster from a paddle apparatus in 40% ethanol and slightly slower in a diffusion cell. The difference to HPC MXF in the paddle apparatus has been explained earlier (Chapter: 3.3.1.2, P. 70). The difference in the diffusion cell is a result of the different gel layer formation of the two polymers. A fast gelling of the polymer, as in the case of HPMC K4M, will reduce the medium penetration. HPC gels slower compared to HPMC [2] and as a result more medium may penetrate into the matrix and dissolve the drug. This difference was only visible in the diffusion cell set-up due to less hydrodynamic movement, which gives the polymer more time to hydrate before the drug or other excipients can diffuse away.



**Fig. 32** Release of paracetamol from matrix tablets of HPMC K4M and lactose from different release-testing set-ups in 0 or 40% ethanol.

The influence of fillers may also change depending on the hydrodynamic conditions. A low agitation rate in a paddle apparatus led to an accelerated release in 40% ethanol, whereas the release was similar at higher agitation rates (Fig. 33). The difference was bigger if MCC was used as a filler compared to lactose. As pointed out earlier (Chapter: 3.3.1.4, P. 75), MCC acts by disturbing the gel formation. This effect is likely to be more pronounced at higher agitation rates, as polymer erosion increases with agitation rate [104]. At 10 rpm, the release in 40% ethanol is similar for MCC and lactose, but the release in 0% ethanol is lower for MCC compared to lactose. At 75 rpm, the release is similar for both MCC and lactose as well for 0% and 40% ethanol. Thus, MCC appears to be more affected by the agitation rate than lactose.



**Fig. 33** Release of paracetamol from matrix tablets of HPMC K4M and filler in a paddle apparatus at different rpm in 0 or 40% ethanol.

# 3.3.1.6 Release of carbamazepine from hydrophilic polymers

The release of poorly soluble drugs from erodible tablets in aqueous media occurs predominantly via erosion [280]. Nevertheless, the release from erodible matrix tablets with HPMC K4M or K100M, PEO WSR 303 and HPC MXF was accelerated in hydroethanolic media also for carbamazepine (Fig. 34), which has a similar high solubility ratio.



Fig. 34 Carbamazepine release from tablets containing hydrophilic matrix polymers in 0% or 40% ethanol.

The viscosity of HPMC had a substantial impact on the release behavior and tablets with a lower molecular weight (K100LV) released the drug completely within 10 h and independent of ethanol content in the medium. With an increase in polymer viscosity the release rate dropped. However, the release rate dropped more for 0% ethanol than for 40% ethanol as can be seen by a decrease

in similarity from HPMC K100LV to HPMC K100M. This may be due to a faster erosion of lower viscosity grades of HPMC [286]. HPMC K100LV led to complete release in 10 hours

The similarity for HPMC K100LV also held for drug-polymer ratios of 30:70 and 70:30 (Fig. 35). Thus, HPMC K100LV is a suitable polymer for ethanolic resistance of poorly soluble drugs. Evidently, the similarity between release in 0% and 40% ethanol increased with increased erosion, thus, release rate.



Fig. 35 Carbamazepine release from HPMC K100LV tablets at different ratios in 0 or 40% ethanol.

#### 3.3.1.7 Visual observations of release

To confirm the increased diffusion in 40% ethanol, macroscopic evaluations of HPMC K4M tablets with both paracetamol and carbamazepine were conducted. The images confirmed a change in release behavior for carbamazepine (Fig. 36). As the polymer hydrated, the carbamazepine particles moved outwards with the polymer network to the eroded edge of the tablet. While the particles may change their size and shape in 0% ethanol, they generally reached the outside of the tablet where they left the polymer network and sedimented (Fig. 36a). In 40% ethanol the particles also moved outwards with the polymer, but due to the higher solubility, shrinked and dissolved before reaching the tablet boundary.

Including a coloring pigment in the tablet shows the extent of the polymer network (Fig. 36b). In 0% ethanol only a thin green layer without visible particles can be seen. This layer may be the stagnant boundary layer for the diffusion of the coloring agent and the polymer, or it may be the outer layer of the tablet where the polymer network is too loose to hold the carbamazepine particles. In 40% ethanol this particle-free layer is many times larger.



**Fig. 36** Photographs of a HPMC K4M tablet with (a) 49.5% Carbamazepine using back lighting and (b) 48.5% Carbamazepine and 2% Patent Blue V with top lighting, placed between two transparent discs in 0 or 40% ethanol.

This was not observed for paracetamol (Fig. 37). The solubility of paracetamol is higher in both 0% and 40% ethanol than that of carbamazepine in 40% ethanol (Table 11). Thus, the solubility threshold where the release of visible particles can be seen is between 0.2 mg/ml and 3.8 mg/ml, i.e., between the solubility in 0% and 40% ethanol for carbamazepine.



**Fig. 37** Photograph of a HPMC K4M tablet with 48.5% paracetamol and 2% Patent Blue V with top lighting, placed between two transparent discs in 0% or 40% ethanol. The brightness was increased by 40%.

Different layers of the tablet are visible, especially for 0% ethanol. A more in depth explanation of the fronts in matrix tablets is given by Colombo et al [2]. The diffusion front, showing the difference between dissolved and undissolved drug, was moved further inwards in 40% ethanol. This implies, that more drug could be dissolved inside the tablet, which can be explained by the higher solubility of paracetamol in 40% ethanol.

This also resulted in a faster hydration of the tablet matrix with paracetamol in 40% ethanol (Fig. 38). HPMC alone hydrated slightly faster in 0% ethanol. Interestingly, substituting half of the paracetamol with lactose accelerated the hydration in 0% ethanol and slowed down the hydration in 40% ethanol. However, the latter may also result from a reduced amount of paracetamol.

Therefore, in hydroethanolic media, lactose does not only slow down the diffusion rate of the drug, but also does not increase the penetration rate of the medium.



Fig. 38 Dry area of tablets of HPMC K4M with or without paracetamol and lactose in 0 or 40% ethanol

## 3.3.1.8 Mathematical evaluation of release

A mathematical treatment of release data according to equation 9 demonstrated, that the release mechanism of paracetamol did not change (Table 12). The %-release-via-diffusion did not vary significantly (t (26) =0.631; p=0.532) between 40% ethanol ( $\bar{x}$ =54.6, std = 21.8) and 0% ethanol ( $\bar{x}$ =50.0, std = 17.9). Paracetamol was released in a dissolved state in both 0 and 40% ethanol (Chapter: 3.3.1.7, P. 83), but the release rate is still affected by the hydration and disentanglement behavior of the polymer ( $k_2$  in equation 9). Therefore, no clear trend regarding the %-release-via-diffusion could be observed for the more soluble paracetamol when increasing the ethanol concentration.

Applying the mathematical approach to carbamazepine, where the release mechanism in aqueous medium is mainly via erosion, confirmed a change in hydroethanolic medium, at least partially, to diffusion. The %-release-via-diffusion is significantly higher (t (11) =6.234; p< 0.0001) for 40% ethanol ( $\bar{x}$ =30.6, std = 13.7) than for 0% ethanol ( $\bar{x}$ =3.2, std = 1.7). This was due to the higher solubility, resulting in a faster dissolution of drug and, therefore, higher concentrations of drug available for diffusion. The %-release-via-diffusion in 40% ethanol increased with increasing viscosity for HPMC. This is due to the reduced erosion rate with increased viscosity [286]. A slower erosion rate allows more time for drug diffusion out of the polymer. Therefore, if the drug is

released via erosion, the viscosity of the polymer is critical to the performance in hydroethanolic media.

Table 12 Effect of ethanol concentration on the mean-values of the  $f_2$ -value, the release exponent and regression coefficient from analysis of the release of paracetamol or carbamazepine from hydrophilic matrix polymers.

			НРМС	K100LV	НРМС	K4M	НРМС	K100M	PEO		HPC	
	EtOH		40%	0%	40%	0%	40%	0%	40%	0%	40%	0%
$f_2$ -value			Z	10.4	47.7		45.3		39.9		54	
Paracetamol		k1	6.24	3.27	3.24	2.18	4.51	2.87	5.59	2.52	3.75	4.87
	Values	k2	0.07	0.21	0.12	0.11	0.03	0.08	0.03	0.17	0.05	0.01
	Peppas-	R²	0.97	0.99	0.98	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.97	0.99	0.99	0.98
	Sahlin	% Diffusion	91	62	70	59	92	72	94	57	85	97
$f_2$ =-value		1	6	50.3	4	5.8	3	33.7	3	9.5	36	5.8
Carbamazepine		k1	0.01	0.01	0.64	0.01	0.92	0.04	1.15	0.05	0.89	0.01
	Values	k2	0.31	0.27	0.12	0.11	0.08	0.07	0.12	0.11	0.09	0.09
	Peppas- Sahlin	R <sup>2</sup>	1.00	0.97	1.00	0.98	1.00	0.96	1.00	0.99	1.00	0.98
		% Diffusion	7	5	31	2	45	5	46	5	43	2

\* R<sup>2</sup> refers to the fit of the calculated release curve to the experimental data until 60% of drug is release

\*\* as calculated with equation 10

#### 3.3.1.9 Influence of fillers on the release of carbamazepine from hydrophilic matrices

For paracetamol, the inclusion of fillers resulted in similar release (Chapter: 3.3.1.4, P. 75). Applying this knowledge to carbamazepine resulted also in similar release with both lactose and MCC (Fig. 39). The %-release-via-diffusion increased from 0% to 40% for MCC (0: 1.7%; 40: 32.8%), but not for lactose (0: 65.5%; 40: 49.5%). Thus, lactose is a suitable filler in hydrophilic matrix tablets not only for paracetamol, but also for carbamazepine. It enables the drug to be released via diffusion even for poorly soluble drugs. MCC accelerated the erosion without changing the underlying release mechanism.



**Fig. 39** Release of carbamazepine from a tablet consisting of 49.5% carbamazepine, 24.25 % HPMC K4M and 24.25% filler in 0 or 40% ethanol.

There are drawbacks associated with tablets relying on erosion for release, as the hydrodynamic conditions can greatly affect the release rate [102-104]. The knowledge of the behavior of different fillers enables different approaches to combine the resistance to hydroethanolic media and the resistance to mechanical stress.

#### 3.3.2 Insoluble polymers

#### 3.3.2.1 Release of paracetamol from insoluble polymers

Insoluble polymers differ from hydrophilic polymers, in that they do not dissolve. Release is thus only possible via diffusion and not via erosion.

Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS was an unsuitable matrix polymer in hydroethanolic media as tablets prepared with this polymer disintegrated in 40% ethanol (Fig. 40).

The performance of the insoluble ethylcellulose in hydroethanolic media has been widely investigated as a coating material [24, 40], but not as a matrix former. The release of paracetamol from matrix tablets prepared with ethylcellulose was accelerated in 40% ethanol. Ethylcellulose is soluble in hydroethanolic mixtures above 50% ethanol [41] and can swell in media with lower ethanol content promoting release acceleration.

Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR was previously successful as matrix former for tramadol, demonstrating similar release in hydroethanolic media [190]. This behavior was also confirmed for paracetamol with a higher solubility ratio (Fig. 40). Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR is a combination of water and ethanol insoluble polyvinylacetate and soluble polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP). Upon dissolution, PVP can, however, also increase the viscosity of the medium inside the tablets and thereby reduce the diffusivity [3]. The kinematic viscosity of a 5% PVP solution in 40% ethanol of 6.39  $\frac{mm}{s}$  was 2.5 times higher than that of 0% ethanol with 2.55  $\frac{mm}{s}$ . Therefore, the diffusion in 40% ethanol is likely reduced by the presence of the PVP. Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR is suitable to produce ethanol-resistant matrix tablets of paracetamol.



Fig. 40 Paracetamol release from matrices containing different hydrophobic polymers in 0 and 40% ethanol.

The different affinity of ethylcellulose and Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR towards ethanol is reflected in the medium uptake (Fig. 41). Tablets of ethylcellulose took up more medium in 40% ethanol compared to 0% ethanol but remained insoluble. With a higher medium content in the tablets the diffusion is likely increased [13], which, however, can also be associated with swelling and a porosity reduction [174]. Tablets of ethylcellulose showed no signs of erosion in either medium and remain insoluble. The medium uptake of tablets with Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR was higher in 0% ethanol and the tablets showed a larger amount of leaching, likely of the soluble PVP, compared to 40% ethanol. This supports the reduced diffusion of the PVP, specifically in 40% ethanol.



**Fig. 41** Medium uptake and dry weight loss (leaching) of tablets of Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR and ethylcellulose after immersion in 0 or 40% ethanol.

The release from insoluble polymers is based on percolation theory [3] and thus on the space between the matrix particles. Ethylcellulose is available in different particle sizes, which may also affect the release in 40% ethanol. The FP-grade is a micronized powder with a D50 of 5.2  $\mu$ m and commonly used for matrix tablets. The non-FP standard grade of Ethocel® has a D50 of 164.3  $\mu$ m. Using the non-FP grade accelerated the release of paracetamol (Fig. 42). The similarity, however, was reduced further ( $f_2$ =27). A larger particle size increases the release rate and the percolation threshold [291]. Thus, less drug must dissolve to create a connected network of pores. In tablets with Ethocel® FP this threshold is not passed, whereas it is likely passed in non-FP-tablets. A similar effect of rapid release with 40% ethanol was shown for xanthan gum [23]. The use of larger particle sizes is not a feasible approach to increase the similarity in release to 40% ethanol.



Fig. 42 Release of paracetamol from EC-matrices with different particle sizes in 0 or 40% ethanol.

# 3.3.2.2 Influence of fillers on the release of paracetamol from insoluble matrices

By inclusion of lactose and decreasing both drug and polymer in the formulation of ethylcellulosetablets a similar release was achieved (Fig. 43). Interestingly, the release in 20% ethanol was even slower which can be explained by two opposing non-linear effects. One is the decreasing solubility of lactose, as described above, counteracting the increased solubility of paracetamol. The other is an increase in medium permeation of ethylcellulose with increasing ethanol content [23].

For Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR, the inclusion of lactose reduced the matrix integrity leading to tablet disintegration in 0% ethanol. The tablets did, however, not disintegrate in 40% ethanol. While this formulation cannot be considered sustained release, there may be future applications to avoid immediate drug release if ethanol is present in the stomach.

92



**Fig. 43** Release of paracetamol from a tablet consisting of 35% matrix polymer, 30% drug and 33% lactose in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol.

### 3.3.2.3 Release of carbamazepine from insoluble polymers

For carbamazepine, both Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR ( $f_2$ =32) and ethylcellulose ( $f_2$ =23) led to greatly accelerated release in 40% ethanol (Fig. 44). The low solubility of the drug in aqueous media resulted in a very slow release. The release in 40% ethanol was similar for both polymers, but the release in 0% ethanol from ethylcellulose was much slower than from Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR. This is because of the diffusion driven release, which is obviously accelerated due to the remarkable increase in drug solubility in hydroethanolic media. Tablets of Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR, despite the slower leaching of PVP in 40% ethanol (Fig. 10), led to a smaller difference, but a non-similar release, nonetheless.



Fig. 44 Release of carbamazepine from tablets with insoluble matrix polymers in 0 and 40% ethanol.

The inclusion of lactose, as described for paracetamol, was not sufficient to achieve similar release profiles from either Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR or ethylcellulose (Fig. 45). The addition of lactose led to an overall increase in carbamazepine release, however, did not improve the similarity for 0 and 40% ethanol.



**Fig. 45** Release of carbamazepine from tablets consisting of 30% drug, 35% matrix polymer and 33% lactose in 0 and 40% ethanol.

Even a further reduction in drug content to 10% with increasing lactose did not lead to similar release from Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR (Fig. 46). Interestingly, this led to a further reduction in release in 0% ethanol but accelerated the release in 40% ethanol.



Fig. 46 Release of carbamazepine from tablets of 10% drug, 35% Kollidon® SR and 53% lactose in 0 and 40% ethanol.

The solubility and thus the dissolution of lactose is higher than that of carbamazepine in both media. This is in contrast to paracetamol, where the solubility compared to lactose is much higher in 40%. Thus, the equilibrating effect of lactose may be only given for drugs, which have a higher

solubility than the lactose itself. Insoluble polymers should not be used for ethanolic resistance of poorly soluble drugs like carbamazepine.

#### 3.3.2.4 Release of metoprolol from insoluble polymers

As both tablets of ethylcellulose and Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR performed differently depending on the solubility of the drug, they were additionally tableted with the highly soluble metoprolol tartrate. Tablets of ethylcellulose led to similar release ( $f_2$ =71), whereas tablets of Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR showed faster release in 0% ethanol (Fig. 47). The release in 0% ethanol from Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR is too rapid to be considered extended-release.

Interestingly, the tablets of Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR disintegrated after 3 h in 40% ethanol but remained intact in 0% ethanol. This may be due to the presence of metoprolol inside the tablet in 40% ethanol, as in 0% ethanol the metoprolol is already completely released at this point. In the ethylcellulose tablets the metoprolol dissolved rapidly and left pores inside the polymer network. The higher medium uptake in ethylcellulose did not accelerate the metoprolol release, as the ethanol could also swell the ethylcellulose-chains and reduce the pore size. For a highly soluble drug like metoprolol, ethylcellulose is a suitable matrix polymer whereas Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR is not suitable to achieve similar release.



Fig. 47 Release of metoprolol from insoluble matrix polymers in 0 and 40% ethanol.

#### 3.3.3 Conclusion

Drug with a high solubility ratio, e.g., a 20 times higher solubility in hydroethanolic media compared to aqueous media are likely to have an accelerated release from both hydrophilic and insoluble polymers. For the sparingly soluble paracetamol, a similar release can be achieved by using hydrophilic polymers with a low media content like HPC MXF or by including fillers such as lactose. The use of insoluble polymers leads to similar release if the polymer has a lower media uptake in hydroethanolic media or if lactose is included. For the very sparingly soluble carbamazepine, the higher solubility in hydroethanolic media can shift the release mechanism from erosion-dominated to diffusion-dominated. A similar release is only achievable using hydrophilic polymers with a high erosion rate or by combining hydrophilic polymers with fillers such as lactose. Both approaches may lead to a faster release, but this may be adjusted e.g., by varying the dosage form size. Insoluble polymers are not suitable to achieve similar release for a poorly soluble drug like carbamazepine. This new understanding will allow a more targeted approach to the issue of ethanol intake with matrix tablets.

# 3.4 The behavior of extended-release pellets in aqueous and hydroethanolic media

Another approach to achieve an extended-release formulation is by applying coatings to a drugcontaining core. This allows the separation and independent formulation of (drug) core and (polymer) coating and the use of smaller formulation sizes. Coating a pharmaceutical dosage form can have many advantages, including moisture protection, avoiding drug-drug interaction or protection from light [292]. The use of insoluble polymers as coating materials further reduces the drug release, leading to an extended release of the drug.

# 3.4.1 Comparison of different coating polymers

Among polymers used for the formulation of extended-release (ER) pellets are the insoluble Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS, Kollicoat<sup>®</sup> SR and ethylcellulose, which, however, differ in their swelling ability in release media. These provide sufficient retardation of drug release from coated pellets including freely soluble e.g., propranolol HCl. However, the release in hydroethanolic media can increase depending on core, coating material and the drug used.

To differentiate the swelling of coating and of core in the release medium, the behavior of untreated microcrystalline cellulose (MCC) cores was investigated (Fig. 48). The MCC cores swelled relatively fast in aqueous medium and slightly or remarkably slower in 20 and 40% ethanol, respectively. This can be explained by the different affinity of cellulose chains to water and ethanol. Water diffuses through the microfibril bundles of the MCC more effectively than ethanol [293], resulting in increased liquid-retention and swelling [294]. The swelling of the MCC core is a part of the release mechanism from coated pellets, resulting in stretching or (micro)rupturing of the coating [295]. The swelling rate was slower in hyperosmolar medium (i.e., with of addition 3% NaCl), but equated in extent the 30% swelling in isosmotic medium. The exception was medium with 40 % ethanol with nearly similar swelling behavior in both iso- and hyperosmolar media (Fig. 48).



Fig. 48 Swelling % of MCC cores in 0 or 40% ethanol.

The release of freely soluble propranolol HCl from MCC based pellets coated with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS increased in both 20 and 40% ethanol, when compared with aqueous medium (Fig. 49). In the presence of ethanol, the coating swelled by 70% and disintegrated, exposing the pellet core fully to the medium and resulting in an immediate release (Fig. 49). This is similar to the behavior of Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS in matrix tablets (Fig. 40). Thus, Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS can be considered unsuitable for ethanol-resistant coatings.





**Fig. 49** Drug release and macroscopic pictures (2 h) of propranolol HCl pellets coated with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS in 0 or 40% ethanol.

The release of propranolol HCl also increased in 20% and 40% ethanol from pellets coated with Kollicoat<sup>®</sup> SR 30D (Fig. 50). An extensive coating swelling, approximately 70% and similar to Eudragit RS, even without disintegration, explained the immediate release (Fig. 50). Also, a sticking tendency of Kollicoat<sup>®</sup> SR 30D coated pellets was observed in ethanol-containing media. Kollicoat<sup>®</sup> SR 30D can, likewise, be considered as unsuitable for ethanol-resistant coatings. This result is in contrast to the matrix tablets prepared from Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR, a matrix former with similar composition, which showed similar release for the paracetamol (Fig. 40). This discrepancy can be explained by the comparatively higher surface area and shorter diffusion pathway in the case of

coated pellets. Therefore, the effect of ethanol in the medium can also depend on the morphology and geometry of the dosage form.





**Fig. 50** Drug release and macroscopic pictures (2 h) of propranolol HCl pellets coated with Kollicoat<sup>®</sup> SR in 0 or 40% ethanol.

A release of propranolol HCl independent of ethanol content was achieved from pellets coated with ethylcellulose (Fig. 51). However, in contrast to aqueous medium and 20% ethanol, the release profile for 40% ethanol differed only slightly, but taking into consideration the similarity of  $f_2 = 59$ , it can be considered as similar. This is probably due to a smaller swelling difference (~ 23 %) between aqueous medium and 40% ethanol.





**Fig. 51** Drug release and macroscopic pictures (2 h) of propranolol HCl pellets coated with ethylcellulose in 0 or 40% ethanol.

Despite all three tested coating polymers being soluble in ethanol, the accelerated release in hydroethanolic media was only evident for Kollicoat<sup>®</sup> SR and Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS which can be explained by their extensive swelling difference compared to ethylcellulose, approx. 70 vs. 23 %, respectively.

## 3.4.2 Release of different drugs from ethylcellulose

Since drug solubility would strongly determine the release behavior from pellets coated with ethylcellulose in hydroethanolic media, other drugs, namely, very soluble metoprolol tartrate and slightly soluble theophylline were investigated (Table 11).

The release of metoprolol tartrate decreased with increasing ethanol concentration (Fig. 52). This cannot be explained by the solubility since metoprolol tartrate has the highest solubility in all investigated media. In 40% ethanol, the ethylcellulose coating of metoprolol tartrate pellets was transparent (Fig. 52) while pure ethylcellulose films were opaque. This could indicate an interaction between ethylcellulose and metoprolol e.g. a non-covalent binding as reported previously for ethanol with ethylcellulose [174] or other, enteric polymers [178], as well as indomethacin and ethylcellulose [296].







The partition coefficient in 40% ethanol for ethylcellulose is slightly higher for metoprolol compared to theophylline and propranolol (Fig. 53), but the difference seems unlikely to be solely
responsible for this interaction. Further investigations into this issue are required before the validity of this finding to alcohol effects can be confirmed.



**Fig. 53** Partition coefficient log D (log  $\binom{k_{polymer}}{k_{medium}}$ )) for ethylcellulose 0, 20 or 40% ethanol.

In case of theophylline, the release was very slow in 0% and 20% ethanol but increased significantly in 40% ethanol (Fig. 54). This difference suggests a change in the release mechanism. Pellets of theophylline swelled stronger in 40% ethanol when compared with 0% ethanol. The theophylline molecule is smaller and more lipophilic than propranolol and metoprolol [297]. These properties can be either alone or both the reason for the accelerated release.





**Fig. 54** Drug release and macroscopic pictures (2 h) of theophylline pellets coated with ethylcellulose in 0 or 40% ethanol.

To assess, whether the accelerated release in 40% ethanol for theophylline can be due to an increased diffusion through the polymer, the diffusion of dissolved theophylline through an ethylcellulose film was measured. The diffusion rate was similar for 40% and 20% ethanol, whereas only very little drug was released in 0% ethanol (Fig. 55). In contrast to aqueous medium, where diffusion always followed a zero order kinetic [298], the first hour showed a reduction in release rate prior to the zero-order release rate in hydroethanolic media. This is due to swelling of the polymer and (partial) closing of pores. The similar rate for 40% and 20% ethanol indicates, that other factors are important for the accelerated release in 40% ethanol. The water

permeation of ethylcellulose films in 40% ethanol was reported to be greatly higher compared to 20% [174]. Furthermore, pellet swelling, and mechanical properties of the ethylcellulose-film are also important for this difference.



Fig. 55 Release of the phylline from a diffusion cell through a casted ethylcellulose film (25-55  $\mu$ m thickness) in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol.

# 3.4.3 Swelling and medium uptake of ethylcellulose coated pellets

Medium uptake of ethylcellulose coated pellets increased significantly in 40 % ethanol for all investigated drugs (Fig. 56), due to the above discussed swelling of the coating. This may also increase its permeability. Pellets of propranolol HCl swelled the most, which may be the result of the larger medium uptake. Pellets of metoprolol showed a decrease in swelling after 4 h, which may be due to an increase in drug release at this timepoint.



**Fig. 56** (a) Medium uptake and (b) swelling of MCC pellets layered with metoprolol tartrate, propranolol HCl or theophylline and coated with 30% ethylcellulose 10 in 0 or 40% ethanol. Magnification of dry pellets in comparison to wet pellets due to different refractive indices is responsible for the swelling diameter below 100%.

Interestingly, the ethylcellulose coated pellets selectively took up more ethanol, as can be demonstrated with propranolol HCl. The w/w concentration of ethanol inside pellets after 90 min was approximately 32 %, which is double the concentration in the release medium ~ 16 % (Fig. 57). Taking into consideration the reduced swelling of the MCC cores in ethanol-containing media (Fig. 48), the ethanol uptake can be attributed to the coating and explain the increase of the coating permeability and faster release.



**Fig. 57** Ethanol content (measured via GC) of medium uptake (measured gravimetrically) of MCC pellets layered with propranolol HCl and coated with ethylcellulose in 20% ethanol. The 20% (v/v) ethanol ~ 16% (w/w) ethanol.

#### 3.4.4 Mechanical properties of ethylcellulose films

ethylcellulose is known to be brittle and may form channels if the coating ruptures [55]. The rupturing of the coating is more likely if it has a low puncture strength and low elongation. The mechanical properties, such as puncture strength and elongation, decreased with increasing ethanol amount, especially in 40 % ethanol (Table 13). Therefore, the brittleness of ethylcellulose in 40 % ethanol caused faster rupturing and, thus, faster release.

Table 13 Mechanical properties of dry and wet films of ethylcellulose after 2 h immersion in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol

	Puncture strength, MPa	Elongation, %	
Dry	0.59	1.2	
0% ethanol	0.45	1.6	
20% ethanol	0.35	1.5	
40% ethanol	0.15	0.8	

However, ethanol may also act as a plasticizer for ethylcellulose. A plasticizing effect due to the medium is known e.g. for Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L 30 D, where a much higher elongation to rupture is found in wet- compared to dry state [55]. A plasticizer would increase the polymer mobility and allow it to close spaces, i.e., pores and cavities, left by the particles and could also cause a closing of pores in-situ. A similar effect was seen for the water diffusion through ethylcellulose-hydroxypropyl cellulose (HPC) films [174]. The ethylcellulose swells in the presence of ethanol and closes the pores left by the dissolution of HPC.

This pore closing appears likely, considering the loss of isopropanol from pellets in different media (Fig. 58). The ethylcellulose -coating, prepared from an aqueous isopropanol solution, will have micro-pores as a result of polymer coacervation [298]. Thus, the loss of isopropanol through the pores is fast. In hydroethanolic media, the pores close over time due to the plasticizing effect of ethanol, resulting in an initially similar isopropanol loss, but with a plateau after 2 hours (which corresponds to the plateau observed in the ethanol uptake).



**Fig. 58** Isopropanol content of propranolol pellets coated with 40% ethylcellulose after immersion in 0.1 N HCl substituted with 0 and 20% ethanol.

### 3.4.5 Influence of osmolality on release

Because of the osmotic release mechanism, the addition of osmotically active agent to the release media will decrease the release [52]. In fact, the addition of 3% NaCl resulted in nearly full suppression of release in 0 or 20 % ethanol (Fig.59) which confirmed the purely osmotically driven release.



**Fig.59** Effect of 3% NaCl on drug release from MCC pellets layered with propranolol and coated with 40% ethylcellulose in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol.

In 40% ethanol, the release of propranolol HCl was not suppressed by addition of 3% NaCl, but also changed from osmotic, with a typical sigmoidal shape, to diffusion-based, following a square root of time kinetic (Fig. 60,  $R^2 = 0.995$ ).



**Fig. 60** Drug release from MCC pellets layered with propranolol and coated with 40% ethylcellulose in 40% ethanol vs. square root of time at different NaCl concentrations

The swelling of MCC, while still being slower than in 0% and 20% ethanol, was not slowed down by the addition of NaCl in 40% ethanol (Fig. 48). NaCl can also affect the release via diffusion by a reduction of drug solubility [299]. The solubility of propranolol HCl is decreased in presence of NaCl (Table 14). However, this reduction would not result in a complete stop of release.

Additive	0% EtOH	20% EtOH	
-	135.0	170.5	
10% NaCl (w/w)	5.8	10.7	
10% Sucrose (w/w)	88.3	137.0	
5% HPMC E5 (w/w)	103.2	160.9	

Table 14 Solubility [mg/ml] of propranolol HCl 0% and 20% ethanol with different additives.

#### 3.4.6 Influence of coating level on release

The mechanisms governing the release of propranolol from ethylcellulose -coated pellets led to a similar release at 30% coating level. Different coatings levels however led to different release profiles, both in terms of lag time and slope (Fig. 61).



**Fig. 61** Drug release from MCC pellets layered with propranolol and coated ethylcellulose at different coating levels in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol.

The mean dissolution time (MDT) of propranolol HCl was lower in 20% ethanol at lower coating levels of 10% and 20%, but similar at 30% and 40% coating (Fig. 62). The MDT is a standardized measure of the timepoint, where 50% of the drug is released. A low value indicates a faster release. In 40% ethanol, the release was similar at 30% coating and faster at 40% coating.



Fig. 62 Effect of coating level on MDT of propranolol pellets in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol.

With increasing coating level, the swelling capacity of the core remains constant, but the pressure required to rupture the coating increases [300] and can be, at some point, insufficient for adequate release. Therefore, the faster medium uptake and increased wettability would explain the faster release in 20% ethanol at low coating levels. At 30% coating level, wettability becomes less important, and the release occurs mainly due to the rupturing effect induced by the core swelling. At 40% coating, the coating is stronger, and ruptures are not sufficient for complete release. Thus, the similar release in the investigated media observed at 30% coating cannot be extrapolated to other coating levels.

To investigate the effect of core, theophylline was layered onto MCC and sugar cores. Theophylline release from MCC cores was similar at coating levels of 10% ( $f_2 = 70$ ) and 30% ( $f_2 = 61$ ) for 0 and 20% ethanol (Fig. 63). At 20% coating level release was faster in 0% compared to 20% ethanol ( $f_2 = 44$ ). This contrasts with sugar cores, where release was faster in 20% ethanol at all coating levels ( $f_2 = 40$ , 37 or 33 for 10, 20 or 30% coating level, respectively). Both MCC and sugar cores create pressure against the coating. MCC is insoluble but swells, stronger in aqueous medium (Fig. 48). The sugar core dissolves in all investigated media creating an osmotic pressure once the volume in the core is larger than the displaceable volume [54]. The dissolution of sugar is associated with a volume contraction [301] which is lower in water-ethanol mixtures compared

111

to pure water [302]. The lower contraction and the higher medium permeation [174] can explain the faster release in 20% ethanol from sugar cores.



Fig. 63 Effect of coating level and core type on MDT of theophylline pellets in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol

The original curves also indicated a strong reduction in slope of the release curve in 0 and 20% ethanol and less effect in 40% ethanol (Fig. 64). Thus, the use of ethylcellulose alone is likely not suitable to achieve similar release in 40% ethanol at any coating level.



**Fig. 64** Drug release from MCC or sugar bead pellets layered with theophylline and coated with different levels of ethylcellulose in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol.

### 3.4.7 Influence of hydrophilic polymers in the coating on release behavior

The addition of hydrophilic polymers has been used to match the release [170] or the water permeability [174] in aqueous and hydroethanolic media from ethylcellulose .

Introduction of HPC into an ethylcellulose -coating accelerated the release (Fig. 65). The release in 0% ethanol was still slower than in hydroethanolic media, but interestingly there was no difference between 20% and 40% ethanol, irrespective of the coating level. An increase of coating thickness from 30% w/w ( $f_2$ =20.8) to 45% w/w ( $f_2$ =23.0) reduced the difference between 20% ethanol and 0% ethanol-containing media only slightly. Following the conclusions given by Larsson et al. [174], the swelling of ethylcellulose in 40% ethanol partially closed the pores created by the HPC. In 20% ethanol this swelling may be insufficient to close the pores, leading to similar release. For theophylline, the inclusion of HPC was not suitable to achieve similar release for hydro- and aqueous media.



**Fig. 65** Drug release from MCC pellets layered with theophylline and coated with 30% or 45% Ethocel® 10: Klucel LF (65:35) in 0, 20 or 40% ethanol.

#### 3.4.8 Conclusion

Kollicoat<sup>®</sup> SR and Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS are not suitable to prevent alcohol-induced accelerated release. ethylcellulose can be used to achieve release unaffected by ethanol up to 20% ethanol as required by the EMA. The release mechanism of the drugs may change from osmotically driven to a diffusion-based release in 40% ethanol. At this concentration similar release is only achievable for drugs of higher solubility like metoprolol and propranolol. However, there is acceptable concern, whether a prolonged exposure to such a high concentration in the stomach, especially for multiple unit dosage forms, will happen in-vivo. A similar release with ethylcellulose is also a function of coating level and core type. MCC cores should be preferred over sugar cores to avoid accelerated release in hydroethanolic media.

# 3.5 The behavior of enteric-coated pellets in aqueous and hydroethanolic media

Enteric coatings are utilized to not release the drug in the acidic pH of the stomach and to release the drug in the intestine. The protection of the gastric mucosa from the drug or the protection of the drug from the acidic pH of the stomach are the main reasons for applying an enteric coating [79]. Further applications include colonic targeting [73] and mixed coatings to counteract a reduced intestinal drug solubility [64]. Contrasting with extended-release formulations where the concern is dose-dumping, enteric pellets are rather at risk of sub-therapeutic drug-plasma levels, if the drug degrades prior to absorption.

A coating is referred to as enteric-resistant in this work if less than 10% drug is released, usually over a period of two hours. This is based on the recommendations of the Ph. Eur. [303].

# 3.5.1 Methacrylic acid-methyl-methacrylate-copolymer (Eudragit® L)

Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L is a polymethacrylate designed for enteric coatings and was introduced to the market in 1955 [304]. It is available both with 30% solid contents as an aqueous dispersion and as plain powder for redispersion in water or dissolution in organic solvents. Plasticizers are necessary for the aqueous dispersions, whereas they are not always needed for organic solutions [304]. The water soluble plasticizers triacetin and triethyl citrate (TEC) are the best due to their small molecular size [305]. The minimum layer thickness to achieve enteric-resistance for Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L is 40-50  $\mu$ m (4-5 mg dry polymer/cm<sup>2</sup>). Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L has been used together with insoluble polymers for ethanolic resistance [208, 210, 306], but this leads to the previously mentioned issue of slow release in the intestine.

The release of propranolol from pellets coated with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L showed near-instantaneous release in 20% ethanol (Fig. 66). An increase in coating level led to a slower release in 0% ethanol, whereas there was nearly no effect visible for 20% ethanol. This rapid release from dosage forms coated with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L was also observed in recent reports [178] and in commercial products (Chapter: 3.2.1; Fig. 10, Fig. 12). Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L is not a suitable polymer to achieve ethanolic resistance for 20% ethanol.



**Fig. 66** Release of propranolol HCl from pellets coated with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L at different coating levels in 0 or 20% ethanol.

# 3.5.2 Polyvinyl acetate phthalate (PVAP)

Sureteric<sup>®</sup> is an aqueous dispersion of PVAP and thus allows the inclusion of water-soluble polymers. As the inclusion of guar gum in an ethylcellulose coating can lead to similar release in aqueous and hydroethanolic media [170], this approach was evaluated for the aqueous Sureteric<sup>®</sup>. To avoid a premature release due to dissolution of the guar gum, guar gum was only included in the second coating. Thus, a bottom coating of 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup> without guar gum was coated again with 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup>-Guar gum (90:10, w/w). This mixture was however insufficient to achieve acidic resistance in 0% ethanol and showed rapid release in 20% ethanol (Fig. 67).



**Fig. 67** Release of propranolol from pellets coated with 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup> and 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup>/Guar gum (90:10, w/w) in 0 or 20% ethanol.

In the coating of aqueous dispersions, curing is often required to achieve complete coalescence of the polymer particles on the pellet surface [292]. The curing of the Sureteric<sup>®</sup> coated pellets however only had a minor effect on release (Fig. 68). Thus, the poor release-sustaining-effect could not be ascribed to an insufficient bonding of the polymer particles on the pellet surface due to insufficient curing. Instead, the guar gum may have simply dissolved and led to pores in the coating.



**Fig. 68** Release of propranolol from pellets coated with 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup> and 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup>/Guar gum (90:10, w/w) in 0 or 20% ethanol. Pellets were either not cured or cured for 22 h at 50°C.

To slow down the release of guar gum and to achieve ethanolic resistance, 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup> was coated on top of the previous coatings, resulting in three coating layers. This was sufficient to achieve acidic resistance and slow down the release in 20% ethanol (Fig. 69). The top coating avoided premature dissolution of the guar gum in the second coating by reducing the diffusion rate, increasing the local concentration, and thus slowing down further dissolution of the polymer.



**Fig. 69** Release of propranolol from pellets coated with 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup>, 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup>/Guar gum (90:10, w/w) and 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup> in 0 or 20% ethanol.

An additional curing had no effect on the release of these 3-layered pellets (Fig. 70). However, due to the considerable amounts of coating material and the still present accelerated release this combination is not a feasible approach to target ethanol-induced dose dumping.



**Fig. 70** Release of propranolol from pellets coated with 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup>, 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup>/Guar gum (90:10, w/w) and 20% Sureteric<sup>®</sup> in 0 or 20% ethanol. Pellets were either not cured or cured for 22 h at 50 °C.

### 3.5.3 Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose-phthalate (HPMCP)

### 3.5.3.1 The behavior of HPMCP-coated pellets layered with propranolol HCI

HPMCP consists of Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC) esterified with phthalic-acid and marketed by Shin-Etsu for dissolution at different pH. While coating of micro ground HPMCP in

an aqueous dispersion can achieve enteric-resistance, at higher coating levels [80], no aqueous dispersion is commercially available and HPMCP is recommended to be prepared from an organic solution. It was tested at different coating levels (Table 15).

 Table 15 Coating level and coating amount of propranolol-HPMCP pellets

Feret diameter of layered pellets	914 ± 20 μm		
Circularity	0.88 ± 0.1		
40% coating level	9.2 mg/cm <sup>2</sup>		
30% coating level	6.9 mg/cm <sup>2</sup>		
20% coating level	4.6 mg/cm <sup>2</sup>		
10% coating level	2.3 mg/cm <sup>2</sup>		

The release of propranolol from HPMCP-coated pellets showed enteric-resistance in 0% ethanol above a coating level of 20% (Fig. 71). As HPMCP can be coated from an ethanolic solution it is soluble in ethanol [178]. The 20% ethanol were not sufficient to dissolve the HPMCP, but swelling was possible. This allowed both medium penetration and premature release. The curve of release followed a sigmoidal shape. Such a shape has also been described for a system comprising Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS and succinic acid [71]. This system had been linked to an osmotic pumping mechanism [307]. Thus, it is possible, that the release from HPMCP has at least partially an osmotic mechanism. Considering the size increase observed for Duloxetine Aurobindo in hydroethanolic media (Fig. 13), this osmotic release may result from a strong media uptake prior to the onset of release.



Fig. 71 Release of propranolol from HPMCP-coated pellets at different coating level in 0 or 20% ethanol.

The loss of residual isopropanol content from pellets, originating from the coating solution, can inform about the permeability or potential porosity of the coating. A rapid loss of isopropanol may result from a high porosity of the coating, enabling a fast diffusion of the isopropanol into medium. Pellets coated with HPMCP showed a faster loss of isopropanol in 20% ethanol (Fig. 72) compared to 0% ethanol. The presence of ethanol can increase the permeability of polymer coatings [174] towards water vapor as well as increase the porosity of enteric polymers [178]. Both effects can also apply to isopropanol and explain the faster loss of isopropanol from the pellets, especially in contrast to ethylcellulose (Fig. 58). This would imply a higher chance for the medium to penetrate the core.



Fig. 72 Isopropanol content in 0 and 20% ethanol of propranolol pellets coated with HPMCP.

If the medium penetrates faster into the core in the presence of ethanol, this would result in a higher medium uptake. The pellets took up media in both aqueous and hydroethanolic media (Fig. 73). However, the medium uptake in aqueous media plateaued af89ter 30 min, whereas the medium uptake in 20% ethanol increased linearly with time. There was only minor difference between the media regarding the dry mass loss, which is likely mostly caused by drug dissolution. The accelerated release observed earlier is thus due to an increased swelling and not polymer dissolution or disintegration.



**Fig. 73** Medium uptake and dry weight loss in 0 and 20% ethanol of layered pellets of propranolol coated with HPMCP.

The resulting premature release in 20% ethanol showed a clear increase of  $t_{10}$  with increasing coating level (Fig. 74). The  $t_{10}$  refers to the time point where approximately 10% of the drug is released and thus the timeframe in which formulation may be considered as enteric-resistant. The slope of the curve decreased with increasing lag time.



Fig. 74 Release of propranolol from HPMCP-coated pellets at different coating levels in 20% ethanol.

This observed  $t_{10}$  depended linearly on the coating level for a specific pellet size. This allows determining the required amount of coating level to achieve enteric-resistance with

$$Coat_{Amt} = 0.124 T_{10} + 2.176$$
 equation 18

with  $T_{10}$  being the required  $t_{10}$  in min and  $Coat_{Amt}$  being the required coating amount in mg/cm<sup>2</sup>. For 120 min this would require a coating amount of 17.1 mg/cm<sup>2</sup> or 74.2% coating level.

As there are drawbacks associated with a very thick layer of enteric polymer regarding the dissolution in the intestine [84], a larger pellet core was chosen instead.

Cellets<sup>®</sup> are also MCC cores but the tested batch was of a larger size (1.25 mm - 1.4 mm). At the same coating level, they thus had a larger coating amount per surface area. This resulted in enteric-resistance in 20% ethanol already at 30% coating level (Fig. 75). The relationship between  $t_{10}$  and coating level differed from the Celphere<sup>®</sup> 507 pellets used previously (Fig. 71).



**Fig. 75** Effect of coating level on drug release in 0 or 20% ethanol from propranolol from Cellets<sup>®</sup> coated with HPMCP.

Cellets<sup>®</sup> showed a steeper relationship between lag time and coating level than Celphere<sup>®</sup> 507 (Fig. 76). Therefore, another factor, besides the coating level, was responsible for the difference in  $t_{10}$ . As the two pellet types differ in their size, the surface-to-volume ratio may explain some of these differences. It has been used in the past to calculate the lag time of pellets coated with ethylcellulose [300].



Fig. 76 t<sub>10</sub> vs. coating amount for propranolol-HPMCP pellets in 20% ethanol.

A drawback associated with a linear relationship as in equation 18 is the possibility of negative values at low coating levels. Instead, the  $t_{10}$  should asymptotically approach zero. A power law was used to achieve this asymptotical approach and allow the inclusion of the surface-to-volume ratio:

$$T_{10} = (b \frac{Coat_{Amt}}{\frac{A}{V}})^c$$
 equation 19

Where A is the surface area, V is the pellet volume and  $\frac{A}{V}$  thus the surface-to-volume ratio. The surface-to-volume ratio was 4.3 for Cellets<sup>®</sup> and 6.6 for Celphere<sup>®</sup> 507.b and c are dimensionless fitted constants, which may differ depending on the drug solubility, the polymer type, and the core type.

Fitting b and c to the data from Fig. 76 resulted in equation 20:

$$T_{10} = (13.33 \frac{Coat_{Amt}}{\frac{A}{V}})^{1.39}$$
 equation 20

The calculated  $t_{10}$  fitted well to the experimental data of both pellet types (Fig. 77a) and the residual errors showed no trend (Fig. 77b). Thus, equation 20 is suitable to describe the relationship between coating amount, surface-to-volume ratio and  $t_{10}$ . It should be noted that the error is rather high for the low data points, where, despite the presence of a coating amount, there was nearly no lag time. This may be due to an incomplete coating, which would result in a different release mechanism [60].



Fig. 77 (a) Calculated vs. experimental  $t_{10}$  of HPMCP pellets in 20% ethanol. (b) residual error

To verify the validity of equation 20, it was tested on a separate set of data not included in the creation of the equation. A subset of the propranolol-layered Celphere<sup>®</sup> 507 was sieved to yield pellets of a mean size of 819  $\mu$ m and a surface-volume ratio of 7.3. The resulting curve showed

good fit with a R<sup>2</sup> of 0.995 (Fig. 78). The largest difference can be observed for the lowest coating amount, where a rapid release was seen in-vitro. However, as these low coating amounts do not provide enteric-resistance, they are unlikely to be of interest to formulation scientists. The presented equation can be a time-saving approach to determine the required amount of coating polymer to avoid premature release in hydroethanolic media. It can be applied to calculate the  $t_{10}$  of propranolol from HPMCP coated pellets of different sizes.



Fig. 78 Calculated vs. experimental t<sub>10</sub> of test-subset of HPMCP pellets in 20% ethanol.

Adjusting the coating amount and fitting the  $t_{10}$  to achieve enteric-resistance even in the presence of ethanol is one possible approach for enteric dosage forms. However, the difference in release between 0% and 20% ethanol is still very large. Cellets<sup>®</sup> with 40% HPMCP had a lag time of 3.1 h in 20% ethanol, but over 18 h in 0% ethanol, without a change in medium pH (Fig. 79). Thus, while increasing the coating amount may be sufficient to enable enteric-resistance in-vivo, it will not result in a similar release. Instead, the inclusion of a subcoating was evaluated as a possible approach to reduce the difference in release.



Fig. 79 Release of propranolol from Cellets® coated with HPMCP in 0 or 20% ethanol.

# 3.5.3.2 The effect of a HPMC sub-coating on the release of enteric coated pellets

A subcoating is commonly applied when using enteric polymers. The subcoating can protect the drug from the acid groups of the enteric polymer [80, 308], reduce the moisture uptake [309] or can affect the release in the intestine [310].

HPMC E5 was chosen as a subcoating material due to its widespread use and because HPMC was little affected by ethanol in the media (Chapter 3.3.1, P. 68). A 3% HPMC-subcoating was chosen to achieve a protection of the content from the enteric polymer. This led to a release profile (Fig. 80) with an accelerated release in 20% ethanol similar to the non-subcoated pellets.



**Fig. 80** Effect of a 3% HPMC E5 subcoating and coating level on propranolol release from HPMCPcoated pellets in 0 and 20% ethanol.

A direct comparison between subcoated and non-subcoated pellets showed a reduction in lag time in 20% ethanol (40% coating level) and in 0% ethanol (30% and 40%). The slope of the release is less steep in 20% ethanol. Thus, a slight shift in release mechanism, to a more linear type of release due to the presence of the HPMC E5 subcoating may be possible, but larger amounts of polymer are required, to profoundly affect the release curve.



**Fig. 81** Effect of 3% HPMC-sub coating on drug release from HPMCP coated propranolol pellets in 0 and 20% ethanol.

The usage of 50% HPMC resulted in a reduction in the accelerated release in 20% ethanol (Fig. 82). After 2 hours around 15% of the drug was released in 20% ethanol, which is only slightly above the desired value of 10% release. This low amount of released drug translates to a low risk of ethanolic dose dumping in-vivo.



**Fig. 82** Effect of 50% HPMC-sub coating on drug release from HPMCP coated propranolol pellets in 0 and 20% ethanol.

Both the use of a larger coating amount as well as the application of a subcoating can reduce the risk associated with the concomitant intake of ethanol and enteric coated pellets. However, both methods can also decrease the release rate in the intestine [310]. A sufficiently fast release in PBS

6.8 was observed from both Cellets<sup>®</sup> and subcoated Celphere<sup>®</sup> (Fig. 83). The Cellets<sup>®</sup> had a slightly longer lag time, whereas the subcoated pellets took longer to reach 100% release. However, both formulations released over 80% of the drug in 30 minutes and can thus be considered suitable enteric dosage forms.



**Fig. 83** Release of propranolol in PBS 6.8 from Cellets<sup>®</sup> or 50% sub coated Celphere<sup>®</sup> pellets coated with HPMCP.

# 3.5.3.3 The behavior of HPMCP-coated pellets layered with theophylline

Theophylline is less soluble than propranolol (Table 11) and may thus differ in its release behavior. Less than 10% coating level were required to achieve enteric-resistance in 0% ethanol (Fig. 84). In 20% ethanol, the release was accelerated compared to 0% ethanol, but it was slower than for propranolol (Fig. 71). The release of theophylline in 20% ethanol followed a zero-order release rate. This can be explained by the low solubility of theophylline and the possibility of a diffusion through the coating. Not all the theophylline could be dissolved at once, resulting in a constant concentration gradient and, therefore, zero order release.



Fig. 84 Effect of coating level on release of theophylline layered onto MCC pellets in 0 or 20% ethanol.

The coating level affected both the release rate and the lag time (Fig. 85). With increasing coating level, the medium takes longer to penetrate and swell the coating. According to Fick's law of diffusion, the diffusion of the drug, the rate limiting step for the release after the lag time, is similarly reduced with increasing coating amount [30].



Fig. 85 Effect of coating level on release of theophylline layered onto MCC pellets in 20% ethanol.

As the accelerated release of propranolol in comparison to theophylline could be linked to a higher degree of swelling, the medium uptake of pellets layered with either drug was compared (Table 16). The wet and dry weight of propranolol and theophylline were similar until 40 min, which is slightly before the onset of release. When the release started, at 85 and 120 min, the difference in wet weight between the drugs was increased. This can be attributed to the solubility and the different release mechanism: propranolol has a higher solubility and is released with an osmotic mechanism, which will likely result in micro ruptures of the coating. In contrast, theophylline has a low solubility. The inside of the pellet will quickly be saturated with a large amount of the theophylline still being undissolved. Thus, the osmotic pressure created by the theophylline is smaller than that of the propranolol, which will result in less medium taken up. The plateauing of the wet weight despite the release indicated, that theophylline can diffuse through the swollen polymer.

**Table 16** Normalized wet and dry weight of propranolol and theophylline pellets coated with 40% HPMCP in20% ethanol

	Wet weight		Dry weight		Wet weight / dry weight	
min	Propranolol	Theophylline	Propranolol	Theophylline	Propranolol	Theophylline
20	129.1	127.4				
40	138.3	137.6	94.6	95.5	146.14	144.2
85	164.3	147.4	90.0	93.9	182.6	156.9
120	171.2	144.2	89.4	93.3	191.5	154.6

The release rate of theophylline depended on the position of the drug inside the pellet. A layered pellet shows a faster relative release rate than a matrix pellet [61]. This behavior also applies to an enteric coating. Using a matrix core resulted in enteric-resistance even in 20% ethanol at a coating level of 30% (Fig. 86).



Fig. 86 Effect of coating level on release of theophylline from matrix pellets in 0 or 20% ethanol.

An increase of the coating level specifically led to a decrease in the steepness of the slope of release in 20% ethanol, whereas the onset of release, the point where drug first appears on the outside of the pellet coating, appears to be less affected by a further increase from 30% coating to 40% coating (Fig. 87). The same was observed for the layered pellets (Fig. 85). This may be the result of prior membrane swelling by the hydroethanolic media, which would facilitate the diffusion, and which may be less affected by the change in coating thickness than the drug diffusion.



Fig. 87 Effect of coating level on release of theophylline from matrix pellets in 20% ethanol.

By comparing the zero-order release rate of theophylline with the sigmoidal shape of propranolol, it appears likely, that the release mechanism of propranolol and theophylline differs. The power-equation nicely described the  $t_{10}$  of propranolol-layered pellets (equation 20, Fig. 77). However, the  $t_{10}$  of theophylline matrix pellets followed a linear function and the layered theophylline pellets led to a square root type of function (Fig. 88). Therefore, applying the same power-equation to this type of system would result in a systematic error.



Fig. 88 Coating amount vs.  $t_{10}$  of the phylline layered pellets coated with HPMCP in 20% ethanol.

This difference in behavior can be attributed to the different release mechanisms. For the release by osmotic pumping the coating strength increases with increasing coating amount, whereas the

medium uptake decreases [300] (see also Chapter: 3.4.6, P. 110). In contrast, for a drug released via diffusion the  $t_{10}$  can be linear to coating thickness [311]. There are also some studies suggesting the lag-time of single substance diffusion depends on the square of the thickness [312, 313], which would result in a square root-dependency as observed (Fig. 88). Therefore, the shape of the relationship between  $t_{10}$  and coating amount depends not only on the release mechanism, but also on the distribution of the drug in the core.

As the drug solubility had a profound impact on the behavior in (acidic-) hydroethanolic media, it was important to clarify, if this also negatively affected the release at neutral pH. Matrix pellets were slightly slower in release, but both matrix and layered pellets released more than 75% of the drug in 30 minutes in PBS 6.8, which can be considered sufficiently fast release.



**Fig. 89** Release of theophylline in PBS from layered and matrix pellets coated with 40% HPMCP in PBS 6.8.

Of all evaluated dosage forms, enteric-coated pellets are the most susceptible to an accelerated release in hydroethanolic media. The different requirements, compared to extended-release dosage forms, render the drugs of higher solubility like propranolol to be more challenging than drugs of lower solubility like theophylline. The use of a sufficiently thick coating, a subcoating or a drug-matrix-core can increase the lag time even in 20% ethanol, resulting in formulations that meet the European Medicines Agency (EMA) requirements.

# 4 Summary

The safety and efficacy of modified release drug formulations depend on their ability to allow a reproducible release that is affected as little as possible by external influences. These influences include the prandial status of a patient, the gastrointestinal motility as well as the concomitant intake of ethanol. Ethanol is a substance with a substantial risk of addiction and a risk of pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic interactions. It can additionally affect the modified release characteristics of drug formulations, by accelerating the release or even leading to dose dumping with potential toxic side effects. Despite being a regulatory requirement for drug applications, only little is known about the mechanisms of how ethanol can cause accelerated release.

The aim of this work was to identify formulation parameters that can affect the release in hydroethanolic media and possible approaches to mitigate this.

The effects of hydroethanolic media were assessed in-vitro according to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) guidelines in a paddle apparatus in 0.1 N HCl containing 0, 20 or 40% ethanol. A basket apparatus was employed for the determination of medium uptake and, after drying in an oven, dry weight during the release testing. The swelling and visual observation of the pellets was performed with a macroscope without agitation. The ethanol content was evaluated using gas chromatography. The release profiles of matrix tablets and preliminary literature data were empirically fitted to determine the amount of release via diffusion. The preliminary literature data was evaluated using multiple imputation followed by multiple linear regression.

To summarize the finding of the published literature, a multiple linear regression with the ratio of the mean release time, the similarity value, and the ratio of the amount of release via diffusion was conducted. Accelerated release in hydroethanolic media was associated with a high partition coefficient of the drug, the use of a coating and a smaller dosage form size. The use of melting or granulation reduced the accelerated release. The amount of ethylcellulose for coated systems and of Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR for matrix systems was associated with less accelerated release, whereas formulations with calcium stearate had a higher likelihood of accelerated release. There was very

136

little correlation between the accelerated release and the ratio of the release via diffusion, therefore this method cannot be used to predict accelerated release.

The effects of hydroethanolic media were assessed on commercial products. Four enteric products of duloxetine HCl gave similar release in 0.1 N HCl and PBS 6.8, but different release profiles and release mechanisms depending on the ethanol content. Pellets coated with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L showed the fastest release in both 20% and 40% ethanol due to a rapid disintegration of the coating. The originator product Cymbalta<sup>®</sup>, using Hydroxypropyl methylcellulose-acetate-succinate (HPMCAS), showed only little size increase before the coating ruptured, whereas pellets coated with hydroxypropyl methylcellulose phthalate (HPMCP) showed a large size increase without any rupturing. Mini tablets coated with HPMCAS showed sufficient resistance in 20% ethanol, but not in 40% ethanol. Therefore, the release in hydroethanolic media may differ strongly between bioequivalent dosage forms and a change between these products for a patient with a history of alcohol abuse should not be recommended.

Furthermore, two extended-release formulations of doxazosin mesylate, an enteric coated matrix tablet and an osmotic tablet, were compared in different media. For the coated matrix tablet, the release increased, due to the disintegration of the coating with increasing ethanol content in 0.1 N HCl but was highest in pH 6.8 buffer. The osmotic tablet showed a strong increase in release with increasing ethanol content, but only after a lag time of 2 hours, which explains the absence of such findings in in-vivo studies.

Matrix tablets of hydroxypropyl methylcellulose K4M (HPMC) with metoprolol tartrate, theophylline, propranolol HCl, paracetamol or carbamazepine were prepared and tested in hydroethanolic media. Paracetamol and carbamazepine were further tableted with the hydrophilic polymers hydroxypropyl cellulose (HPC), polyethylenoxide (PEO), HPMC K100LV and K100M as well as with microcrystalline cellulose (MCC) and lactose. Later, the effect of the insoluble polymers Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR, Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS and ethylcellulose, alone and in combination with lactose for similar release in aqueous and hydroethanolic medium were investigated.

The accelerated release in 40% ethanol depended on the solubility ratio between hydroethanolic and aqueous media and not the solubility itself. The increased solubility ratio can increase the diffusional release of the drugs. For paracetamol, a higher medium uptake of polymers was

137

associated with more accelerated release, due to the increased drug dissolution and the use of HPC resulted in similar release at low and equivalent polymer amounts. However, at high polymer amounts the release in aqueous and hydroethanolic media was not similar for HPC, but for HPMC and PEO. The inclusion of both fillers, MCC and lactose, led to similar release for paracetamol, but lactose decreased the difference more strongly. Carbamazepine always released faster in 40% ethanol except for HPMC K100LV, where the erosion rate matched the diffusion rate, irrespective of drug loading. This was due to a shift in release mechanism from erosion-driven in aqueous media to a more diffusion-driven release in hydroethanolic media. The inclusion of both lactose and MCC led to similar release in 0% and 40% ethanol for carbamazepine also with HPMC K4M.

The release of paracetamol from tablets of insoluble polymers was only similar for Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR, whereas the tablet prepared with Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS completely disintegrated. The inclusion of lactose led to similar release for ethylcellulose. For carbamazepine, no combination of an insoluble polymer with any amounts of lactose provided similar release, emphasizing that these polymers are not suitable for very sparingly soluble drugs in hydroethanolic media.

For all evaluated drugs robust matrix formulations could be developed, either by choice of polymer or by the inclusion of appropriate fillers.

Enteric and extended-release coatings were applied onto pellets coated with propranolol.

The propranolol HCl release from pellets coated with Kollicoat<sup>®</sup> SR and Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS increased significantly in 20 and 40% ethanol. For ethylcellulose-coated pellets, the effect of ethanol in the medium on release depended on the aqueous solubility of the drug and the coating ethylcellulose level. Increasing ethanol content in the medium, the release of metoprolol tartrate decreased due to drug-ethylcellulose interaction and the release of other drugs, e.g., theophylline increased due to selective uptake of ethanol by the coating. For propranolol HCl, the release was almost unchanged at 30% and 40% coating but increased for lower coating levels (10-20%). The osmotic release mechanism for propranolol HCl pellets coated with ethylcellulose was confirmed by release suppression in hyperosmotic media. The release mechanism of the drug changes from an osmotically driven mechanism to a diffusion-based release in 40% ethanol. At this concentration similar release is only achievable for drugs of higher solubility.

in combination with MCC cores, can be used to achieve release unaffected by ethanol up to 20% ethanol. Thereby, the coating level must equate the aqueous drug solubility.

All evaluated enteric formulations showed an increase in lag time and a reduction in slope with increasing coating strength. Both Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L and Sureteric<sup>®</sup> with guar gum did not allow appropriate enteric-resistance at reasonable coating amounts or rapidly disintegrated in 20% ethanol. HPMCP-coated pellets showed a linear relationship between coating amount and t<sub>10</sub> in 20% ethanol. By including the surface to volume ratio of different-sized pellets an empiric equation was established to determine the timepoint at which 10% of the drug are released (t<sub>10</sub>). This equation was successfully applied to calculate the t<sub>10</sub> of smaller pellets. An appropriate t<sub>10</sub> of 125 minutes was achieved at a coating amount of 10.5  $\frac{mg}{cm^2}$  for pellets with a diameter of 1.3 mm. The difference in release between 0% and 20% ethanol could also be reduced by applying a HPMC-subcoating. Both approaches did not impair the rapid release at pH 6.8.

HPMCP pellets layered with theophylline required less coating material to achieve entericresistance and showed a reduction in accelerated release compared to propranolol. Matrix pellets of theophylline were resistant to both 0.1 N HCl and 20% ethanol at 30% coating level. These pellets still showed rapid release at pH 6.8.

For each type of formulation, different approaches may be considered to avoid accelerated release in hydroethanolic media. However, except for the cases, where the release-modifying polymer itself rapidly dissolves or disintegrates in the release medium, hydroethanolic media mostly enhance the diffusion of the drug. They hereby allow a diffusion-driven release even if the release mechanism in aqueous media is different. Appropriate measures therefore focus either on increasing the drug release in aqueous media or reducing the diffusion in hydroethanolic media.

139
## 5 Zusammenfassung

Die Sicherheit und Effektivität von Arzneiformen mit veränderter Freisetzung hängen von ihrer Eigenschaft ab, eine reproduzierbare Freisetzung zu gewährleisten, die so wenig wie möglich durch externe Faktoren beeinflusst wird. Diese Faktoren beinhalten den prandialen Status eines Patienten, die gastrointestinale Motilität sowie die gleichzeitige Einnahme von Ethanol. Ethanol hohen Abhängigkeitsrisiko und ist eine Substanz mit einem einem Risiko für pharmakodynamische und pharmakokinetische Wechselwirkungen. Es kann zusätzlich die veränderte Wirkstofffreisetzung beeinflussen, indem es die Arzneistofffreigabe beschleunigt oder sogar zu einem Dose-dumping mit potenziell toxischen Nebenwirkungen führt. Obwohl es eine Zulassungsvoraussetzung für Arzneimittelanträge ist, ist bisher nur wenig bekannt über die Mechanismen, wie Ethanol zu einer beschleunigte Arzneistofffreisetzung führt.

Das Ziel dieser Arbeit war die Identifikation von Formulierungsparametern, die die Arzneistofffreisetzung in hydroethanolischen Medien beeinflussen und mögliche Herangehensweise diese zu vermeiden.

Der Einfluss von hydroethanolischen Medien wurde in-vitro untersucht gemäß den Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-Richtlinien in einer Blattrührer-Apparatur in 0.1 N HCl mit 0, 20 oder 40% ethanol. Eine Drehkörbchen Apparatur wurde für die Bestimmung der Mediumsaufnahme sowie, nach Trocknung in einem Ofen, dem Trockengewicht während der Freisetzung verwendet. Das Quellverhalten und die visuelle Untersuchung erfolgten mittels Makroskop ohne Agitation. Der Ethanol-Gehalt wurde mittels Gas Chromatographie ermittelt. Die Freisetzungsprofile von Matrixtabletten und der vorhandenen Literatur wurden empirisch angepasst, um die Menge der Freisetzung mittels Diffusion zu bestimmen. Die vorhandenen Literaturdaten wurden ausgewertet mittels multipler Imputation gefolgt von multipler linearer Regression.

Um die Ergebnisse der bisher veröffentlichten Studien zusammenzufassen, wurde eine multiple lineare Regression mit dem Verhältnis der mittleren Auflösungszeit, dem Ähnlichkeitswert (f<sub>2</sub>) und dem Verhältnis der Menge an Freisetzung via Diffusion durchgeführt. Eine beschleunigte Freisetzung in hydroethanolischen Median war assoziiert mit einem großen Verteilungskoeffizienten des Arzneistoffes, der Verwendung eines Überzuges und eine kleinere Arzneiformgröße. Die Verwendung von Schmelz- oder Granulierverfahren reduzierte die

beschleunigte Freisetzung. Die Menge an Ethylcellulose in überzogenen Formulierungen und an Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR in Matrixformulierungen war assoziiert mit weniger beschleunigter Freisetzung, wohingegen Formulierungen mit Calcium Stearat eine höhere Wahrscheinlichkeit für beschleunigte Freisetzung hatten. Es gab wenig Korrelation zwischen der beschleunigten Freisetzung und dem Verhältnis der Freisetzung mittels Diffusion, daher eignet sich diese Methode nicht, um eine beschleunigte Freisetzung vorherzusagen.

Der Einfluss von hydroethanolischen Medien wurde an kommerziellen Produkten ermittelt. Vier enterische Produkte von Duloxetin HCl führten zu ähnlichen Freisetzungen in 0.1 N HCl und PBS 6.8, aber unterschiedlichen Freisetzungsprofilen und -mechanismen in Abhängigkeit des Ethanolgehaltes. Mit Eudragit<sup>®</sup>L überzogene Pellets zeigten die schnellste Freisetzung sowohl in 20% als auch in 40% ethanol aufgrund eines rapiden Zerfalls des Überzuges. Das Ursprungsprodukt Cymbalta<sup>®</sup>, aus Hydroxypropylmethylcellulose-Acetat-Succinat (HPMCAS), zeigte nur leichte Größenzunahme bevor der Überzug rupturierte, wohingegen mit Hydroxypropylmethylcellulose-Phthalat (HPMCP) überzogene Pellets ein starkes Größenwachstum ohne Anzeichen von Rupturierung zeigte. Mit HPMCAS überzogene Minitabletten zeigten ausreichenden Schutz in 20% ethanol, aber nicht in 40% ethanol. Daher kann sich die Freisetzung in hydroethanolischen Medien zwischen bioäguivalenten Darreichungsformen stark unterscheiden und ein Austausch dieser Produkte bei Patienten mit Alkoholmissbrauch in der Anamnese sollte nicht empfohlen werden.

Des Weiteren wurden zwei Retardformulierungen von Doxazosin Mesylate, eine enterisch überzogene Matrixtablette und eine osmotische Tablette, in verschiedenen Medien verglichen. Für die überzogene Matrixtablette beschleunigte sich die Freisetzung mit dem Zerfall des Überzuges mit steigendem Ethanolgehalt in 0.1 N HCl, aber war am höchsten im pH 6.8 Puffer. Die osmotische Tablette zeigte eine starke Zunahme der Freisetzung mit steigendem Ethanolgehalt, aber erst nach einer Verzögerungszeit von 2 Stunden, was die Abwesenheit solcher Erkenntnisse in in-vivo Studien erklärt.

Matrixtabletten von Hydroxypropylmethylcellulose K4M (HPMC) mit Metoprolol Tartrat, Theophyllin, Propranolol HCl, Paracetamol und Carbamazepin wurden hergestellt und in hydroethanolischen Medien getestet. Paracetamol und Carbamazepin wurden des Weiteren mit den hydrophilen Polymeren Hydroxypropylcellulose (HPC), Polyethylenoxid (PEO), HPMC K100LV

und K100M sowie mit mikrokristalliner Cellulose (MCC) und Lactose tablettiert. Später wurden zudem der Einfluss der unlöslichen Polymere Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR, Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS und ethylcellulose, allein und in Kombination mit Lactose auf eine ähnliche Freisetzung in wässrigen und hydroethanolischen Medien hin untersucht.

Die beschleunigte Freisetzung in 40% Ethanol hing von dem Verhältnis der Löslichkeiten und nicht der Löslichkeit selbst ab. Eine erhöhtes Löslichkeitsverhältnis kann die Freisetzung der Arzneistoffe mittels Diffusion erhöhen. Für Paracetamol war eine größere Mediumsaufnahme der Polymere assoziiert mit mehr beschleunigter Freisetzung, aufgrund einer stärkeren Arzneistoffauflösung und die Verwendung von HPC resultierte in ähnlichen Freisetzungsprofilen bei niedrigen und äquivalenten Polymermengen. Bei großen Polymermengen war die Freisetzung hingegen nicht mehr ähnlich für HPC, jedoch für HPMC und PEO. Die Inkludierung von beiden Füllstoffen, MCC wie Lactose, führte zu ähnlicher Freisetzung für Paracetamol, aber Lactose reduzierte den Unterschied stärker. Carbamazepin wurde immer schneller freigesetzt in 40% ethanol, außer bei HPMC K100LV, wo die Erosionsrate der Diffusionsrate angepasst war, unabhängig von der Arzneistoffmenge. Dies lag an einer Verschiebung von erosions-basierter Freisetzung in wässrigen Medien zu einer vermehrt Diffusion-basierten Freisetzung in hydroethanolischen Medien. Die Inkludierung sowohl von Lactose als auch von MCC führte zu ähnlicher Arzneistofffreisetzung in 0% und 40% ethanol für Carbamazepin auch mit HPMC K4M.

Die Freisetzung von Paracetamol aus Tabletten aus unlöslichen Polymeren war nur ähnlich für Kollidon<sup>®</sup> SR, wohingegen die Tabletten, die mit Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS hergestellt wurden, komplett zerfielen. Die Inkludierung von Lactose führte zu ähnlicher Freisetzung für ethylcellulose. Für Carbamazepine, keine Kombination eines unlöslichen Polymeres mit jeglicher Menge an Lactose erlaubte eine ähnliche Freisetzung, was hervorhebt, dass diese Polymere nicht für sehr schlecht lösliche Polymere in hydroethanolischen Medien geeignet sind.

Für alle evaluierten Arzneistoffe konnten robuste Matrixformulierungen entwickelt werden, entweder durch die Wahl des Polymers oder durch die Inkludierung geeigneter Füllstoffe.

Enterische- und Retardüberzüge wurden auf Pellets mit Propranolol aufgetragen.

Die Freisetzung von Propranolol HCl von Pellets mit einem Überzug aus Kollicoat<sup>®</sup> SR und Eudragit<sup>®</sup> RS war signifikant erhöht in 20 und 40% ethanol. Für Ethylcellulose-überzogene Pellets, hing der Einfluss von Ethanol im Medium auf die Arzneistofffreisetzung stark von der wässrigen Löslichkeiten des Arzneistofffes und dem Überzugslevel des ethylcellulose ab. Eine Erhöhung des Ethanolgehaltes im Medium reduzierte die Freisetzung von Metoprolol Tartrat aufgrund von Arzneistoff-Ethylcellulose-Interaktionen. Für Propranolol HCl, die Freisetzung war nahezu unverändert bei 30% und 40% Überzug, aber war erhöht für niedrigere Überzugsmengen (10-20%). Der osmotische Freisetzungsmechanismus von Ethylcellulose-überzogenen Propranolol HCl Pellets wurde bestätigt durch die Unterdrückung der Freisetzung in hyperosmotischem Medium. Der Freisetzung in 40% ethanol. Bei dieser Konzentration ist eine ähnliche Freisetzung nur möglich für Arzneistoffe mit höherer Löslichkeit. Ethylcellulose, als Überzugsmaterial in Verbindung mit MCC-Kernen, kann verwendet werden, um eine Freisetzung zu erzielen, die unabhängig ist von bis zu 20% ethanol. Hierbei muss das Überzugslevel der wässrigen Arzneistofflöslichkeit angepasst werden.

Alle evaluierten enterischen Formulierungen zeigten eine Zunahme der Verzögerungszeit und eine Reduktion der Steigung mit Zunahme der Überzugsstärke. Sowohl Eudragit<sup>®</sup> L wie auch Sureteric<sup>®</sup> mit Guarkernmehl erlaubten keine geeignete Magensaft-resistenz oder zerfielen rapide in 20% ethanol. HPMCP-überzogene Pellets zeigten ein lineares Verhältnis zwischen der Überzugsmenge und dem Zeitpunkt, an dem 10% des Arzneistoffes freigesetzt wurden (t<sub>10</sub>) in 20% ethanol. Durch die Hinzunahme des Oberflächen-Volumen-Verhältnis wurde eine empirische Gleichung zur Ermittlung der Verzögerungszeit identifiziert. Diese Gleichung wurde erfolgreich angewandt, um die t<sub>10</sub> kleinerer Pellets zu berechnen. Eine ausreichende Verzögerungszeit von 125 Minuten wurde erzielt mit einer Überzugsmenge von 10.5  $\frac{mg}{cm^2}$  für Pellets mit einem Durchmesser von 1.3 mm. Der Unterschied in der Freisetzung zwischen 0% und 20% ethanol konnte auch reduziert werden durch die Applikation einer HPMC-Zwischenschicht. Beide Ansätze behinderten nicht die schnelle Arzneistofffreisetzung bei pH 6.8.

Für jede Art der Formulierung sollten verschiedene Ansätze in Betracht gezogen werden, um eine beschleunigte Freisetzung in hydroethanolischen Medien zu vermeiden. Jedoch, außer in den Fällen, in denen das Freisetzungs-modifizierende Polymer selber im Freisetzungsmedium schnell

zerfällt oder sich auflöst, verstärken hydroethanolische Medien vorrangig die Diffusion des Arzneistoffes. Sie erlauben hiermit eine diffusions-gesteuerte Freisetzung selbst dann, wenn der Freisetzungsmechanismus in wässrigen Medien anders ist. Geeignete Maßnahmen fokussieren daher eine Erhöhung der Arzneistofffreisetzung in wässrigen Medien oder eine Reduktion der Diffusion in hydroethanolischen Medien.

# **6** References

- [1] R. Wang, D. P. Conner, and B. V. Li, "Bioavailability and Bioequivalence Aspects of Oral Modified-Release Drug Products," *The AAPS Journal*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 360-366, 2017/03/01 2017, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-016-0025-9</u>.
- P. Colombo, R. Bettini, P. Santi, and N. A. Peppas, "Swellable matrices for controlled drug delivery: gel-layer behaviour, mechanisms and optimal performance," *PHARM SCI TECHNOL TO*, vol. 3, no. 6, pp. 198-204, 2000, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1461-5347(00)00269-8</u>.
- [3] J. Grund, M. Koerber, M. Walther, and R. Bodmeier, "The effect of polymer properties on direct compression and drug release from water-insoluble controlled release matrix tablets," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 469, no. 1, pp. 94-101, 2014, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jjpharm.2014.04.033.
- [4] P. P. Timmins, Samuel R; Melia, Colin D., *Hydrophilic Matrix Tablets for Oral Controlled Release* (AAPS Advances in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Series). New York, NY; s.l.: Springer New York (in eng), 2014, p. 326.
- [5] C. Maderuelo, A. Zarzuelo, and J. M. Lanao, "Critical factors in the release of drugs from sustained release hydrophilic matrices," *J Control Release*, vol. 154, no. 1, pp. 2-19, 2011/08/25/2011, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.04.002</u>.
- J. Siepmann, A. Streubel, and N. A. Peppas, "Understanding and Predicting Drug Delivery from Hydrophilic Matrix Tablets Using the "Sequential Layer" Model," *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 306-314, 2002/03/01 2002, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1014447102710</u>.
- P. Gao and R. H. Meury, "Swelling of Hydroxypropyl Methylcellulose Matrix Tablets. 1.
   Characterization of Swelling Using a Novel Optical Imaging Method," *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, vol. 85, no. 7, pp. 725-731, 1996/07/01/1996, doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1021/js950458c">https://doi.org/10.1021/js950458c</a>.
- [8] N. A. Peppas, "Analysis of Fickian and non-Fickian drug release from polymers," *PHARM ACTA HELV*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 110-111, 1985.
- [9] R. Bettini, P. L. Catellani, P. Santi, G. Massimo, N. A. Peppas, and P. Colombo, "Translocation of drug particles in HPMC matrix gel layer: effect of drug solubility and influence on release rate," J Control Release, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 383-391, 2001, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(00)00366-7</u>.
- [10] P. Colombo, R. Bettini, and N. A. Peppas, "Observation of swelling process and diffusion front position during swelling in hydroxypropyl methyl cellulose (HPMC) matrices containing a soluble drug," *J Control Release*, vol. 61, no. 1-2, pp. 83-91, 1999, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(99)00104-2.</u>
- [11] J. Siepmann, H. Kranz, R. Bodmeier, and N. A. Peppas, "HPMC-matrices for controlled drug delivery: a new model combining diffusion, swelling, and dissolution mechanisms and predicting the release kinetics," *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 16, no. 11, pp. 1748-1756, 1999, doi: https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1018914301328.
- [12] C. L. Li, L. G. Martini, J. L. Ford, and M. Roberts, "The use of hypromellose in oral drug delivery," *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 533-546, 2005, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1211/0022357055957</u>.
- [13] H. Fujita, "Diffusion in polymer-diluent systems," in *Fortschritte Der Hochpolymeren-Forschung*, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1961// 1961: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 1-47.
- [14] S. R. Pygall, S. Kujawinski, P. Timmins, and C. D. Melia, "Mechanisms of drug release in citrate buffered HPMC matrices," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 370, no. 1-2, pp. 110-120, 2009, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.11.022</u>.
- [15] I. Colorcon, "Using METHOCEL Cellulose Ethers for Controlled Release of Drugs in Hydrophilic Matrix Systems." [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.colorcon.com/cn/products-formulation/all-products/download/677/2554/34?method=view</u>

- K. Tahara, K. Yamamoto, and T. Nishihata, "Overall mechanism behind matrix sustained release (SR) tablets prepared with hydroxypropyl methylcellulose 2910," *J Control Release*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 59-66, 1995/07/01/1995, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-3659(95)00021-Y.
- [17] N. Jedinger, S. Schrank, J. M. Fischer, K. Breinhälter, J. Khinast, and E. Roblegg, "Development of an Abuse- and Alcohol-Resistant Formulation Based on Hot-Melt Extrusion and Film Coating," *AAPS PharmSciTech*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 68-77, 2016, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-015-0373-2</u>.
- [18] T. Nabais and G. Leclair, "High-amylose sodium carboxymethyl starch matrices: development and characterization of tramadol hydrochloride sustained-release tablets for oral administration," (in eng), *ISRN pharmaceutics*, vol. 2014, p. 391523, 2014, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/391523</u>.
- [19] Y. Hong, G. Liu, and Z. Gu, "Recent advances of starch-based excipients used in extended-release tablets: a review," (in eng), *Drug Deliv*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 12-20, 2016, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/10717544.2014.913324</u>.
- [20] A. Inc., "Klucel<sup>™</sup> hydroxypropylcellulose Physical and chemical properties." [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ashland.com/file\_source/Ashland/Product/Documents/Pharmaceutical/PC\_11229</u> <u>Klucel\_HPC.pdf</u>
- [21] K. Pietrzak, A. Isreb, and M. A. Alhnan, "A flexible-dose dispenser for immediate and extended release 3D printed tablets," *EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM*, vol. 96, pp. 380-387, 2015/10/01/ 2015, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.07.027</u>.
- [22] J. J. Ong *et al.*, "3D printed opioid medicines with alcohol-resistant and abuse-deterrent properties," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 579, p. 119169, 2020, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2020.119169</u>.
- [23] A. Lazzari, P. Kleinebudde, and K. Knop, "Xanthan gum as a rate-controlling polymer for the development of alcohol resistant matrix tablets and mini-tablets," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 536, no. 1, pp. 440-449, 2018, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.12.014</u>.
- [24] A. Butreddy, S. Sarabu, N. Dumpa, S. Bandari, and M. A. Repka, "Extended release pellets prepared by hot melt extrusion technique for abuse deterrent potential: Category-1 in-vitro evaluation," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 587, p. 119624, 2020/09/25/ 2020, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2020.119624.
- [25] L. Ma, L. Deng, and J. Chen, "Applications of poly(ethylene oxide) in controlled release tablet systems: a review," *Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm,* vol. 40, no. 7, pp. 845-851, 2014/07/01 2014, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/03639045.2013.831438</u>.
- [26] J. T. T. Leskinen, M. A. Hakulinen, M. Kuosmanen, J. Ketolainen, S. Abrahmsén-Alami, and R. Lappalainen, "Monitoring of swelling of hydrophilic polymer matrix tablets by ultrasound techniques," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 404, no. 1, pp. 142-147, 2011/02/14/ 2011, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.11.026</u>.
- [27] M. O. Emeje, P. Nwabunike, C. Y. Isimi, O. O. Kunle, and S. Ofoefulel, "Hydro-Alcoholic Media: An Emerging in vitro Tool for Predicting Dose Dumping from Controlled Release Matrices," *Journal* of Pharmacology and Toxicology, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 84-92, 2008, doi: https://doi.org/10.3923/jpt.2008.84.92.
- [28] S. A. Rahim, M. Al-Ghazawi, and N. Al-Zoubi, "Influence of ethanol on swelling and release behaviors of Carbopol(<sup>®</sup>)-based tablets," *PHARM DEV TECHNOL*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 1089-1100, 2013, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/10837450.2012.700931</u>.
- [29] N. Jedinger, J. Khinast, and E. Roblegg, "The design of controlled-release formulations resistant to alcohol-induced dose dumping--a review," *EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM*, vol. 87, no. 2, pp. 217-226, 2014, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2014.02.008</u>.
- [30] J. Siepmann and F. Siepmann, "Mathematical modeling of drug delivery," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 364, no. 2, pp. 328-343, 2008, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.09.004</u>.
- [31] N. A. Peppas and J. J. Sahlin, "A simple equation for the description of solute release. III. Coupling of diffusion and relaxation," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 169-172, 1989, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5173(89)90306-2</u>.

- [32] T. Alfrey Jr, E. F. Gurnee, and W. G. Lloyd, "Diffusion in glassy polymers," *Journal of Polymer Science Part C: Polymer Symposia*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/polc.5070120119</u> vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 249-261, 1966/01/01 1966, doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/polc.5070120119.
- [33] P. Costa and J. M. Sousa Lobo, "Modeling and comparison of dissolution profiles," *EUR J PHARM SCI*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 123-133, 2001, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0928-0987(01)00095-1</u>.
- [34] W. D. Lindner and B. C. Lippold, "Drug Release From Hydrocolloid Embeddings with High or Low Susceptibility to Hydrodynamic Stress," *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 12, no. 11, pp. 1781-1785, 1995/11/01 1995, doi: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016238427313.
- [35] H. Kim and R. Fassihi, "Application of Binary Polymer System in Drug Release Rate Modulation.
   2. Influence of Formulation Variables and Hydrodynamic Conditions on Release Kinetics," Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, vol. 86, no. 3, pp. 323-328, 1997, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/js960307p</u>.
- [36] E. Kaunisto, F. Tajarobi, S. Abrahmsen-Alami, A. Larsson, B. Nilsson, and A. Axelsson,
   "Mechanistic modelling of drug release from a polymer matrix using magnetic resonance microimaging," *EUR J PHARM SCI*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 698-708, 2013/03/12/ 2013, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2012.12.030.
- [37] F. Siepmann, K. Eckart, A. Maschke, K. Kolter, and J. Siepmann, "Modeling drug release from PVAc/PVP matrix tablets," *J Control Release*, vol. 141, no. 2, pp. 216-222, 2010, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2009.08.027</u>.
- J. D. Bonny and H. Leuenberger, "Matrix type controlled release systems: I. Effect of percolation on drug dissolution kinetics," (in eng), *PHARM ACTA HELV*, vol. 66, no. 5-6, pp. 160-164, 1991 1991. [Online]. Available: <u>http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/1784581</u>.
- [39] R. Leu and H. Leuenberger, "The application of percolation theory to the compaction of pharmaceutical powders," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 90, no. 3, pp. 213-219, 1993/03/31/ 1993, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5173(93)90193-J</u>.
- [40] Y. Rosiaux, V. Jannin, S. Hughes, and D. Marchaud, "Solid lipid excipients matrix agents for sustained drug delivery," (in eng), *J Control Release*, vol. 188, pp. 18-30, 2014, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.06.004</u>.
- [41] N. Jedinger, S. Schrank, S. Mohr, A. Feichtinger, J. Khinast, and E. Roblegg, "Alcohol dose dumping: The influence of ethanol on hot-melt extruded pellets comprising solid lipids," (in eng), EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM, vol. 92, pp. 83-95, 2015, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.02.022.
- [42] S. Schrank, N. Jedinger, S. Wu, M. Piller, and E. Roblegg, "Pore blocking: An innovative formulation strategy for the design of alcohol resistant multi-particulate dosage forms," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 509, no. 1-2, pp. 219-228, 2016, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.05.049</u>.
- [43] J. Siepmann, R. Bodmeier, and J. W. McGinity, "Progress in film coating," (in eng), INT J PHARM, vol. 457, no. 2, p. 361, 2013, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.10.009</u>.
- [44] A. Maroni, L. Zema, G. Loreti, L. Palugan, and A. Gazzaniga, "Film coatings for oral pulsatile release," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 457, no. 2, pp. 362-371, 2013, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.03.010</u>.
- [45] A. Maroni, M. D. Del Curto, L. Zema, A. Foppoli, and A. Gazzaniga, "Film coatings for oral colon delivery," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 457, no. 2, pp. 372-394, 2013, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.05.043</u>.
- [46] C. Maderuelo, J. M. Lanao, and A. Zarzuelo, "Enteric coating of oral solid dosage forms as a tool to improve drug bioavailability," (in eng), EUR J PHARM SCI, vol. 138, p. 105019, 2019, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2019.105019</u>.
- [47] F. A. A. Mohamed, M. Roberts, L. Seton, J. L. Ford, M. Levina, and A. R. Rajabi-Siahboomi, "Film-coated matrix mini-tablets for the extended release of a water-soluble drug," (in eng), *Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 623-630, 2015, doi: https://doi.org/10.3109/03639045.2014.891128.

- [48] G. A. Digenis *et al.*, "Gastrointestinal behavior of orally administered radiolabeled erythromycin pellets in man as determined by gamma scintigraphy," (in eng), *Journal of clinical pharmacology*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 621-631, 1990, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1552-4604.1990.tb01865.x</u>.
- [49] H. Bechgaard and G. H. Nielsen, "Controlled-Release Multiple-Units and Single-Unit Doses a Literature Review," Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 53-67, 1978/01/01 1978, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/03639047809055639</u>.
- [50] R. Bodmeier, "Tableting of coated pellets," *EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 1-8, 1997, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0939-6411(96)00028-8</u>.
- [51] E. Kaunisto, M. Marucci, P. Borgquist, and A. Axelsson, "Mechanistic modelling of drug release from polymer-coated and swelling and dissolving polymer matrix systems," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 418, no. 1, pp. 54-77, 2011/10/10/ 2011, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.01.021</u>.
- [52] A. G. Ozturk, S. S. Ozturk, B. O. Palsson, T. A. Wheatley, and J. B. Dressman, "Mechanism of release from pellets coated with an ethylcellulose-based film," *J Control Release*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 203-213, 1990, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-3659(90)90160-U</u>.
- [53] M. Marucci, "Characterization of the Mechanisms of Drug Release from Polymer-Coated Formulations using Experiments and Modelling," Ph.D. Ph.D. Thesis, Lund University, 2009.
- [54] G. L. Amidon and G. D. Leesman, "Pulsatile Drug Delivery System," Patent Appl. 771,895, 1993.
- [55] R. Bodmeier and O. Paeratakul, "Mechanical properties of dry and wet cellulosic and acrylic films prepared from aqueous colloidal polymer dispersions used in the coating of solid dosage forms," *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 882-888, 1994, doi: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018942127524.
- [56] M. Marucci, G. Ragnarsson, B. Nilsson, and A. Axelsson, "Osmotic pumping release from ethylhydroxypropyl-cellulose-coated pellets: A new mechanistic model," *J Control Release*, vol. 142, no. 1, pp. 53-60, 2010/02/25/ 2010, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2009.10.009</u>.
- [57] E. M. Kramer and D. R. Myers, "Five popular misconceptions about osmosis," American Journal of Physics, vol. 80, no. 8, pp. 694-699, 2012/08/01 2012, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1119/1.4722325</u>.
- [58] F. Lecomte, J. Siepmann, M. Walther, R. J. Macrae, and R. Bodmeier, "Polymer blends used for the coating of multiparticulates: comparison of aqueous and organic coating techniques," (in eng), PHARMACEUT RES, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 882-890, 2004, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/b:pham.0000026443.71935.cb</u>.
- [59] S. Narisawa, H. Yoshino, Y. Hirakawa, and K. Noda, "Porosity-Controlled Ethylcellulose Film Coating. III. Application of Porous Ethylcellulose Film Coating to Capsule-Type Controlled Release Preparation of Theophylline," *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, vol. 42, no. 7, pp. 1485-1490, 1994, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1248/cpb.42.1485</u>.
- [60] G. Zhang, J. B. Schwartz, and R. L. Schnaare, "Bead Coating. I. Change in Release Kinetics (and Mechanism) Due to Coating Levels," *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 331-335, 1991/03/01 1991, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015837330463</u>.
- [61] F. Lecomte, J. Siepmann, M. Walther, R. J. Macrae, and R. Bodmeier, "pH-sensitive polymer blends used as coating materials to control drug release from spherical beads: importance of the type of core," (in eng), *Biomacromolecules*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 2074-2083, 2005, doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/bm0500704.
- [62] S. Muschert, F. Siepmann, B. Leclercq, B. Carlin, and J. Siepmann, "Prediction of drug release from ethylcellulose coated pellets," *J Control Release*, vol. 135, no. 1, pp. 71-79, 2009/04/02/ 2009, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2008.12.003</u>.
- [63] N. Kállai, O. Luhn, J. Dredán, K. Kovács, M. Lengyel, and I. Antal, "Evaluation of Drug Release From Coated Pellets Based on Isomalt, Sugar, and Microcrystalline Cellulose Inert Cores," AAPS PharmSciTech, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 383-391, 2010, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-010-9396-</u>X.
- [64] F. Lecomte, J. Siepmann, M. Walther, R. J. MacRae, and R. Bodmeier, "Polymer blends used for the aqueous coating of solid dosage forms: importance of the type of plasticizer," (in eng), *J*

*Control Release,* vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 1-13, 2004, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2004.05.011.

- [65] B. P. Shtarkman and I. N. Razinskaya, "Plasticization mechanism and structure of polymers," Acta Polymerica, vol. 34, no. 8, pp. 514-520, 1983/08/01 1983, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/actp.1983.010340812</u>.
- [66] R. O. Williams and J. Liu, "The influence of plasticizer on heat-humidity curing of cellulose acetate phthalate coated beads," (in eng), *PHARM DEV TECHNOL*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 607-619, 2001, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1081/pdt-120000298</u>.
- [67] C. Caicedo, C. A. Díaz-Cruz, E. J. Jiménez-Regalado, and R. Y. Aguirre-Loredo, "Effect of Plasticizer Content on Mechanical and Water Vapor Permeability of Maize Starch/PVOH/Chitosan Composite Films," (in eng), *Materials (Basel)*, vol. 15, no. 4, p. 1274, Feb 9 2022, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ma15041274</u>.
- [68] K. Kawai and Y. Hagura, "Discontinuous and heterogeneous glass transition behavior of carbohydrate polymer–plasticizer systems," *Carbohydrate Polymers*, vol. 89, no. 3, pp. 836-841, 2012/07/01/ 2012, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2012.04.018</u>.
- [69] Y. Rosiaux *et al.*, "Mechanisms controlling theophylline release from ethanol-resistant coated pellets," *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 731-741, 2014, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-013-1194-1</u>.
- [70] R. Bodmeier and O. Paeratakul, "Propranolol HCl release from acrylic films prepared from aqueous latexes," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 197-204, 1990/03/30/ 1990, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5173(90)90109-H</u>.
- [71] S. Narisawa *et al.*, "An Organic Acid-Induced Sigmoidal Release System for Oral Controlled-Release Preparations," *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 111-116, 1994/01/01 1994, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018910114436</u>.
- [72] Y. Cuppok *et al.*, "Drug release mechanisms from Kollicoat SR:Eudragit NE coated pellets," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 409, no. 1, pp. 30-37, 2011/05/16/ 2011, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.02.026.
- [73] A. Akhgari, F. Sadeghi, and H. A. Garekani, "Combination of time-dependent and pH-dependent polymethacrylates as a single coating formulation for colonic delivery of indomethacin pellets," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 320, no. 1, pp. 137-142, 2006/08/31/ 2006, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2006.05.011.
- [74] G. Frenning, Å. Tunón, and G. Alderborn, "Modelling of drug release from coated granular pellets," *J Control Release*, vol. 92, no. 1-2, pp. 113-123, 2003, doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(03)00300-6">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(03)00300-6</a>.
- [75] F. Theeuwes, "Elementary Osmotic Pump," *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences,* vol. 64, no. 12, pp. 1987-1991, 1975/12/01/ 1975, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.2600641218</u>.
- [76] R. T. Cortese, Felix, "Osmotic device with hydrogel driving member " US Patent Appl. 6/210,176, 1982.
- [77] F. Theeuwes *et al.*, "Elementary Osmotic Pump for Indomethacin," *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, vol. 72, no. 3, pp. 253-258, 1983/03/01/1983, doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.2600720313">https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.2600720313</a>.
- J. Chen *et al.*, "Recent Aspects of Osmotic Pump Systems: Functionalization, Clinical use and Advanced Imaging Technology," (in eng), *Current drug metabolism*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 279-291, 2016, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1389200216666151015115706</u>.
- [79] S. C. Porter and K. Ridgway, "The permeability of enteric coatings and the dissolution rates of coated tablets," *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-7158.1982.tb04667.x</u> vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 5-8, 1982/01/01 1982, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-7158.1982.tb04667.x</u>.
- [80] K. Thoma and K. Bechtold, "Influence of aqueous coatings on the stability of enteric coated pellets and tablets," *EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 39-50, 1999, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0939-6411(98)00086-1</u>.

- [81] S. Thakral, N. K. Thakral, and D. K. Majumdar, "Eudragit: a technology evaluation," (in eng), Expert opinion on drug delivery, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 131-149, 2013, doi: https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.2013.736962.
- [82] R. R. Crawford and O. K. Esmerian, "Effect of plasticizers on some physical properties of cellulose acetate phthalate films," (in eng), *Journal of pharmaceutical sciences*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 312-314, 1971, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.2600600238</u>.
- [83] F. Liu, R. Lizio, C. Meier, H.-U. Petereit, P. Blakey, and A. W. Basit, "A novel concept in enteric coating: a double-coating system providing rapid drug release in the proximal small intestine," (in eng), *J Control Release*, vol. 133, no. 2, pp. 119-124, 2009, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2008.09.083</u>.
- [84] F. Liu, H. A. Merchant, R. P. Kulkarni, M. Alkademi, and A. W. Basit, "Evolution of a physiological pH 6.8 bicarbonate buffer system: application to the dissolution testing of enteric coated products," (in eng), EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM, vol. 78, no. 1, pp. 151-157, 2011, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2011.01.001</u>.
- [85] J. K. Czarnocka and M. A. Alhnan, "Gastro-resistant characteristics of GRAS-grade enteric coatings for pharmaceutical and nutraceutical products," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 486, no. 1-2, pp. 167-174, 2015, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.03.039</u>.
- [86] S. S. Ozturk, B. O. Palsson, B. Donohoe, and J. B. Dressman, "Kinetics of release from entericcoated tablets," (in eng), *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 5, no. 9, pp. 550-565, 1988, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015937912504</u>.
- [87] F. J. O. Varum, G. B. Hatton, and A. W. Basit, "Food, physiology and drug delivery," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 457, no. 2, pp. 446-460, 2013, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.04.034</u>.
- [88] C. Markopoulos, C. J. Andreas, M. Vertzoni, J. Dressman, and C. Reppas, "In-vitro simulation of luminal conditions for evaluation of performance of oral drug products: Choosing the appropriate test media," (in eng), EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM, vol. 93, pp. 173-182, 2015, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.03.009.
- [89] G. Garbacz and S. Klein, "Dissolution testing of oral modified-release dosage forms," (in eng), *The Journal of pharmacy and pharmacology*, vol. 64, no. 7, pp. 944-968, 2012, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-7158.2012.01477.x</u>.
- [90] C. J. Porter, N. L. Trevaskis, and W. N. Charman, "Lipids and lipid-based formulations: optimizing the oral delivery of lipophilic drugs," (in eng), *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 231-48, Mar 2007, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2197</u>.
- [91] E. Jantratid, N. Janssen, C. Reppas, and J. B. Dressman, "Dissolution media simulating conditions in the proximal human gastrointestinal tract: an update," (in eng), *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 1663-1676, 2008, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9569-4</u>.
- [92] F. Baxevanis, J. Kuiper, and N. Fotaki, "Fed-state gastric media and drug analysis techniques: Current status and points to consider," (in eng), *EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM*, vol. 107, pp. 234-248, 2016, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.07.013</u>.
- [93] H. D. Williams, K. P. Nott, D. A. Barrett, R. Ward, I. J. Hardy, and C. D. Melia, "Drug release from HPMC matrices in milk and fat-rich emulsions," (in eng), *Journal of pharmaceutical sciences*, vol. 100, no. 11, pp. 4823-4835, 2011, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.22689</u>.
- [94] F. Franek, P. Holm, F. Larsen, and B. Steffansen, "Interaction between fed gastric media (Ensure Plus<sup>®</sup>) and different hypromellose based caffeine controlled release tablets: comparison and mechanistic study of caffeine release in fed and fasted media versus water using the USP dissolution apparatus 3," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 461, no. 1-2, pp. 419-426, 2014, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.12.003</u>.
- [95] B. Abrahamsson, T. Albery, A. Eriksson, I. Gustafsson, and M. Sjöberg, "Food effects on tablet disintegration," (in eng), EUR J PHARM SCI, vol. 22, no. 2-3, pp. 165-172, 2004, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2004.03.004</u>.
- [96] S. Anwar, J. T. Fell, and P. A. Dickinson, "An investigation of the disintegration of tablets in biorelevant media," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 290, no. 1-2, pp. 121-127, 2005, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2004.11.023</u>.

- [97] C. J. Andreas, X. Pepin, C. Markopoulos, M. Vertzoni, C. Reppas, and J. B. Dressman,
   "Mechanistic investigation of the negative food effect of modified release zolpidem," (in eng),
   *EUR J PHARM SCI*, vol. 102, pp. 284-298, 2017, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2017.03.011</u>.
- [98] S. Aoki, H. Ando, K. Tatsuishi, K. Uesugi, and H. Ozawa, "Determination of the mechanical impact force in the in vitro dissolution test and evaluation of the correlation between in vivo and in vitro release," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 95, no. 1-3, pp. 67-75, 1993, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5173(93)90391-R</u>.
- [99] M. Bogataj, G. Cof, and A. Mrhar, "Development of a Glass-Bead Device for Dissolution Testing," DISSOLUT TECHNOL, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 18-24, 2015, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.14227/DT220315P18</u>.
- [100] B. Abrahamsson, A. Pal, M. Sjöberg, M. Carlsson, E. Laurell, and J. G. Brasseur, "A novel in vitro and numerical analysis of shear-induced drug release from extended-release tablets in the fed stomach," (in eng), *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 22, no. 8, pp. 1215-1226, 2005, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-005-5272-x</u>.
- [101] G. Garbacz *et al.*, "Irregular absorption profiles observed from diclofenac extended release tablets can be predicted using a dissolution test apparatus that mimics in vivo physical stresses," (in eng), *EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM*, vol. 70, no. 2, pp. 421-428, 2008, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2008.05.029.
- [102] G. Garbacz *et al.*, "Comparison of dissolution profiles obtained from nifedipine extended release once a day products using different dissolution test apparatuses," (in eng), vol. 38, pp. 147-155, 2009, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2009.06.010</u>.
- [103] G. Garbacz, A. Kandzi, M. Koziolek, J. Mazgalski, and W. Weitschies, "Release characteristics of quetiapine fumarate extended release tablets under biorelevant stress test conditions," (in eng), *AAPS PharmSciTech*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 230-236, 2014, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-013-0050-2</u>.
- [104] S. Goldoozian, V. Mohylyuk, A. Dashevskiy, and R. Bodmeier, "Gel Strength of Hydrophilic Matrix Tablets in Terms of In Vitro Robustness," (in eng), *PHARMACEUT RES*, 2021, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-021-03068-y</u>.
- [105] A. K. Jain *et al.*, "The influence of hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC) molecular weight, concentration and effect of food on in vivo erosion behavior of HPMC matrix tablets," (in eng), J *Control Release*, vol. 187, pp. 50-58, 2014, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.04.058</u>.
- [106] S. Blanquet *et al.*, "A dynamic artificial gastrointestinal system for studying the behavior of orally administered drug dosage forms under various physiological conditions," (in eng), *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 585-591, 2004, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/B:PHAM.0000022404.70478.4b</u>.
- [107] K. Kelly *et al.*, "Comparison of the Rates of Disintegration, Gastric Emptying, and Drug Absorption Following Administration of a New and a Conventional Paracetamol Formulation, Using γ Scintigraphy," *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 20, no. 10, pp. 1668-1673, 2003/10/01 2003, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026155822121</u>.
- [108] D. Cassilly et al., "Gastric emptying of a non-digestible solid: assessment with simultaneous SmartPill pH and pressure capsule, antroduodenal manometry, gastric emptying scintigraphy," (in eng), Neurogastroenterology and motility : the official journal of the European Gastrointestinal Motility Society, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 311-319, 2008, doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2982.2007.01061.x.
- [109] I. Locatelli, N. Nagelj Kovačič, A. Mrhar, and M. Bogataj, "Gastric emptying of non-disintegrating solid drug delivery systems in fasted state: relevance to drug dissolution," *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, vol. 7, no. 8, pp. 967-976, 2010/08/01 2010, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.2010.495982</u>.
- [110] B. Damle, I. Ullah, W. Doll, G. Wiley, and C. Knupp, "Pharmacokinetics and gamma scintigraphy evaluation of two enteric coated formulations of didanosine in healthy volunteers," *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0306-5251.2002.01648.x</u> vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 255-261, 2002/09/01 2002, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0306-5251.2002.01648.x</u>.

- [111] J. M. Newton, "Gastric emptying of multi-particulate dosage forms," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 395, no. 1, pp. 2-8, 2010/08/16/ 2010, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.04.047</u>.
- [112] B. Bürmen, I. Locatelli, A. Mrhar, and M. Bogataj, "Analysis of factors influencing gastric emptying of pellets in a fed state," *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, vol. 12, no. 8, pp. 1225-1238, 2015/08/03 2015, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.2015.1035707</u>.
- [113] C. J. Kenyon, E. T. Cole, and I. R. Wilding, "The effect of food on the in vivo behaviour of enteric coated starch capsules," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 112, no. 3, pp. 207-213, 1994, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5173(94)90356-5</u>.
- [114] *Global status report on alcohol and health* (Alcohol). Geneva: World Health Organization (in eng), 2011, p. 286.
- [115] O. World Health, *Global status report on alcohol and health 2018*. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2018, p. 450.
- B. F. Grant *et al.*, "Prevalence of 12-Month Alcohol Use, High-Risk Drinking, and DSM-IV Alcohol Use Disorder in the United States, 2001-2002 to 2012-2013: Results From the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions," (in eng), *JAMA psychiatry*, vol. 74, no. 9, pp. 911-923, 2017, doi: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.2161.
- [117] S. Patel, R. Behara, G. R. Swanson, C. B. Forsyth, R. M. Voigt, and A. Keshavarzian, "Alcohol and the Intestine," (in eng), *Biomolecules*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 2573-2588, 2015, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom5042573</u>.
- [118] B. Lavö, J. F. Colombel, L. Knutsson, and R. Hällgren, "Acute exposure of small intestine to ethanol induces mucosal leakage and prostaglandin E2 synthesis," *Gastroenterology*, vol. 102, no. 2, pp. 468-473, 1992, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-5085(92)90092-D</u>.
- [119] I. Bjarnason, K. Ward, and T. Peters, "THE LEAKY GUT OF ALCOHOLISM: POSSIBLE ROUTE OF ENTRY FOR TOXIC COMPOUNDS," *The Lancet*, vol. 323, no. 8370, pp. 179-182, 1984, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(84)92109-3</u>.
- [120] A. Keshavarzian *et al.*, "Evidence that chronic alcohol exposure promotes intestinal oxidative stress, intestinal hyperpermeability and endotoxemia prior to development of alcoholic steatohepatitis in rats," (in eng), *Journal of hepatology*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 538-547, 2009, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2008.10.028</u>.
- [121] P. A. Engen, S. J. Green, R. M. Voigt, C. B. Forsyth, and A. Keshavarzian, "The Gastrointestinal Microbiome: Alcohol Effects on the Composition of Intestinal Microbiota," (in eng), *Alcohol research : current reviews*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 223-236, 2015. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4590619</u>.
- [122] M. I. Queipo-Ortuño *et al.*, "Influence of red wine polyphenols and ethanol on the gut microbiota ecology and biochemical biomarkers," (in eng), *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, vol. 95, no. 6, pp. 1323-1334, 2012, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.111.027847</u>.
- [123] A. W. Yan *et al.*, "Enteric dysbiosis associated with a mouse model of alcoholic liver disease," (in eng), *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 96-105, 2011, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.24018</u>.
- [124] J. C. Bode, C. Bode, R. Heidelbach, H. K. Dürr, and G. A. Martini, "Jejunal microflora in patients with chronic alcohol abuse," (in eng), *Hepato-gastroenterology*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 30-34, 1984.
- [125] R. Medzhitov and T. Horng, "Transcriptional control of the inflammatory response," (in eng), *Nature reviews. Immunology*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 692-703, 2009, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2634</u>.
- [126] C. B. Forsyth, A. Farhadi, S. M. Jakate, Y. Tang, M. Shaikh, and A. Keshavarzian, "Lactobacillus GG treatment ameliorates alcohol-induced intestinal oxidative stress, gut leakiness, and liver injury in a rat model of alcoholic steatohepatitis," (in eng), *Alcohol (Fayetteville, N.Y.)*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 163-172, 2009, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2008.12.009</u>.
- [127] S. Teyssen and M. V. Singer, "Alcohol-related diseases of the oesophagus and stomach," Best Practice & Research Clinical Gastroenterology, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 557-573, 2003, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1521-6918(03)00049-0</u>.

- [128] A. Franke, I. A. Nakchbandi, A. Schneider, H. Harder, and M. V. Singer, "The effect of ethanol and alcoholic beverages on gastric emptying of solid meals in humans," (in eng), *Alcohol and alcoholism (Oxford, Oxfordshire)*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 187-193, 2005, doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agh138.
- [129] H. Lennernäs, "Ethanol-drug absorption interaction: potential for a significant effect on the plasma pharmacokinetics of ethanol vulnerable formulations," (in eng), *Molecular pharmaceutics*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 1429-1440, 2009, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/mp9000876</u>.
- [130] J. D. Gardner and A. J. Mouton, "Alcohol effects on cardiac function," (in eng), *Comprehensive Physiology*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 791-802, 2015, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c140046</u>.
- [131] I. Y. Millwood *et al.*, "Conventional and genetic evidence on alcohol and vascular disease aetiology: a prospective study of 500 000 men and women in China," *The Lancet*, vol. 393, no. 10183, pp. 1831-1842, 2019/05/04/ 2019, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31772-0</u>.
- [132] G. F. Koob, "Alcoholism: allostasis and beyond," (in eng), *Alcohol Clin Exp Res,* vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 232-43, Feb 2003, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.Alc.0000057122.36127.C2</u>.
- [133] J. Kramer *et al.*, "Mechanisms of Alcohol Addiction: Bridging Human and Animal Studies," (in eng), *Alcohol Alcohol*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 603-607, Oct 20 2020, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agaa068</u>.
- [134] W. K. Bickel, J. C. Crabbe, and K. J. Sher, "What Is Addiction? How Can Animal and Human Research Be Used to Advance Research, Diagnosis, and Treatment of Alcohol and Other Substance Use Disorders?," (in eng), Alcohol Clin Exp Res, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 6-21, Jan 2019, doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.13912.
- [135] A. R. Cooke, "The stimultaneous emptying and absorption of ethanol from the human stomach," (in eng), *The American journal of digestive diseases*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 449-454, 1970, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02283874</u>.
- [136] A. R. Cooke and A. Birchall, "Absorption of Ethanol from the Stomach," *Gastroenterology*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 269-272, 1969/09/01/ 1969, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-5085(19)33899-5</u>.
- [137] L. Goldberg, "Quantitative Studies on Alcohol Tolerance in Man. The Influence of Ethyl Alcohol on Sensory, Motor and Psychological Functions Referred to Blood Alcohol in Normal and Habituated Individuals," (in not specified), *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, vol. 5, no. Supplement XVI, p. 128 pp., 1943. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/19432702334</u>.
- [138] A. Cortot, G. Jobin, F. Ducrot, C. Aymes, V. Giraudeaux, and R. Modigliani, "Gastric emptying and gastrointestinal absorption of alcohol ingested with a meal," *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 343-348, 1986/04/01 1986, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01311667</u>.
- [139] S. E. Kaufman and M. D. Kaye, "Effect of ethanol upon gastric emptying," (in eng), *Gut*, vol. 20, no. 8, pp. 688-692, 1979, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.20.8.688</u>.
- [140] D. J. Pounder and D. R. W. Smith, "Postmortem Diffusion of Alcohol from the Stomach," *The American Journal of Forensic Medicine and Pathology*, vol. 16, no. 2, 1995. [Online]. Available: <u>https://journals.lww.com/amjforensicmedicine/Fulltext/1995/06000/Postmortem\_Diffusion\_of\_Alcohol\_from\_the\_Stomach.1.aspx</u>.
- [141] H. Matsumoto and Y. Fukui, "Pharmacokinetics of ethanol: a review of the methodology," Addiction Biology, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 5-14, 2002, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/135562101200100553</u>.
- [142] Å. Norberg, J. Gabrielsson, A. W. Jones, and R. G. Hahn, "Within- and between-subject variations in pharmacokinetic parameters of ethanol by analysis of breath, venous blood and urine," *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2125.2000.00194.x</u> vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 399-408, 2000/05/01 2000, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2125.2000.00194.x</u>.
- [143] H. G. E. Endres and O. Grüner, "Comparison of D2O and ethanol dilutions in total body water measurements in humans," *The clinical investigator*, vol. 72, no. 11, pp. 830-837, 1994/11/01 1994, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00190736</u>.

- [144] J. Hyun, J. Han, C. Lee, M. Yoon, and Y. Jung, "Pathophysiological Aspects of Alcohol Metabolism in the Liver," (in eng), *Int J Mol Sci*, vol. 22, no. 11, May 27 2021, doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22115717.
- [145] F. T. Hunter and S. G. Mudd, "Carbon Dioxide Treatment in Acute Alcoholic Intoxication," *The Boston Medical and Surgical Journal*, vol. 190, no. 23, pp. 971-974, 1924/06/05 1924, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM192406051902303</u>.
- [146] Y. Lu and A. I. Cederbaum, "CYP2E1 and oxidative liver injury by alcohol," (in eng), Free Radic Biol Med, vol. 44, no. 5, pp. 723-38, Mar 1 2008, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2007.11.004.
- [147] W. F. Bosron, D. W. Crabb, T. A. Housinger, and T.-K. Li, "Effect of Fasting on the Activity and Turnover of Rat Liver Alcohol Dehydrogenase," *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.1984.tb05837.x</u> vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 196-200, 1984/03/01 1984, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.1984.tb05837.x</u>.
- [148] R. E. Vestal, E. A. McGuire, J. D. Tobin, R. Andres, A. H. Norris, and E. Mezey, "Aging and ethanol metabolism," *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt1977213343</u> vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 343-354, 1977/03/01 1977, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt1977213343</u>.
- [149] V. C. Cuzon Carlson, "GABA and Glutamate Synaptic Coadaptations to Chronic Ethanol in the Striatum," (in eng), *Handbook of experimental pharmacology*, vol. 248, pp. 79-112, 2018, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/164\_2018\_98</u>.
- [150] E. Mutschler, *Mutschler Arzneimittelwirkungen*, 10., völlig neu bearb. und erw. Aufl. ed. Stuttgart: Wissenschaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft, 2013, p. 1197.
- [151] P. Cushman, "Alcohol and opioids: possible interactions of clinical importance," (in eng), Advances in alcohol & substance abuse, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 33-46, 1987, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/j251v06n03\_04</u>.
- [152] S. A. Borowsky and C. S. Lieber, "Interaction of methadone and ethanol metabolism," (in eng), *The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics,* vol. 207, no. 1, pp. 123-129, 1978.
- [153] U. Klotz and E. Ammon, "Clinical and toxicological consequences of the inductive potential of ethanol," (in eng), *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 7-12, Mar 1998, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s002280050412</u>.
- [154] K. E. Pringle, F. M. Ahern, D. A. Heller, C. H. Gold, and T. V. Brown, "Potential for alcohol and prescription drug interactions in older people," (in eng), *J Am Geriatr Soc*, vol. 53, no. 11, pp. 1930-6, Nov 2005, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.00474.x</u>.
- [155] K. H. Frömming and Y. Topaloglu, "Beeinflussung der In-vitro- und In-vivo-Pharmakonfreisetzung aus einigen peroralen Depotformen unter Athanolbelastung," (in ger), Arzneimittel-Forschung, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 1958-1964, 1975.
- [156] FDA. "Information for Healthcare Professionals: Hydromorphone Hydrochloride Extended-Release Capsules (marketed as Palladone)." <u>https://wayback.archive-</u> <u>it.org/7993/20170111080150/http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInf</u> <u>ormationforPatientsandProviders/ucm129288.htm</u> (accessed 04.05.2022.
- [157] M. Walden, F. A. Nicholls, K. J. Smith, and G. T. Tucker, "The effect of ethanol on the release of opioids from oral prolonged-release preparations," (in eng), *Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm*, vol. 33, no. 10, pp. 1101-1111, 2007, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03639040701377292</u>.
- [158] (2014). Guideline on the pharmacokinetic and clinical evaluation of modified release dosage forms(EMA/CPMP/EWP/280/96 Corr1).
- [159] G. Sathyan, K. Sivakumar, and J. Thipphawong, "Pharmacokinetic profile of a 24-hour controlledrelease OROS formulation of hydromorphone in the presence of alcohol," (in eng), *Current medical research and opinion*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 297-305, 2008, doi: https://doi.org/10.1185/030079908x253861.
- [160] S. J. Farr, C. Y. Robinson, and C. M. Rubino, "Effects of food and alcohol on the pharmacokinetics of an oral, extended-release formulation of hydrocodone in healthy volunteers," (in eng), *Clinical pharmacology : advances and applications,* vol. 7, pp. 1-9, 2015, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/CPAA.S70831</u>.

- [161] R. J. Wills, W. G. Crouthamel, F. L. Iber, and M. B. Perkal, "Influence of alcohol on the pharmacokinetics of diazepam controlled-release formulation in healthy volunteers," (in eng), *Journal of clinical pharmacology*, vol. 22, no. 11-12, pp. 557-561, 1982, doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1552-4604.1982.tb02649.x.
- [162] A. G. Kevin Hughes, Firouz Asgarzadeh, Yvonne Rosiaux, Johann-Philipp Hebestreit, Thomas P. Friebe, Amina Faham, Mahmud Yunis, "Regulatory Considerations for Alcohol-Induced Dose Dumping of Oral Modified-Release Formulations," *PHARM TECH*, vol. 38, no. 10, pp. 40-46, 2015. [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.pharmtech.com/regulatory-considerations-alcoholinduced-dose-dumping-oral-modified-release-formulations</u>.
- [163] M. Koziolek *et al.*, "The mechanisms of pharmacokinetic food-drug interactions A perspective from the UNGAP group," (in eng), *EUR J PHARM SCI*, vol. 134, pp. 31-59, 2019, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2019.04.003</u>.
- [164] F. Johnson, G. Wagner, S. Sun, and J. Stauffer, "Effect of concomitant ingestion of alcohol on the in vivo pharmacokinetics of KADIAN (morphine sulfate extended-release) capsules," (in eng), *The journal of pain : official journal of the American Pain Society,* vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 330-336, 2008, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2007.11.009.
- [165] J. W. Moore and H. H. Flanner, "Mathematical comparison of dissolution profiles," *PHARM TECH*, vol. 20, no. 20, pp. 64-74, 1996.
- [166] FDA, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER). 15.04.2022 Session. (2022). Bioavailability Studies Submitted in NDAs or INDs — General Considerations Guidance for Industry. [Online] Available: <u>https://www.fda.gov/drugs/guidance-compliance-regulatory-information/guidancesdrugs</u>
- [167] "Quality of medicines questions and answers: Part 2 | European Medicines Agency." EMA. <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/human-regulatory/research-development/scientific-guidelines/qa-quality/quality-medicines-questions-answers-part-2#specific-types-of-product-----need-for-in-vitro-dissolution-studies-with-alcohol-for-modified-release-oral-products-including-opioid-drug-products-section (accessed 26.07.2022.</u>
- [168] M. Roberts et al., "Influence of ethanol on aspirin release from hypromellose matrices," INT J PHARM, vol. 332, no. 1-2, pp. 31-37, 2007, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2006.09.055</u>.
- [169] M. Levina, H. Vuong, and A. R. Rajabi-Siahboomi, "The influence of hydro-alcoholic media on hypromellose matrix systems," *Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm*, vol. 33, no. 10, pp. 1125-1134, 2007, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03639040701377862</u>.
- [170] Y. Rosiaux, S. Muschert, R. Chokshi, B. Leclercq, F. Siepmann, and J. Siepmann, "Ethanolresistant polymeric film coatings for controlled drug delivery," *J Control Release*, vol. 169, no. 1-2, pp. 1-9, 2013, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.04.001</u>.
- [171] M. S. Wolf *et al.*, "To err is human: patient misinterpretations of prescription drug label instructions," (in eng), *Patient Educ Couns*, vol. 67, no. 3, pp. 293-300, Aug 2007, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2007.03.024</u>.
- [172] J. P. Nathan, T. Zerilli, L. A. Cicero, and J. M. Rosenberg, "Patients' use and perception of medication information leaflets," (in eng), *Ann Pharmacother*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 777-82, May 2007, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1345/aph.1H686</u>.
- [173] O. O. Shiyanbola, P. D. Smith, S. G. Mansukhani, and Y. M. Huang, "Refining Prescription Warning Labels Using Patient Feedback: A Qualitative Study," (in eng), *PLoS One*, vol. 11, no. 6, p. e0156881, 2016, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0156881</u>.
- [174] M. Larsson, J. Hjärtstam, J. Berndtsson, M. Stading, and A. Larsson, "Effect of ethanol on the water permeability of controlled release films composed of ethyl cellulose and hydroxypropyl cellulose," (in eng), EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM, vol. 76, no. 3, pp. 428-432, 2010, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.09.007.
- [175] A. P. Smith, T. W. Moore, B. J. Westenberger, and W. H. Doub, "In vitro dissolution of oral modified-release tablets and capsules in ethanolic media," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 398, no. 1, pp. 93-96, 2010/10/15/ 2010, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.07.031</u>.

- [176] R. L. Barkin, D. Shirazi, and E. Kinzler, "Effect of ethanol on the release of morphine sulfate from Oramorph SR tablets," (in eng), *American journal of therapeutics*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 482-486, 2009, doi: https://doi.org/10.1097/mjt.0b013e3181b18f7a.
- [177] A. M. Avachat and D. S. Nandare, "Effect of Alcohol on Drug Release Kinetics from HPMC-Based Matrix Tablets Using Model Drugs," *DISSOLUT TECHNOL*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 11-17, 2014, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.14227/DT210114P11</u>.
- [178] N. Al-Zoubi, A. Al-Rusasi, and A.-S. Sallam, "Ethanol effect on acid resistance of selected enteric polymers," (in eng), PHARM DEV TECHNOL, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 24-34, 2019, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10837450.2017.1412461</u>.
- [179] K. H. Frömming and L. Schwabe, "Wirkstoff-Freisetzung aus mikroverkapselter Acetylsalicylsäure unter Alkoholbelastung," (in ger), *Arzneimittel-Forschung*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 836-839, 1980.
- [180] H. M. Fadda, M. A. M. Mohamed, and A. W. Basit, "Impairment of the in vitro drug release behaviour of oral modified release preparations in the presence of alcohol," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 360, no. 1-2, pp. 171-176, 2008, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.04.035</u>.
- [181] A. Mercuri, R. Fares, M. Bresciani, and N. Fotaki, "An in vitro-in vivo correlation study for nifedipine immediate release capsules administered with water, alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages: Impact of in vitro dissolution media and hydrodynamics," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 499, no. 1-2, pp. 330-342, 2016, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.12.047.
- [182] L. Bisharat *et al.*, "The influence of ethanol on superdisintegrants and on tablets disintegration," *EUR J PHARM SCI*, vol. 129, pp. 140-147, 2019/03/01/ 2019, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2019.01.004</u>.
- [183] A. C. Galvão, W. S. Robazza, G. N. Sarturi, F. C. Goulart, and D. Conte, "Sucrose Solubility in Binary Liquid Mixtures Formed by Water–Methanol, Water–Ethanol, and Methanol–Ethanol at 303 and 313 K," J. Chem. Eng. Data, vol. 61, no. 9, pp. 2997-3002, 2016/09/08 2016, doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jced.5b01102.
- [184] S. Missaghi, K. A. Fegely, and A. R. Rajabi-Siahboomi, "Investigation of the effects of hydroalcoholic solutions on textural and rheological properties of various controlled release grades of hypromellose," AAPS PharmSciTech, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 77-80, 2009, doi: https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-008-9181-2.
- [185] D. R. Perinelli *et al.*, "Rheological properties of cellulosic thickeners in hydro-alcoholic media: The science behind the formulation of hand sanitizer gels," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 604, p. 120769, 2021/07/15/ 2021, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2021.120769</u>.
- [186] K. Asare-Addo, B. R. Conway, M. J. Hajamohaideen, W. Kaialy, A. Nokhodchi, and H. Larhrib, "Aqueous and hydro-alcoholic media effects on polyols," (in eng), *Colloids and surfaces. B, Biointerfaces*, vol. 111, pp. 24-29, 2013, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2013.05.003</u>.
- [187] D. Palmer, M. Levina, T. Farrell, and A. Rajabi-Siahboomi, "The Influence of Hydro-Alcoholic Media on Drug Release from Polyethylene Oxide Extended-Release Matrix Tablets," presented at the AAPS Annual Meeting, New Orleans, Louisiana, USA, Nov. 2010, 2010.
- [188] W. Roth *et al.*, "Ethanol effects on drug release from Verapamil Meltrex, an innovative melt extruded formulation," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 368, no. 1-2, pp. 72-75, 2009, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.09.052</u>.
- [189] M. J. Traynor, M. B. Brown, A. Pannala, P. Beck, and G. P. Martin, "Influence of alcohol on the release of tramadol from 24-h controlled-release formulations during in vitro dissolution experiments," *Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm*, vol. 34, no. 8, pp. 885-889, 2008, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03639040801929240</u>.
- [190] S. Husár, M. Sýkorova, K. Rumlová, B. Vladovicova, and A. Bednárová, "The Effect of Alcohol on Opiate Drugs Release from Matrix Tablets," *Chemické listy*, vol. 113, no. 7, 2019.
- [191] B. Skalická, K. Matzick, A. Komersová, R. Svoboda, M. Bartoš, and L. Hromádko, "3D-Printed Coating of Extended-Release Matrix Tablets: Effective Tool for Prevention of Alcohol-Induced Dose Dumping Effect," *Pharmaceutics*, vol. 13, no. 12, p. 2123, 2021, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics13122123</u>.

- [192] D. J. Mastropietro and H. Omidian, "Abuse-deterrent formulations: part 2: commercial products and proprietary technologies," (in eng), *Expert opinion on pharmacotherapy*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 305-323, 2015, doi: https://doi.org/10.1517/14656566.2014.970175.
- [193] V. Lochař *et al.*, "The effect of alcohol on ionizing and non-ionizing drug release from hydrophilic, lipophilic and dual matrix tablets," (in eng), *Saudi pharmaceutical journal : SPJ : the* official publication of the Saudi Pharmaceutical Society, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 187-195, 2020, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsps.2019.11.020.
- [194] J. M. Keen *et al.*, "Continuous twin screw melt granulation of glyceryl behenate: Development of controlled release tramadol hydrochloride tablets for improved safety," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 487, no. 1-2, pp. 72-80, 2015, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.03.058</u>.
- [195] L. R. Webster, B. Bath, and R. A. Medve, "Opioid formulations in development designed to curtail abuse: who is the target?," *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 255-263, 2009/03/01 2009, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1517/13543780902751622</u>.
- [196] "Xtampza<sup>®</sup> ER (oxycodone): DETERx<sup>®</sup> Technology." https://www.xtampzaer.com/hcp/deterxtechnology/#default (accessed.
- [197] R. Ahmad, S. Alaei, and H. Omidian, "Safety and performance of current abuse-deterrent formulations," (in eng), *Expert opinion on drug metabolism & toxicology*, vol. 14, no. 12, pp. 1255-1271, 2018, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17425255.2018.1546289</u>.
- [198] J. M. Dayno, G. Niebler, J. Lawler, T. Elhauge, and K. Lindhardt, "Clinical relevance of the pharmacokinetic characteristics of an abuse-deterrent, extended-release, injection-molded morphine tablet," (in eng), *Journal of opioid management*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 111-124, 2017, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.5055/jom.2017.0375</u>.
- [199] R. Jain and J. G. Stark, "Safety and efficacy considerations due to misuse of extended-release formulations of stimulant medications," (in eng), *Postgraduate medicine*, vol. 128, no. 7, pp. 672-681, 2016, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.2016.1218259</u>.
- [200] Y. Rosiaux *et al.*, "Ethanol-resistant ethylcellulose/guar gum coatings--importance of formulation parameters," (in eng), *EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM*, vol. 85, no. 3 Pt B, pp. 1250-1258, 2013, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2013.07.014</u>.
- [201] G. Toschkoff and J. G. Khinast, "Mathematical modeling of the coating process," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 457, no. 2, pp. 407-422, 2013, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.08.022</u>.
- [202] H. Häbel, H. Andersson, A. Olsson, E. Olsson, A. Larsson, and A. Särkkä, "Characterization of pore structure of polymer blended films used for controlled drug release," (in eng), *J Control Release*, vol. 222, pp. 151-158, 2016, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.011</u>.
- [203] A. Amini *et al.*, "Quality control of metoprolol extended-release formulations in the presence of ethanol," (in eng), *Pharmeuropa bio & scientific notes*, vol. 2010, no. 2, pp. 86-91, 2010.
- [204] R. O. Mannion *et al.*, "ALCOHOL RESISTANT DOSAGE FORMS," Patent Appl. US20180153812A1, 2018. [Online]. Available: <u>https://patents.justia.com/patent/20180153812M4</u>
- [205] N. Burger, D. Fraser, M. A. Maritz, J. Faulkner, and H. Rey, "Once-Daily Oxycodone Prolonged-Release Tablets Are Resistant to Alcohol-Induced Dose Dumping: Results From a Randomized Trial in Healthy Volunteers," *Clinical and Translational Science*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cts.12737</u> vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 539-546, 2020/05/01 2020, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cts.12737</u>.
- [206] C. Y. Gujjar, B. C. Rallabandi, R. Gannu, and V. S. Deulkar, "Development and Optimization of a Novel Prolonged Release Formulation to Resist Alcohol-Induced Dose Dumping," AAPS PharmSciTech, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 350-357, 2016, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-015-0358-</u> <u>1</u>.
- [207] G. M. Liversidge, David; Shah, Hardik; Ruddy, Stephen B.; Rekhi, Gurvinder S., "ALCOHOL RESISTANT ENTERIC PHARMACEUTICAL COMPOSITIONS," Patent Appl. US020180085315A1, 2017.
- [208] H. BÄR, T. FÜRST, T. Rupp, G. Renner, and M. Gottschalk, "Controlled release pharmaceutical composition with resistance against the influence of ethanol employing a coating comprising a polymer mixture and excipients" Patent Appl. WO2010105673A1, 2009.

- [209] B. K. M. Cheng, "ALCOHOL-RESISTANT, DOSE DUMPING PROTECTIVE ENTERIC DRUG FILM COATING," Patent Appl. PCT/US20 15/0 18499, 2015.
- [210] H.-U. Petereit, H. Ravishankar, and A. Samel, "Ph-dependent controlled release pharmaceutical composition for non-opioids with resistance against the influence of ethanol " EU, 2007.
- [211] S. Habet, "Narrow Therapeutic Index drugs: clinical pharmacology perspective," *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, vol. 73, no. 10, pp. 1285-1291, 2021, doi: https://doi.org/10.1093/jpp/rgab102.
- [212] C. Andrade, "Bioequivalence of generic drugs," (in eng), *J Clin Psychiatry*, vol. 76, no. 9, pp. e1130-1, Sep 2015, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.15f10300</u>.
- [213] M. L. Chen and L. J. Lesko, "Individual bioequivalence revisited," (in eng), *Clin Pharmacokinet*, vol. 40, no. 10, pp. 701-6, 2001, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-200140100-00001</u>.
- [214] C. Baumgärtel and B. Godman, "Bioequivalence of narrow therapeutic index drugs and immunosuppressives," *Generics and Biosimilars Initiative Journal*, vol. 4, no. 4, 2015.
- [215] (2014). Guideline on the pharmacokinetic and clinical evaluation 4 of modified release dosage forms 5 (EMA/CPMP/EWP/280/96 Corr1). [Online] Available: <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-guideline/guideline-pharmacokineticclinical-evaluation-modified-release-dosage-forms\_en.pdf</u>
- [216] J. Siepmann, "Modeling of drug release from delivery systems based on hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC)," Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, vol. 48, no. 2-3, pp. 139-157, 2001, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-409X(01)00112-0</u>.
- [217] S. Puntanen and P. H. S. George, "The Equality of the Ordinary Least Squares Estimator and the Best Linear Unbiased Estimator," *The American Statistician*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 153-161, 1989, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2685062</u>.
- [218] K. Lakshmi, M. B, M. Rajaiah, and C. Narayana, "Ordinary least squares estimation of parameters of linear model," *Journal of Mathematical and Computational Science*, vol. 11, pp. 2015-2030, 01/01 2021, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.28919/jmcs/5454</u>.
- [219] F. a. D. Administration and C. f. D. E. a. R. (CDER), "Dissolution Testing of Immediate Release Solid Oral Dosage Forms," ed, 1997.
- [220] J.-p. Liu, M.-C. Ma, and S.-C. Chow, "Statistical Evaluation of Similarity Factor f 2 as a Criterion for Assessment of Similarity between Dissolution Profiles," *DRUG INF J*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 1255-1271, 1997, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/009286159703100426</u>.
- [221] M. M. El-Masri and S. M. Fox-Wasylyshyn, "Missing data: an introductory conceptual overview for the novice researcher," (in eng), *The Canadian journal of nursing research = Revue canadienne de recherche en sciences infirmieres,* vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 156-171, 2005.
- [222] A. C. Acock, "Working With Missing Values," *Journal of Marriage and Family,* vol. 67, no. 4, pp. 1012-1028, 2005, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2005.00191.x</u>
- [223] C. K. Enders, *Applied Missing Data Analysis*, 2nd Edition ed. 2022.
- [224] S. v. Buuren, *Flexible Imputation of Missing Data (2nd. ed)*. New York: Chapman and Hall/CRC, 2018.
- [225] I. R. White, P. Royston, and A. M. Wood, "Multiple imputation using chained equations: Issues and guidance for practice," (in eng), *Statistics in Medicine*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 377-399, 2011, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.4067</u>.
- [226] D. B. Rubin, "Multiple Imputation for Nonresponse in Surveys," 1987, doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470316696.
- [227] J. C. Jakobsen, C. Gluud, J. Wetterslev, and P. Winkel, "When and how should multiple imputation be used for handling missing data in randomised clinical trials a practical guide with flowcharts," ed, 2017.
- [228] R. Lall and T. Robinson, "The MIDAS Touch: Accurate and Scalable Missing-Data Imputation with Deep Learning," *Political Analysis*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 179-196, 2022, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/pan.2020.49</u>.

- [229] R. J. Little et al., "The Prevention and Treatment of Missing Data in Clinical Trials," New England Journal of Medicine, vol. 367, no. 14, pp. 1355-1360, 2012/10/04 2012, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsr1203730</u>.
- [230] T. G. Clark and D. G. Altman, "Developing a prognostic model in the presence of missing data: an ovarian cancer case study," *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, vol. 56, no. 1, pp. 28-37, 2003, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-4356(02)00539-5</u>.
- [231] K. T. To, R. C. Fry, and D. M. Reif, "Characterizing the effects of missing data and evaluating imputation methods for chemical prioritization applications using ToxPi," *BioData Mining*, vol. 11, no. 1, p. 10, 2018/06/13 2018, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13040-018-0169-5</u>.
- [232] P. D. Allison, "Handling missing data by maximum likelihood," in *SAS global forum*, 2012, vol. 2012, no. 312, pp. 1038-21.
- [233] I. Schwabe, D. I. Boomsma, E. L. Zeeuw, and S. M. van den Berg, "A New Approach to Handle Missing Covariate Data in Twin Research : With an Application to Educational Achievement Data," (in eng), *Behavior Genetics*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 583-595, 2016, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10519-015-9771-1</u>.
- [234] T. Lee and D. Shi, "A comparison of full information maximum likelihood and multiple imputation in structural equation modeling with missing data," (in eng), *Psychol Methods*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 466-485, Aug 2021, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000381</u>.
- [235] K. A. Marill, "Advanced Statistics: Linear Regression, Part II: Multiple Linear Regression," Academic Emergency Medicine, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 94-102, 2004, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1197/j.aem.2003.09.006</u>.
- [236] A. F. Hayes and L. Cai, "Using heteroskedasticity-consistent standard error estimators in OLS regression: an introduction and software implementation," (in eng), *Behavior research methods,* vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 709-722, 2007, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03192961</u>.
- [237] K. A. Marill, "Advanced Statistics: Linear Regression, Part I: Simple Linear Regression " Academic Emergency Medicine, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 87-93, 2004, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1197/j.aem.2003.09.005</u>.
- [238] R. LePage, "Linear Regression Models," in *International Encyclopedia of Statistical Science*, M. Lovric Ed. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2011, pp. 746-751.
- [239] P. J. Rosopa, M. M. Schaffer, and A. N. Schroeder, "Managing heteroscedasticity in general linear models," (in eng), *Psychological methods*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 335-351, 2013, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032553</u>.
- [240] T. S. Breusch and A. R. Pagan, "A Simple Test for Heteroscedasticity and Random Coefficient Variation," *Econometrica*, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 1287-1294, 1979, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1911963</u>.
- [241] H. White, "A Heteroskedasticity-Consistent Covariance Matrix Estimator and a Direct Test for Heteroskedasticity," *Econometrica*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 817-838, 1980, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1912934</u>.
- [242] A. C. Aitken, "IV.—On least squares and linear combination of observations," *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh,* vol. 55, pp. 42-48, 1936.
- [243] A. F. Schmidt and C. Finan, "Linear regression and the normality assumption," *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, vol. 98, pp. 146-151, 2018, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2017.12.006</u>.
- [244] M. A. Babyak, "What you see may not be what you get: a brief, nontechnical introduction to overfitting in regression-type models," (in eng), *Psychosomatic medicine*, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 411-421, 2004, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.psy.0000127692.23278.a9</u>.
- [245] P. C. Austin and E. W. Steyerberg, "The number of subjects per variable required in linear regression analyses," vol. 68, ed, 2015, pp. 627-636.
- [246] J. A. Hanley, "Simple and multiple linear regression: sample size considerations," (in eng), Journal of clinical epidemiology, vol. 79, pp. 112-119, 2016, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.05.014</u>.

- [247] P. M. Rothwell, "Subgroup analysis in randomised controlled trials: importance, indications, and interpretation," *The Lancet*, vol. 365, no. 9454, pp. 176-186, 2005/01/08/ 2005, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)17709-5.
- [248] H.-P. Piepho, "A coefficient of determination (R2) for generalized linear mixed models," (in eng), Biometrical journal. Biometrische Zeitschrift, vol. 61, no. 4, pp. 860-872, 2019, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bimj.201800270</u>.
- [249] E. Lambert and J. M. Janjic, "Multiple linear regression applied to predicting droplet size of complex perfluorocarbon nanoemulsions for biomedical applications," (in eng), PHARM DEV TECHNOL, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 700-710, 2019, doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/10837450.2019.1578372.
- [250] A. Mercuri, M. Pagliari, F. Baxevanis, R. Fares, and N. Fotaki, "Understanding and predicting the impact of critical dissolution variables for nifedipine immediate release capsules by multivariate data analysis," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 518, no. 1-2, pp. 41-49, 2017, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.12.034</u>.
- [251] S. Pund, A. Joshi, K. Vasu, M. Nivsarkar, and C. Shishoo, "Multivariate optimization of formulation and process variables influencing physico-mechanical characteristics of site-specific release isoniazid pellets," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 388, no. 1-2, pp. 64-72, 2010, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2009.12.034</u>.
- [252] S. G. Machatha and S. H. Yalkowsky, "Estimation of the ethanol/water solubility profile from the octanol/water partition coefficient," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 286, no. 1-2, pp. 111-115, 2004, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2004.08.005</u>.
- [253] G. W. Radebaugh, J. L. Murtha, T. N. Julian, and J. N. Bondi, "Methods for evaluating the puncture and shear properties of pharmaceutical polymeric films," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 39-46, 1988/07/01/ 1988, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5173(88)90032-4</u>.
- [254] L. Xiao, "Effect of gel strength on drug release from Swellable matrices through polymer Erosion.," University of Wisconsin, Madison, USA, 2007.
- [255] J. Schindelin *et al.*, "Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis," *Nat. Methods,* vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 676-682, 2012/07/01 2012, doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2019">https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2019</a>.
- [256] G. Van Rossum and F. L. Drake, Jr., *Python reference manual*. Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica Amsterdam, 1995.
- [257] B. L. Welch, "THE GENERALIZATION OF 'STUDENT'S' PROBLEM WHEN SEVERAL DIFFERENT POPULATION VARLANCES ARE INVOLVED," *Biometrika*, vol. 34, no. 1-2, pp. 28-35, 1947, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/34.1-2.28</u>.
- [258] M. B. Brown and A. B. Forsythe, "Robust Tests for the Equality of Variances," *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, vol. 69, no. 346, pp. 364-367, 1974, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2285659</u>.
- [259] S. S. Shapiro and M. B. Wilk, "An analysis of variance test for normality (complete samples)<sup>+</sup>," *Biometrika*, vol. 52, no. 3-4, pp. 591-611, 1965, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/52.3-4.591</u>.
- [260] J. Keemink, E. Sjögren, R. Holm, and C. A. S. Bergström, "Does the Intake of Ethanol Affect Oral Absorption of Poorly Soluble Drugs?," *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, vol. 108, no. 5, pp. 1765-1771, 2019, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xphs.2018.12.006</u>.
- [261] A. Rohatgi, "Webplotdigitizer: Version 4.5," ed, 2021.
- [262] R. Snee, Who Invented the Variance Inflation Factor? 1981.
- [263] S. G. P. John O. Rawlings, David A. Dickey, *Applied Regression Analysis*, 2 ed. (Springer Texts in Statistics). Springer New York, NY, 1998, p. 660.
- [264] M. A. Bolt, S. MaWhinney, J. W. Pattee, K. M. Erlandson, D. B. Badesch, and R. A. Peterson, "Inference following multiple imputation for generalized additive models: an investigation of the median p-value rule with applications to the Pulmonary Hypertension Association Registry and Colorado COVID-19 hospitalization data," *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, vol. 22, no. 1, p. 148, 2022/05/21 2022, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-022-01613-w</u>.

- [265] F. Pedregosa et al., "Scikit-learn: Machine Learning in Python," Journal of Machine Learning Research, vol. 12, no. 85, pp. 2825-2830, 2011 2011. [Online]. Available: http://jmlr.org/papers/v12/pedregosa11a.html.
- [266] E. I. Nep *et al.*, "Hydro-alcoholic media effects on theophylline release from sesamum polysaccharide gum matrices," (in eng), *Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 251-260, 2018, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03639045.2017.1386209</u>.
- [267] J. Kozak, M. Rabiskova, and A. Lamprecht, "Silk Fibroin as a Novel Alcohol-Resistant Excipient for Sustained-Release Tablet Formulation," AAPS PharmSciTech, vol. 20, no. 7, p. 279, 2019/08/09 2019, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-019-1494-9</u>.
- [268] O. Paeratakul, "Pharmaceutical applications of aqueous colloidal polymer dispersions," Ph.D., College of Pharmacy The University of Texas at Austin, 1993.
- [269] O. P. L. Anderson; Neil R., Ogura; Toshihiro, Fujii; Toshiro "Duloxetine enteric pellets," USA Patent Appl. 08/276,232, 1994. [Online]. Available: <u>https://patft.uspto.gov/netacgi/nph-Parser?Sect1=PTO2&Sect2=HITOFF&p=1&u=%2Fnetahtml%2FPTO%2Fsearch-bool.html&r=41&f=G&l=50&co1=AND&d=PTXT&s1=5508276&OS=5508276&RS=5508276M4 -Citavi</u>
- [270] EMA. "Duloxetine Mylan." https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/duloxetine-mylan (accessed 31.07.2022, 2022).
- [271] Fda/Cder, "Duloxetine hydrochloride Oral Delayed Release Capsule," ed.
- [272] Chmp, "Duloxetine Mylan, INN-duloxetine," ed.
- [273] Chmp, "Duloxetine Sandoz, INN-duloxetine," ed.
- [274] P. J. Jansen, P. L. Oren, C. A. Kemp, S. R. Maple, and S. W. Baertschi, "Characterization of Impurities Formed by Interaction of Duloxetine HCl with Enteric Polymers Hydroxypropyl Methylcellulose Acetate Succinate and Hydroxypropyl Methylcellulose Phthalate," *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 81-85, 1998/01/01/ 1998, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/js970133r</u>.
- [275] P. Ertuğruloğlu, "Investigation of Interaction of Duloxetine with Alginic Acid Polymers," M.Sc., Eastern Mediterranean University, Gazimağusa, North Cyprus, 2018.
- [276] K. S. Babamoto and W. T. Hirokawa, "Doxazosin: a new alpha 1-adrenergic antagonist," (in eng), *Clin Pharm*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 415-27, May 1992.
- [277] J. C. Deters, P. S. L. Wong, B. L. Barclay, F. Theeuwes, and D. R. Swanson, "Dosage form for dispensing drug for human therapy" US, 1989.
- [278] S. F. Campbell, "Antihypertensive 4-amino-2-[4-(1,4-benzodioxan-2-carbonyl) piperazin-1-yl or homopiperazin-1-yl]quinazolines "Patent Appl. 5/952,317, 1980.
- [279] K.-H. Cha et al., "pH-independent sustained release matrix tablet containing doxazosin mesylate: Effect of citric acid," Archives of Pharmacal Research, vol. 33, no. 12, pp. 2003-2009, 2010/12/01 2010, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12272-010-1216-z</u>.
- [280] A. Viridén, S. Abrahmsén-Alami, B. Wittgren, and A. Larsson, "Release of theophylline and carbamazepine from matrix tablets – Consequences of HPMC chemical heterogeneity," *EUR J PHARM BIOPHARM*, vol. 78, no. 3, pp. 470-479, 2011/08/01/ 2011, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2011.02.003.
- [281] J. L. Ford, M. H. Rubinstein, and J. E. Hogan, "Formulation of sustained release promethazine hydrochloride tablets using hydroxypropyl-methylcellulose matrices," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 24, no. 2-3, pp. 327-338, 1985, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5173(85)90031-6</u>.
- [282] P. J. Flory and J. Rehner, Jr., "Statistical Mechanics of Cross-Linked Polymer Networks II. Swelling," J Chem Phys, vol. 11, pp. 521-526, 1943, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1723792</u>.
- [283] A. Körner, A. Larsson, Å. Andersson, and L. Piculell, "Swelling and polymer erosion for poly(ethylene oxide) tablets of different molecular weights polydispersities," *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, vol. 99, no. 3, pp. 1225-1238, 2010, doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.21892.

- [284] K. Tsuruhara, K. Hara, M. Kawahara, M. Rikukawa, K. Sanui, and N. Ogata, "Ion conductivity of poly(ethylene oxide)/ligand complexes with the hydrogen-bond interaction," *Electrochimica Acta*, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 1223-1226, 2000/01/03/ 2000, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0013-4686(99)00384-9</u>.
- [285] F. Siepmann, Y. Karrout, M. Gehrke, F. K. Penz, and J. Siepmann, "Limited drug solubility can be decisive even for freely soluble drugs in highly swollen matrix tablets," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 526, no. 1-2, pp. 280-290, 2017, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.05.001</u>.
- [286] N. Kavanagh and O. I. Corrigan, "Swelling and erosion properties of hydroxypropylmethylcellulose (Hypromellose) matrices—influence of agitation rate and dissolution medium composition," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 279, no. 1, pp. 141-152, 2004/07/26/ 2004, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2004.04.016</u>.
- [287] G. Guevara-Carrion, J. Vrabec, and H. Hasse, "Prediction of self-diffusion coefficient and shear viscosity of water and its binary mixtures with methanol and ethanol by molecular simulation," (in eng), J Chem Phys, vol. 134, no. 7, p. 074508, Feb 21 2011, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3515262</u>.
- [288] C. I. Vargas and E. S. Ghaly, "Kinetic Release of Theophylline from Hydrophilic Swellable Matrices," Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 1045-1050, 1999/01/01 1999, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1081/DDC-100102268</u>.
- [289] Z. Gonzalez, D. Herlihy, C. Phan, J. Diaz, K. Dominguez, and R. McCallum, "Alcohol and gastric motility: pathophysiological and therapeutic implications," *Journal of Investigative Medicine*, vol. 68, no. 5, p. 965, 2020, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jim-2020-001327</u>.
- [290] V. Mohylyuk, S. Goldoozian, G. P. Andrews, and A. Dashevskiy, "IVIVC for Extended Release Hydrophilic Matrix Tablets in Consideration of Biorelevant Mechanical Stress," (in eng), *PHARMACEUT RES*, vol. 37, no. 11, p. 227, 2020, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-020-02940-7</u>.
- [291] F. A. A. Mohamed, M. Roberts, L. Seton, J. L. Ford, M. Levina, and A. R. Rajabi-Siahboomi, "The effect of HPMC particle size on the drug release rate and the percolation threshold in extended-release mini-tablets," *Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 70-78, 2015/01/02 2015, doi: <a href="https://doi.org/10.3109/03639045.2013.845843">https://doi.org/10.3109/03639045.2013.845843</a>.
- [292] L. A. Felton, Aqueous Polymeric Coatings for Pharmaceutical Dosage Forms. CRC Press, 2016.
- [293] K. Leppänen, K. Pirkkalainen, P. Penttilä, J. Sievänen, N. Kotelnikova, and R. Serimaa, "Smallangle x-ray scattering study on the structure of microcrystalline and nanofibrillated cellulose," *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, vol. 247, p. 012030, 11/18 2010, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/247/1/012030</u>.
- [294] G. Mantanis, R. A. Young, and R. Rowell, "Swelling of Compressed Cellulose Fiber Webs in Organic Liquids," *Cellulose*, vol. 2, pp. 1-22, 03/01 1995, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00812768</u>.
- [295] J. Mota, "MATRIX- AND RESERVOIR-TYPE ORAL MULTIPARTICULATE DRUG DELIVERY SYSTEMS," Dr. rer. nat., Institut für Pharmazie, Freie Universität Berlin, 2010.
- [296] T. Ohara, S. Kitamura, T. Kitagawa, and K. Terada, "Dissolution mechanism of poorly watersoluble drug from extended release solid dispersion system with ethylcellulose and hydroxypropylmethylcellulose," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 302, no. 1, pp. 95-102, 2005/09/30/ 2005, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2005.06.019</u>.
- [297] N. C. f. B. Information. "PubChem Compound Summary for CID 2153, Theophylline." https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Theophylline (accessed September 14, 2022.
- [298] S. Narisawa, H. Yoshino, Y. Hirakawa, and K. Noda, "Porosity-Controlled Ethylcellulose Film Coating. I. Formation of Porous Ethylcellulose Film in the Casting Process and Factors Affecting Film-Density," *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 329-334, 1993, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1248/cpb.41.329</u>.
- [299] J. Kazlauske et al., "Determination of the release mechanism of Theophylline from pellets coated with Surelease<sup>®</sup>-A water dispersion of ethyl cellulose," (in eng), INT J PHARM, vol. 528, no. 1-2, pp. 345-353, 2017, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.05.073</u>.

- [300] M. Marucci, G. Ragnarsson, U. Nyman, and A. Axelsson, "Mechanistic model for drug release during the lag phase from pellets coated with a semi-permeable membrane," *J Control Release*, vol. 127, no. 1, pp. 31-40, 2008/04/07/ 2008, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2007.12.003</u>.
- [301] A. Gharsallaoui, B. Rogé, J. Génotelle, and M. Mathlouthi, "Relationships between hydration number, water activity and density of aqueous sugar solutions," *Food Chemistry*, vol. 106, no. 4, pp. 1443-1453, 2008/02/15/ 2008, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2007.02.047</u>.
- [302] T. Schöck, M. Hussein, and T. Becker, "Konzentrationsbestimmung in Wasser-Zucker-Ethanol-Gemischen mittels adiabatischer Kompressibilität und Dichte Concentration Determination in Water-Sugar-Ethanol-Mixtures via Adiabatic Compressibility and Density," *tm - Technisches Messen*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 30-37, 2010, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1524/teme.2010.0913</u>.
- [303] Ph.Eur. Dissolution test for solid dosage forms
- [304] K. Nollenberger and J. Albers, "Poly(meth)acrylate-based coatings," (in eng), *INT J PHARM*, vol. 457, no. 2, pp. 461-469, 2013, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.09.029</u>.
- [305] J. Gutiérrez-Rocca and J. W. McGinity, "Influence of water soluble and insoluble plasticizers on the physical and mechanical properties of acrylic resin copolymers," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 103, no. 3, pp. 293-301, 1994/03/30/ 1994, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-5173(94)90180-5.
- [306] H. BÄR, T. FÜRST, G. Renner, and M. Gottschalk, "Ph-dependent controlled release pharmaceutical composition for non-opioids with resistance against the influence of ethanol " EU Patent Appl. EP2326313B1, 2008.
- [307] S. Narisawa, "An organic acid-induced sigmoidal release system for oral controlled-release preparations. III. Elucidation of the anomalous drug release behavior through osmotic pumping mechanism," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 148, no. 1, pp. 85-91, 1997, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(96)04834-X</u>.
- [308] H. X. Guo, J. Heinämäki, and J. Yliruusi, "Amylopectin as a subcoating material improves the acidic resistance of enteric-coated pellets containing a freely soluble drug," *INT J PHARM*, vol. 235, no. 1-2, pp. 79-86, 2002, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5173(01)00978-4</u>.
- [309] K.-I. Zier, W. Schultze, and C. S. Leopold, "Combination of a hot-melt subcoating and an enteric coating for moisture protection of hygroscopic Sennae fructus tablets," *PHARM DEV TECHNOL*, vol. 24, pp. 1210 1217, 2019.
- [310] C. Cui, J. Sun, X. Wang, Z. Yu, and Y. Shi, "Factors Contributing to Drug Release From Enteric-Coated Omeprazole Capsules: An In Vitro and In Vivo Pharmacokinetic Study and IVIVC Evaluation in Beagle Dogs," *Dose-Response*, vol. 18, no. 1, p. 1559325820908980, 2020/01/01 2020, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1559325820908980</u>.
- [311] Z. Zhu, R. Shi, A. D. Klarner, A. A. Luo, and Y. Chen, "Predicting and controlling interfacial microstructure of magnesium/aluminum bimetallic structures for improved interfacial bonding," *Journal of Magnesium and Alloys*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 578-586, 2020/09/01/ 2020, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jma.2020.03.004</u>.
- [312] H. L. Frisch, "The Time Lag in Diffusion," *The Journal of Physical Chemistry*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 93-95, 1957/01/01 1957, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/j150547a018</u>.
- [313] R. A. Siegel, "A laplace transform technique for calculating diffusion time lags," *Journal of Membrane Science*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 251-262, 1986/04/01/ 1986, doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0376-7388(00)82110-9</u>.

## 7 Appendices

### 7.1 Appendix A – Script for equation fitting

Appendix B contains the python script used for calculating the constants in the Peppas-Sahlin equation (equation 11, equation 12). The current setting was used for the literature evaluation (with the command IterateFolders()). The setting for the experimental data did not include a lag time. The burst release was added in at an earlier time point, but not used for the final evaluation.

import numpy as np import matplotlib.pyplot as plt import open3d as o3d import math import csv import os from pathlib import Path timeintervals = 100 #m.time = np.linspace(0, timeframe, timeintervals) def IterateFolders(): global path, results, pathabbreviation results = {} results["Sample name"] = ["Samplename"] results["Ethanol content"] = ["Ethanol content"] results["Diffusion-Constant"] = ["Diffusion-Constant"] results["Exponent"] = ["Exponent"] results["Case-II-constant"] = ["Case-II-constant"] results["Burst-release"] = ["Burst-release"] results["Lag-time"] = ["Lag-time"] results["Determination-coefficient"] = ["Determination-coefficient"] results["Total-percent-Diffusion"] = ["Total-percent-Diffusion"] print(results) path\_of\_the\_directory = '\Raw data' paths = Path(path\_of\_the\_directory).glob('\*\*/\*.csv') pathabbreviations = [] for path in paths: print(path) pathabbreviation = path givePowerLaw() def DataFromCsv(): global first\_col2, sec\_col2, third\_col2, fourth\_col2, fifth\_col2, sixth\_col2 csv\_file = np.genfromtxt(path, # enter Data path delimiter=';', dtype="str") #, usecols=np.arange(0,3))

# The timepoints in the CSV-File should start with 0,0, otherwise Errors may arise in the calculation

```
first_row = csv_file[0, :].tolist() # Complete first column
first_row2 = []
print(first_row2)
first_col = csv_file[:, 0].tolist() # Complete first column
first col2 = []
col_length = 30
for i in first_col[2:col_length]: # Replacing commas by points
  x = i.replace(",", ".")
  try:
    x = (float(x))
  except ValueError:
    print(x)
  first col2.append(x)
print(first_col2) # + ")")
sec_col = csv_file[:, 1].tolist()
sec col2 = []
for i in sec_col[2:col_length]: # Replacing commas by points
  x = i.replace(",", ".")
  try:
    x = float(x)
  except ValueError:
    print(x)
  sec_col2.append(x)
print(sec_col2) # + ")")
third_col = csv_file[:, 2].tolist()
third col2 = []
for i in third_col[2:col_length]:
  x = i.replace(",", ".")
  try:
    x = float(x)
  except ValueError:
    print(x)
  third_col2.append(x)
print(third_col2) #+")")
fourth_col = csv_file[:, 3].tolist()
fourth col2 = []
for i in fourth_col[2:col_length]:
  x = i.replace(",", ".")
  try:
    x = float(x)
  except ValueError:
    print(x)
  fourth_col2.append(x)
print(fourth col2) # + ")")
try:
  fifth_col = csv_file[:, 4].tolist()
  fifth_col2 = []
  for i in fifth_col[2:col_length]:
    x = i.replace(",", ".")
    try:
       x = float(x)
```

```
except ValueError:
       print(x)
    fifth_col2.append(x)
  print(fifth_col2) # + ")")
  sixth_col = csv_file[:, 5].tolist()
  sixth col2 = []
  for i in sixth_col[2:col_length]:
    x = i.replace(",", ".")
    try:
      x = float(x)
    except ValueError:
       print(x)
    sixth_col2.append(x)
  print(sixth col2) # + ")")
except:
  print("Only 3 columns")
print("\n\n')
```

```
def adjust_Korsmeyer_peppas():
```

global adjusted\_paracetime, adjusted\_paracet40ethanol, adjusted\_paracetHCl, adjusted\_comparison, mean, res, exponent\_calculated, Comparison\_parameter

comparison\_time = timevalues # Time parameter to evaluate
exponent\_calculated = [0.4501]

```
adjusted_paracetime = []
adjusted_paracet40ethanol = []
adjusted_paracetHCl = []
adjusted_comparison = []
for i in range(len(comparison_time)):
    if Comparison_parameter[i] < 60:
        adjusted_paracetime.append(comparison_time[i])
        adjusted_comparison.append(Comparison_parameter[i])
mean = sum(adjusted_comparison) / len(adjusted_comparison)
res = sum((ii - mean) ** 2 for ii in adjusted_comparison)</pre>
```

```
# Korsmeyer Peppas equation according to Ford et al, used for comparison purposes
def korsmeyer_peppas():
  regressionlist = []
  adjust_Korsmeyer_peppas()
  for i in range(1,350):
    for j in range(45,101):
       for b in range(0,10):
         for l in range(0,10):
           bulkconc = []
           #bulkconc = m.Var(value=0, lb=0, ub=100) #
Intermediate(bulksolubility/MediaVolumeGC)
                                       # Kinetic constant for Korsmeyer Peppas
           kinetic constant = i/100
           diffusional_exponent = j/100 # Diffusional exponent according to Korsmeyer Peppas
           burst = float(b)
           lag = (float(l))
           print(i)
           print(j)
           print("\n")
```

```
for timepoint in adjusted_paracetime:
           lagged timepoint = timepoint-lag if timepoint-lag >= 0 else 0
           currentconc = (kinetic_constant)*((lagged_timepoint)**diffusional_exponent)+burst
           bulkconc.append(currentconc)
         def regressioncoefficient():
                        # Calculation of the regression coefficient
           global regressionarray2
           bulkconc2 = np.array(bulkconc)
           # bulkconc2 = bulkconc.astype(float)
           # paracetHCl2 = paracetHCl.astype(float)
           # regression = np.corrcoef(paracet40ethanol, bulkconc2.astype(float))
           # regrestopass=float(regression[0,1])
           totalsum = 0
           for datapoint in range(len(adjusted_paracetime)):
             x add = (abs(adjusted comparison[datapoint]) - abs(bulkconc[datapoint]))**2
             totalsum = totalsum + x add
           regressionlist.append(([float(i),float(j), float(b), float(l), float(totalsum/res)]))
         regressioncoefficient()
# plot results
minRegression = (min([sublist[-1] for sublist in regressionlist]))
print(minRegression)
for sublist in regressionlist:
  if sublist[-1] == minRegression:
    bulkconc2 = []
    # bulkconc = m.Var(value=0, lb=0, ub=100) # Intermediate(bulksolubility/MediaVolumeGC)
    kinetic constant = sublist[0] / 100 # Kinetic constant for Korsmeyer Peppas
    diffusional_exponent = sublist[1] / 100 # Diffusional exponent according to Korsmeyer Peppas
    burst = sublist[2] # Burst release according to Korsmeyer Peppas
    lag = sublist[3] # lag time according to Korsmeyer Peppas
    print("Kinetic Constant " + (str(kinetic_constant)))
    print("Diffusional constant " + (str(diffusional exponent)))
    print("Burst release " + (str(burst)))
    print("Lag time " + (str(lag)))
    print("Determination coefficient " + (str(1-(sublist[-1]))))
    for timepoint2 in adjusted_paracetime:
      lagged_timepoint2 = timepoint2 - lag if timepoint2 - lag >= 0 else 0
      currentconc2 = kinetic_constant * (lagged_timepoint2 ** diffusional_exponent) + burst
      bulkconc2 = np.append(bulkconc2, currentconc2)
#bulkconc = np.delete(bulkconc, [0])
plt.figure(1)
plt.plot(adjusted_paracetime, bulkconc2, "b")
plt.plot(adjusted_paracetime, adjusted_comparison, "yo")
plt.plot(adjusted_paracetime, adjusted_paracetHCl, "bo")
# plt.plot(m.time, solubilityGC, "r")
# plt.plot(m.time, releasedifference, "y")
plt.xlabel("Time(min)")
plt.ylabel("Concentration(mg/L)")
plt.legend(["Parameter 1", "40% ethanol", "0% ethanol"]) #
plt.show()
plt.figure(2)
plt.plot([sublist[-5] for sublist in regressionlist], [sublist[-1] for sublist in regressionlist], "b")
# plt.plot(m.time, solubilityGC, "r")
# plt.plot(m.time, releasedifference, "y")
plt.xlabel("Time(min)")
```

```
plt.ylabel("Concentration(mg/L)")
  plt.legend(["Parameter 1", "40% ethanol", "0% ethanol"]) #
  plt.show()
def peppas sahlin():
  global results, pathabbreviation
  regressionlist = []
  adjust Korsmeyer peppas()
  for i in range(1, 5001, 10):
    for j in range(1, 5001, 10):
      for m in range(0, 1):
         for b in range(0, 1):
           for l in range(0, 120, 5):
             bulkconc = []
             #bulkconc = m.Var(value=0, lb=0, ub=100) #
Intermediate(bulksolubility/MediaVolumeGC)
             diffusion constant = i/100
                                           # Diffusion constant for Siepmann Peppas
             casell_constant = j/1000
                                          # Case-II part according to Siepmann Peppas
             exponent = exponent calculated[0] # m/100 # Diffusional exponent according to
Siepmann Peppas
             burst = float(b)
             lag = (float(I))
             for timepoint in adjusted paracetime:
               lagged_timepoint = timepoint-lag if timepoint-lag >= 0 else 0
               currentconc = ((diffusion constant) * (
                    (lagged_timepoint) ** exponent) + caseII_constant * lagged_timepoint ** (
                              2 * exponent) + burst)
               bulkconc.append(currentconc)
             """for timepoint in adjusted_paracetime:
               lagged timepoint = timepoint-lag if timepoint-lag >= 0 else 0
               currentconc = (diffusion_constant)*((lagged_timepoint)**exponent)+
casell constant*lagged timepoint**(2*exponent) + burst
               bulkconc.append(currentconc)"""
             def regressioncoefficient():
               global regressionarray2
               bulkconc2 = np.array(bulkconc)
               #bulkconc2 = bulkconc.astype(float)
               #paracetHCl2 = paracetHCl.astype(float)
               #regression = np.corrcoef(paracet40ethanol, bulkconc2.astype(float))
               # regrestopass=float(regression[0,1])
               totalsum = 0
               for datapoint in range(len(adjusted_paracetime)):
                  x_add = (abs(adjusted_comparison[datapoint]) - abs(bulkconc[datapoint]))**2
                  totalsum = totalsum + x_add
               regressionlist.append(([float(diffusion_constant),
                             float(casell_constant),
                             float(exponent),
                             float(b),
                             float(I),
                             float(totalsum/res)]))
             regressioncoefficient()
    # plot results
  minRegression = (min([sublist[-1] for sublist in regressionlist]))
```

```
print(minRegression)
```

```
for sublist in regressionlist:
    if sublist[-1] == minRegression:
      bulkconc2 = []
      # bulkconc = m.Var(value=0, lb=0, ub=100) # Intermediate(bulksolubility/MediaVolumeGC)
      diffusion constant = sublist[0] # Kinetic constant for Korsmeyer Peppas
      casell constant = sublist[1] # Diffusional exponent according to Korsmeyer Peppas
      exponent = sublist[2] # Exponent accodring to Siepmann Peppas
      burst = sublist[3] # Burst release according to Korsmeyer Peppas
      lag = sublist[4] # lag time according to Korsmeyer Peppas
      print("Diffusion Constant " + (str(diffusion_constant)))
      print("Exponent " + (str(exponent)))
      print("Case-II constant" + (str(caseII_constant)))
      print("Burst release " + (str(burst)))
      print("Lag time " + (str(lag)))
      print("Determination coefficient " + (str(1-(sublist[-1]))))
      determinationCoefficient = (str(1-(sublist[-1])))
      fickian_contribution = []
      fickian contribution totalamount = 0
      for timepoint in adjusted_paracetime:
        lagged_timepoint = timepoint - lag if timepoint - lag >= 0 else 0
        currentconc = (diffusion_constant) * (
               (lagged timepoint) ** exponent) + casell constant *
lagged timepoint**(2*exponent)+burst
        bulkconc2.append(currentconc)
        lagged_timepoint = timepoint - lag if timepoint - lag >= 0 else 0
         fickian_contributionparameter =
1/(1+casell constant/diffusion constant*lagged timepoint**exponent)
        fickian_contribution.append(fickian_contributionparameter*100)
        current index = adjusted paracetime.index(timepoint)
         if timepoint >= lag and timepoint !=0:
           fickian_contribution_add=(timepoint-adjusted_paracetime[current_index-1])*\
((fickian_contribution[current_index]+fickian_contribution[current_index-1])/2)
           fickian_contribution_totalamount =
fickian_contribution_totalamount+fickian_contribution_add
      fickian contribution totalpercent =
fickian contribution totalamount/(adjusted paracetime[-1]*100)
  #bulkconc = np.delete(bulkconc, [0])
  try:
    print("Total percent Diffusion: "+ str(fickian_contribution_totalpercent))
  except UnboundLocalError:
    print("this is the sublist")
    print(sublist[-1])
    determinationCoefficient = 0
    fickian_contribution_totalpercent = 0
    print(pathabbreviation)
  results["Ethanol content"].append(etohcont)
  results["Sample name"].append(pathabbreviation)
  results["Diffusion-Constant"].append(diffusion_constant)
  results["Exponent"].append(exponent)
  results["Case-II-constant"].append(caseII_constant)
  results["Burst-release"].append(burst)
  results["Lag-time"].append(lag)
```

```
results["Determination-coefficient"].append(float(determinationCoefficient))
  results["Total-percent-Diffusion"].append(fickian contribution totalpercent)
  if (casell_constant) == "":
    StopIteration
    print(pathabbreviation)
def korsmeyer peppas analytical():
  regressionlist = []
  adjust_Korsmeyer_peppas()
  for i in range(100,151):
    for j in range(41,101):
       for b in range(0,21):
         for l in range(0,21):
           bulkconc = []
           #bulkconc = m.Var(value=0, lb=0, ub=100) #
Intermediate(bulksolubility/MediaVolumeGC)
           kinetic_constant = i/100
                                       # Kinetic constant for Korsmeyer Peppas
           diffusional exponent = j/100 # Diffusional exponent according to Korsmeyer Peppas
           burst = float(b)
           lag = (float(I))
           print(i)
           print(j)
           print("\n")
           for timepoint in adjusted paracetime:
             lagged_timepoint = timepoint-lag if timepoint-lag >= 0 else 0
             currentconc = (kinetic_constant)*((lagged_timepoint)**diffusional_exponent)+burst
             bulkconc.append(currentconc)
           def regressioncoefficient():
             global regressionarray2
             bulkconc2 = np.array(bulkconc)
             #bulkconc2 = bulkconc.astype(float)
             #paracetHCl2 = paracetHCl.astype(float)
             #regression = np.corrcoef(paracet40ethanol, bulkconc2.astype(float))
             # regrestopass=float(regression[0,1])
             totalsum = 0
             for datapoint in range(len(adjusted_paracetime)):
               x_add = (abs(adjusted_comparison[datapoint]) - abs(bulkconc[datapoint]))**2
               totalsum = totalsum + x add
             regressionlist.append(([float(i),float(j), float(b), float(l), float(totalsum/res)]))
           regressioncoefficient()
  # plot results
  minRegression = (min([sublist[-1] for sublist in regressionlist]))
  print(minRegression)
  for sublist in regressionlist:
    if sublist[-1] == minRegression:
       bulkconc2 = []
       # bulkconc = m.Var(value=0, lb=0, ub=100) # Intermediate(bulksolubility/MediaVolumeGC)
       kinetic constant = sublist[0] / 100 # Kinetic constant for Korsmeyer Peppas
       diffusional_exponent = sublist[1] / 100 # Diffusional exponent according to Korsmeyer Peppas
       burst = sublist[2] # Burst release according to Korsmeyer Peppas
       lag = sublist[3] # lag time according to Korsmeyer Peppas
       print("Kinetic Constant " + (str(kinetic_constant)))
       print("Diffusional constant " + (str(diffusional_exponent)))
       print("Burst release " + (str(burst)))
```

```
print("Lag time " + (str(lag)))
       print("Determination coefficient " + (str(1-(sublist[-1]))))
       for timepoint2 in adjusted_paracetime:
         lagged_timepoint2 = timepoint2 - lag if timepoint2 - lag >= 0 else 0
         currentconc2 = (kinetic constant) * ((lagged timepoint2) ** diffusional exponent) + burst
         bulkconc2 = np.append(bulkconc2, currentconc2)
  #bulkconc = np.delete(bulkconc, [0])
  plt.figure(1)
  plt.plot(adjusted_paracetime, bulkconc2, "b")
  plt.plot(adjusted_paracetime, adjusted_comparison, "yo")
  plt.plot(adjusted_paracetime, adjusted_paracetHCl, "bo")
  # plt.plot(m.time, solubilityGC, "r")
  # plt.plot(m.time, releasedifference, "y")
  plt.xlabel("Time(min)")
  plt.ylabel("Concentration(mg/L)")
  plt.legend(["Parameter 1", "40% ethanol", "0% ethanol"]) #
  plt.show()
  plt.figure(2)
  plt.plot([sublist[-5] for sublist in regressionlist], [sublist[-1] for sublist in regressionlist], "b")
  # plt.plot(m.time, solubilityGC, "r")
  # plt.plot(m.time, releasedifference, "y")
  plt.xlabel("Time(min)")
  plt.ylabel("Concentration(mg/L)")
  plt.legend(["Parameter 1", "40% ethanol", "0% ethanol"]) #
  plt.show()
  def peppas_sahlin():
    regressionlist = []
    adjust_Korsmeyer_peppas()
    for i in range(101, 151, 1):
       for j in range(0, 101, 1):
         for m in range(0, 1):
           for b in range(0, 11):
             for l in range(0, 11):
                bulkconc = []
                # bulkconc = m.Var(value=0, lb=0, ub=100) #
Intermediate(bulksolubility/MediaVolumeGC)
               diffusion_constant = i / 100 # Diffusion constant for Siepmann Peppas
               casell constant = j / 100 # Case-II part according to Siepmann Peppas
               exponent = exponent calculated[
                  0] # m/100 # Diffusional exponent according to Siepmann Peppas
                burst = float(b)
               lag = (float(l))
                print(i)
               print(j)
                print("\n")
               for timepoint in adjusted paracetime:
                  lagged_timepoint = timepoint - lag if timepoint - lag >= 0 else 0
                  currentconc = (diffusion constant) * (
                         (lagged timepoint) ** exponent) + casell constant * lagged timepoint ** (
2 * exponent) + burst
                  bulkconc.append(currentconc)
               def regressioncoefficient():
                  global regressionarray2
```

bulkconc2 = np.array(bulkconc)

```
# bulkconc2 = bulkconc.astype(float)
                  # paracetHCl2 = paracetHCl.astype(float)
                  # regression = np.corrcoef(paracet40ethanol, bulkconc2.astype(float))
                  # regrestopass=float(regression[0,1])
                  totalsum = 0
                  for datapoint in range(len(adjusted paracetime)):
                    x_add = (abs(adjusted_comparison[datapoint]) - abs(bulkconc[datapoint])) ** 2
                    totalsum = totalsum + x add
                  regressionlist.append(([float(i),
                               float(j),
                               float(exponent),
                               float(b),
                               float(I),
                               float(totalsum / res)]))
                regressioncoefficient()
      # plot results
    minRegression = (min([sublist[-1] for sublist in regressionlist]))
    print(minRegression)
    for sublist in regressionlist:
       if sublist[-1] == minRegression:
         bulkconc2 = []
         # bulkconc = m.Var(value=0, lb=0, ub=100) # Intermediate(bulksolubility/MediaVolumeGC)
         diffusion constant = sublist[0] / 100 # Kinetic constant for Korsmeyer Peppas
         caseII_constant = sublist[1] / 100 # Diffusional exponent according to Korsmeyer Peppas
         exponent = sublist[2] # Exponent accodring to Siepmann Peppas
         burst = sublist[3] # Burst release according to Korsmeyer Peppas
         lag = sublist[4] # lag time according to Korsmeyer Peppas
         print("Diffusion Constant " + (str(diffusion constant)))
         print("Exponent " + (str(exponent)))
         print("Case-II constant" + (str(caseII constant)))
         print("Burst release " + (str(burst)))
         print("Lag time " + (str(lag)))
         print("Determination coefficient " + (str(1 - (sublist[-1]))))
         fickian_contribution = []
         fickian_contribution_totalamount = 0
         for timepoint in adjusted_paracetime:
           lagged timepoint = timepoint - lag if timepoint - lag >= 0 else 0
           currentconc = (diffusion constant) * (
                (lagged_timepoint) ** exponent) + casell_constant * lagged_timepoint ** (
                          2 * exponent) + burst
           bulkconc2.append(currentconc)
           fickian contributionparameter = 1 / (
                  1 + caseII_constant / diffusion_constant * lagged_timepoint ** exponent)
           fickian_contribution.append(fickian_contributionparameter * 100)
           current_index = adjusted_paracetime.index(timepoint)
           if timepoint != 0.0:
             fickian contribution add = (timepoint - adjusted paracetime[current index - 1]) ^{\circ}
                             ((fickian contribution[current index] + fickian contribution[
                               current_index - 1]) / 2)
             fickian_contribution_totalamount = fickian_contribution_totalamount +
fickian_contribution_add
         fickian_contribution_totalpercent = fickian_contribution_totalamount /
(adjusted_paracetime[-1] * 100)
    # bulkconc = np.delete(bulkconc, [0])
```

print("Total percent Diffusion: " + str(fickian\_contribution\_totalpercent)) plt.figure(1) plt.plot(adjusted\_paracetime, bulkconc2, "b") plt.plot(adjusted\_paracetime, adjusted\_comparison, "yo") plt.plot(adjusted paracetime, fickian contribution, "g") # plt.plot(m.time, solubilityGC, "r") # plt.plot(m.time, releasedifference, "y") plt.xlabel("Time(min)") plt.ylabel("Concentration(mg/L)") plt.legend(["Parameter 1", "Comparison parameter", "Fickian diffusion contribution"]) # plt.show() plt.figure(2) plt.plot([sublist[-5] for sublist in regressionlist], [sublist[-1] for sublist in regressionlist], "b") # plt.plot(m.time, solubilityGC, "r") # plt.plot(m.time, releasedifference, "y") plt.xlabel("Time(min)") plt.ylabel("Concentration(mg/L)") plt.legend(["Parameter 1", "40% ethanol", "0% ethanol"]) # plt.show() def givePowerLaw(): global Height, Diameter, Radius, timefrage, timevalues, Comparison parameter, results, etohcont DataFromCsv() timevalues = first col2 Diameter = 11.07 Height = 4.54timeframe = len(timevalues) m.time = timevalues Radius = Diameter / 2 Comparison parameter = np.array(sec col2) # Parameter to evaluate #korsmeyer\_peppas\_analytical() """results = {} results["Diffusion-Constant"] = ["Diffusion-Constant"] results["Exponent"] = ["Exponent"] results["Case-II-constant"] = ["Case-II-constant"] results["Burst-release"] = ["Burst-release"] results["Lag-time"] = ["Lag-time"] results["Determination-coefficient"] = ["Determination-coefficient"] results["Total-percent-Diffusion"] = ["Total-percent-Diffusion"] print(results)""" if first col2[1] != "": etohcont = "40" peppas\_sahlin() timevalues = third col2 Comparison\_parameter = np.array(fourth\_col2) # Parameter to evaluate if third col2[1] != "": etohcont = "20" peppas\_sahlin() timevalues = fifth col2 Comparison\_parameter = np.array(sixth\_col2) # Parameter to evaluate etohcont = "0" peppas\_sahlin() with open('output.csv', 'w') as csvfile: header\_key = results.keys() new\_val = csv.DictWriter(csvfile, fieldnames=header\_key, delimiter=";")

```
new_val.writeheader()
for new_k in results:
    new_val.writerow({"Diffusion-Constant": new_k, "Diffusion-Constant": results[new_k]})
"""
"Diffusion-Constant"].append(diffusion_constant)
results["Exponent"].append(exponent)
results["Case-II-constant"].append(caseII_constant)
results["Burst-release"].append(burst)
results["Lag-time"].append(lag)
results["Determination-coefficient"].append(str(determinationCoefficient))
results["Total-percent-Diffusion"]
```

for row in results.keys():

```
sublist = [results[row][0],results[row][1],results[row][2],results[row][3]]
sublisting = " ".join([str(i) for i in sublist])
sublisting2 = str(sublisting.replace(".",","))
sublisting3 = list(sublisting2.split(" "))
csvwriter.writerow(sublisting3)"""
```

### 7.2 Appendix B – Correlation matrix of variables used in the MLR

The term NaN refers to data that did not appear together in any publication and thus cannot be correlated.

Variable	Calcium stearate	Carbopol 971 P NF	Carbopol 974 P	Ethylcellulose	Eudragit RS	Glycerol Dibehenate	Guar øum	HPC
Calcium stearate	1.00	-0.06	-0.04	-0.09	-0.08	-0.01	0.11	-0.04
Carbopol 971 P NF	-0.06	1.00	-0.04	-0.10	-0.08	-0.08	-0.05	-0.04
Carbopol 974 P	-0.04	-0.04	1.00	-0.08	-0.06	-0.07	-0.04	-0.03
Ethylcellulose	-0.09	-0.10	-0.08	1.00	-0.13	-0.14	0.25	-0.06
Eudragit RS	-0.08	-0.08	-0.06	-0.13	1.00	-0.12	-0.07	-0.05
Glycerol Dibehenate	-0.01	-0.08	-0.07	-0.14	-0.12	1.00	-0.08	-0.06
Guar gum	0.11	-0.05	-0.04	0.25	-0.07	-0.08	1.00	-0.03
HPC	-0.04	-0.04	-0.03	-0.06	-0.05	-0.06	-0.03	1.00
НРМС	-0.09	-0.09	-0.07	-0.16	-0.13	-0.08	-0.09	-0.06
Hydroxypropylstarch	-0.05	-0.05	-0.04	-0.09	0.65	-0.08	-0.05	-0.04
Kollidon SR	-0.06	-0.06	-0.05	-0.11	-0.09	0.08	-0.06	-0.04
Lactose	-0.06	-0.02	-0.05	-0.10	-0.08	0.10	-0.06	-0.04
Mannitol	-0.03	-0.03	-0.02	-0.05	-0.04	-0.05	-0.03	0.80
MCC	-0.13	-0.10	-0.10	-0.22	-0.13	0.41	-0.12	-0.08
PEO	-0.05	-0.05	-0.04	-0.09	-0.08	-0.08	0.31	0.28
PVA	-0.05	-0.05	-0.04	-0.08	0.34	-0.06	-0.05	-0.03
Povidone	-0.03	-0.03	-0.03	-0.06	-0.05	-0.05	-0.03	-0.02
Propylenglycol alginate	-0.08	-0.08	-0.06	-0.13	0.90	-0.12	-0.07	-0.05
Talc	-0.05	-0.05	-0.04	-0.08	-0.07	-0.07	-0.05	-0.03
Titanium dioxide	0.52	-0.03	-0.02	-0.05	-0.04	-0.05	0.22	-0.02
Xanthan gum	-0.05	-0.05	-0.04	-0.09	-0.07	-0.08	-0.05	-0.03
Size[mm]	-0.32	0.04	-0.02	-0.59	0.10	0.32	-0.29	0.08
Solubility release								
media[g/L]	0.38	0.07	0.07	-0.13	-0.10	0.01	0.01	-0.01
	-0.08	-0.12	-0.15	-0.18	-0.02	-0.03	-0.21	-0.01
40% EtOH solubility[g/L]	0.07	0.11	0.04	-0.27	-0.09	0.11	-0.10	0.04
Solubility ratio 40	-0.03	-0.03	-0.03	-0.06	-0.05	-0.05	-0.03	-0.02
Drug loading (%)	-0.34	0.45	0.37	0.32	0.09	-0.33	-0.01	-0.26
[MPa]	NaN	0 10	0.10	NaN	NaN	_0 10	NaN	NaN
Breaking Force [N]	NaN	-0.22	NaN	NaN	NaN	0.13	NaN	NaN
Preparation[Melted]	0.35	-0.22		0.58	-0.25	-0.13	0.33	
Tablet type	0.55	0.02	0.14	0.50	0.25	0.15	0.55	0.25
[Coated=1;matrix=0]	-0.15	-0.15	-0.12	0.67	-0.20	0.17	0.12	-0.10
F2 40	-0.10	0.06	-0.09	0.22	-0.07	0.06	0.13	0.19
ASD 40	0.00	-0.09	-0.03	-0.16	0.03	-0.11	-0.10	-0.07
F2 20	0.19	0.02	-0.15	0.09	-0.19	0.14	0.12	NaN
ASD 20	-0.11	-0.09	-0.02	-0.07	0.12	-0.10	-0.09	NaN
MDT 40	-0.12	0.08	-0.04	-0.11	-0.17	0.12	-0.07	-0.07
MDT 20	0.03	0.14	-0.06	-0.02	-0.11	0.03	-0.14	NaN
MDT 0	0.16	0.01	-0.09	-0.06	-0.16	0.05	-0.07	-0.08
MDT 40/ratio	-0.21	0.17	0.13	-0.12	-0.10	0.09	-0.02	0.01
MDT 20/ratio	-0.08	0.27	0.26	0.01	-0.13	-0.36	0.00	NaN
Variable	HPMC	Hydroxypro pyl starch	Kollidon SR	Lactose	Mannitol	MCC	PEO	PVA
---------------------	-------	--------------------------	-------------	---------	----------	-------	-------	-------
Calcium stearate	-0.09	-0.05	-0.06	-0.06	-0.03	-0.13	-0.05	-0.05
Carbopol 971 P NF	-0.09	-0.05	-0.06	-0.02	-0.03	-0.10	-0.05	-0.05
Carbopol 974 P	-0.07	-0.04	-0.05	-0.05	-0.02	-0.10	-0.04	-0.04
Ethylcellulose	-0.16	-0.09	-0.11	-0.10	-0.05	-0.22	-0.09	-0.08
Eudragit RS	-0.13	0.65	-0.09	-0.08	-0.04	-0.13	-0.08	0.34
Glycerol Dibehenate	-0.08	-0.08	0.08	0.10	-0.05	0.41	-0.08	-0.06
Guar gum	-0.09	-0.05	-0.06	-0.06	-0.03	-0.12	0.31	-0.05
HPC	-0.06	-0.04	-0.04	-0.04	0.80	-0.08	0.28	-0.03
НРМС	1.00	-0.09	-0.09	0.35	-0.05	0.32	-0.09	-0.08
Hydroxypropylstarch	-0.09	1.00	-0.06	-0.06	-0.03	-0.09	-0.05	-0.05
Kollidon SR	-0.09	-0.06	1.00	-0.07	-0.03	0.34	-0.06	-0.04
Lactose	0.35	-0.06	-0.07	1.00	-0.03	-0.13	-0.06	-0.05
Mannitol	-0.05	-0.03	-0.03	-0.03	1.00	-0.07	0.24	-0.03
MCC	0.32	-0.09	0.34	-0.13	-0.07	1.00	-0.02	0.11
PEO	-0.09	-0.05	-0.06	-0.06	0.24	-0.02	1.00	-0.05
PVA	-0.08	-0.05	-0.04	-0.05	-0.03	0.11	-0.05	1.00
Povidone	0.04	-0.03	0.05	-0.03	-0.02	0.29	-0.03	0.45
Propylenglycol								
alginate	-0.13	0.67	-0.09	-0.08	-0.04	-0.12	-0.08	0.36
	0.55	-0.05	-0.05	0.33	-0.03	0.11	-0.05	-0.04
litanium dioxide	-0.05	-0.03	-0.03	-0.03	-0.02	-0.07	-0.03	-0.03
Xanthan gum	-0.09	-0.05	-0.06	-0.06	-0.03	-0.12	0.04	-0.05
Size[mm]	0.23	0.07	0.30	0.11	0.07	0.48	-0.08	0.08
media[g/L]	-0.06	-0.07	-0.02	-0.09	-0.01	-0.03	-0.04	-0.05
	0.00	-0.07	-0.02	0.05	-0.01	0.05	-0.04	-0.03
40% EtOH	0.50	-0.02	-0.02	0.29	-0.01	0.07	-0.01	-0.02
solubility[g/L]	0.24	-0.06	0.07	0.02	0.03	0.12	-0.04	-0.02
Solubility ratio 40	0.26	-0.03	-0.04	0.51	-0.02	-0.06	-0.03	-0.03
Drug loading (%)	-0.17	0.08	-0.24	-0.10	-0.22	-0.36	-0.22	0.04
Compression								
strength [MPa]	0.14	NaN	-0.21	0.12	NaN	-0.31	0.13	NaN
Breaking Force [N]	0.02	NaN	-0.23	0.06	NaN	0.58	-0.12	-0.23
Preparation[Melted]	0.29	-0.18	-0.20	-0.09	-0.20	0.38	-0.24	0.16
Tablet type								
[Coated=1;matrix=0]	-0.21	-0.15	0.30	-0.15	-0.08	0.04	-0.14	-0.11
F2 40	-0.02	-0.06	-0.31	0.01	0.11	-0.09	0.06	0.03
ASD 40	-0.06	0.02	0.23	-0.05	-0.06	-0.01	-0.08	-0.04
F2 20	0.07	NaN	NaN	0.08	NaN	0.09	NaN	NaN
ASD 20	-0.10	NaN	NaN	-0.10	NaN	-0.08	NaN	NaN
MDT 40	-0.04	-0.12	0.67	-0.08	-0.06	0.22	-0.05	-0.09
MDT 20	-0.08	NaN	NaN	-0.22	NaN	-0.13	NaN	NaN
MDT 0	0.03	-0.12	0.17	-0.08	-0.08	-0.01	-0.08	-0.10
MDT 40/ratio	-0.07	-0.06	0.61	0.01	0.02	0.30	0.06	-0.01
MDT 20/ratio	-0.02	NaN	-0.52	0.08	NaN	-0.39	NaN	NaN

Variable	Povidone	Propylenglyc ol-col alginate	Talc	Titanium dioxide	Xanthan gum	Size[mm]	Solubility dissolution media[g/L]	log D
Calcium stearate	-0.03	-0.08	-0.05	0.52	-0.05	-0.32	0.38	-0.08
Carbopol 971 P NF	-0.03	-0.08	-0.05	-0.03	-0.05	0.04	0.07	-0.12
Carbopol 974 P	-0.03	-0.06	-0.04	-0.02	-0.04	-0.02	0.07	-0.15
Ethylcellulose	-0.06	-0.13	-0.08	-0.05	-0.09	-0.59	-0.13	-0.18
Eudragit RS	-0.05	0.90	-0.07	-0.04	-0.07	0.10	-0.10	-0.02
Glycerol Dibehenate	-0.05	-0.12	-0.07	-0.05	-0.08	0.32	0.01	-0.03
Guar gum	-0.03	-0.07	-0.05	0.22	-0.05	-0.29	0.01	-0.21
HPC	-0.02	-0.05	-0.03	-0.02	-0.03	0.08	-0.01	-0.01
HPMC	0.04	-0.13	0.55	-0.05	-0.09	0.23	-0.06	0.36
Hydroxypropylstarch	-0.03	0.67	-0.05	-0.03	-0.05	0.07	-0.07	-0.02
Kollidon SR	0.05	-0.09	-0.05	-0.03	-0.06	0.30	-0.02	-0.02
Lactose	-0.03	-0.08	0.33	-0.03	-0.06	0.11	-0.09	0.29
Mannitol	-0.02	-0.04	-0.03	-0.02	-0.03	0.07	-0.01	-0.01
MCC	0.29	-0.12	0.11	-0.07	-0.12	0.48	-0.03	0.07
PEO	-0.03	-0.08	-0.05	-0.03	0.04	-0.08	-0.04	-0.01
PVA	0.45	0.36	-0.04	-0.03	-0.05	0.08	-0.05	-0.02
Povidone	1.00	-0.05	-0.03	-0.02	-0.03	0.05	0.00	0.01
Propylenglycol								
alginate	-0.05	1.00	-0.07	-0.04	-0.07	0.10	-0.10	-0.02
Talc	-0.03	-0.07	1.00	-0.03	-0.05	0.07	-0.06	0.30
Titanium dioxide	-0.02	-0.04	-0.03	1.00	-0.03	-0.17	0.33	-0.13
Xanthan gum	-0.03	-0.07	-0.05	-0.03	1.00	-0.13	-0.12	-0.09
Size[mm]	0.05	0.10	0.07	-0.17	-0.13	1.00	-0.04	0.24
Solubility dissolution								
media[g/L]	0.00	-0.10	-0.06	0.33	-0.12	-0.04	1.00	-0.29
log D	0.01	-0.02	0.30	-0.13	-0.09	0.24	-0.29	1.00
40% EtOH	0.05	0.00	0.20	0.04	0 17	0.15	0.72	0.07
Solubility ratio 40	0.05	-0.09	0.20	0.04	-0.17	0.15	0.72	-0.07
Drug loading (%)	-0.01	-0.05	-0.01	-0.01	-0.05	0.05	-0.09	0.00
Compression	0.00	0.10	-0.03	-0.19	0.08	-0.23	-0.10	-0.30
strength [MPa]	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	-0.16	-0.04	0.07	-0.05
Breaking Force [N]	-0.41	NaN	NaN	NaN	NaN	0.45	-0.09	0.03
Preparation[Melted]	-0.11	-0.25	-0.15	0.18	-0.13	-0.57	-0.06	0.17
Tablet type	0.11	0.25	0.10	0.20	0.10	0.07	0.00	0.17
[Coated=1;matrix=0]	-0.09	-0.21	-0.13	-0.08	-0.14	-0.31	-0.14	-0.07
F2 40	-0.04	-0.04	-0.11	0.00	0.22	-0.07	-0.02	-0.14
ASD 40	0.00	-0.02	-0.03	-0.05	-0.07	0.02	-0.06	0.29
F2 20	NaN	NaN	0.05	0.08	NaN	-0.03	0.07	-0.26
ASD 20	NaN	NaN	-0.08	-0.06	NaN	0.16	-0.15	0.51
MDT 40	-0.04	-0.16	-0.07	-0.08	-0.05	0.36	-0.06	0.04
MDT 20	NaN	NaN	-0.09	-0.14	NaN	-0.07	-0.20	0.05
MDT 0	-0.08	-0.16	-0.03	-0.08	-0.05	0.07	-0.11	0.25
MDT 40/ratio	0.13	-0.10	-0.09	-0.07	-0.04	0.39	0.09	-0.28
MDT 20/ratio	NaN	NaN	0.02	-0.01	NaN	-0.16	0.06	-0.26

Variable	40% EtOH solubility[g/L]	Solubility ratio 40	Drug loading (%)	Compression strength [MPa]	Breaking Force [N]	Preparation [Melted]	Tablet type [Coated=1; matrix=0]	F2 40
Calcium stearate	0.07	-0.03	-0.34	NaN	NaN	0.35	-0.15	-0.10
Carbopol 971 P NF	0.11	-0.03	0.45	0.19	-0.22	-0.02	-0.15	0.06
Carbopol 974 P	0.04	-0.03	0.37	0.19	NaN	-0.14	-0.12	-0.09
Ethvlcellulose	-0.27	-0.06	0.32	NaN	NaN	0.58	0.67	0.22
Eudragit RS	-0.09	-0.05	0.02	NaN	NaN	-0.25	-0.20	-0.07
Glycerol Dibebenate	0.05	-0.05	-0.33	_0.19	0.47	-0.13	0.20	0.07
Guargum	-0.10	-0.03	-0.01	NaN	NaN	0.13	0.17	0.00
HPC	-0.10	-0.03	-0.01	NaN	NaN	0.33	0.12 -0.10	0.13
нрмс	0.04	-0.02	-0.20	0.14		0.25	0.10	0.19
Hydroxypropylstarch	0.24	0.20	-0.17	0.14	U.UZ	-0.29	-0.21	-0.02
Kollidon SP	-0.06	-0.03	0.08			-0.18	-0.15	-0.06
	0.07	-0.04	-0.24	-0.21	-0.23	-0.20	0.30	-0.31
Laciose	0.02	0.51	-0.10	0.12	0.06	-0.09	-0.15	0.01
Mannitol	0.03	-0.02	-0.22	NaN	NaN	0.20	-0.08	0.11
MCC	0.12	-0.06	-0.36	-0.31	0.58	-0.38	0.04	-0.09
PEO	-0.04	-0.03	-0.22	0.13	-0.12	0.24	-0.14	0.06
PVA	-0.02	-0.03	0.04	NaN	-0.23	-0.16	-0.11	0.03
Povidone	0.05	-0.01	0.00	NaN	-0.41	-0.11	-0.09	-0.04
Propylenglycol	0.00	0.05	0.10	NoN	NoN	0.25	0.21	0.04
aiginate	-0.09	-0.05	0.10	NdN	Nan	-0.25	-0.21	-0.04
Titanium diavida	0.28	-0.01	-0.05	Ndin	Ndin	-0.15	-0.13	-0.11
Yanthan gum	0.04	-0.01	-0.19	Nan	Nan	0.18	-0.08	0.00
	-0.17	-0.03	0.08	-0.16	NaN	-0.13	-0.14	0.22
Size[mm]	0.15	0.05	-0.25	-0.04	0.45	-0.57	-0.31	-0.07
Solubility dissolution	0.72	0.00	0.10	0.07	0.00	0.06	0.14	0.02
	0.72	-0.09	-0.18	0.07	-0.09	0.06	-0.14	-0.02
	-0.07	0.60	-0.30	-0.05	0.03	-0.17	-0.07	-0.14
solubility[g/L]	1 00	-0 13	-0 15	-0 12	-0.03	-0 14	-0 11	-0.09
Solubility ratio 40	-0.13	1 00	-0.14	0.33	0.11	-0.07	-0.08	-0.04
Drug loading (%)	-0.15	-0.14	1 00	0.55	-0.46	0.01	0.10	0.04
Compression	0.15	0.14	1.00	0.10	0.40	0.01	0.10	0.04
strength [MPa]	-0.12	0.33	0.18	1.00	-0.89	0.25	-0.26	-0.07
Breaking Force [N]	-0.03	0.11	-0.46	-0.89	1.00	-0.22	NaN	0.40
Preparation[Melted]	-0.14	-0.07	0.01	0.25	-0.22	1.00	0.27	-0.21
Tablet type	0.2.	0.07	0.01	0.20	0.22	2.00	0.27	0.22
[Coated=1;matrix=0]	-0.11	-0.08	0.10	-0.26	NaN	0.27	1.00	-0.04
F2 40	-0.09	-0.04	0.04	-0.07	0.40	0.21	-0.04	1.00
ASD 40	0.01	0.12	-0.09	-0.13	-0.42	-0.21	0.07	-0.69
F2 20	0.17	-0.35	-0.22	-0.25	0.24	0.23	-0.29	0.50
ASD 20	-0.20	0.56	0.14	0.33	-0.30	-0.18	0.16	-0.42
MDT 40	0.05	-0.03	-0.15	-0.04	-0.36	-0.17	0.20	-0.02
MDT 20	-0.03	-0.10	0.05	0.21	-0 50	0.05	-0.06	0.23
MDT 0	0.00	0.03	-0 17	0.02	-0.30	0.00	0.13	-0.01
MDT 40/ratio	0.00	-0.02	-0.01	0.02	-0.20	-0.10	-0.02	-0.07
MDT 20/ratio	0.02	-0.15	0.49	0.35	0.05	0.17	-0.66	0.28
-,	0.02	0.10	5.15	5.55	5.55	5.17	0.00	5.25

Variable	ASD 40	F2 20	ASD 20	MDT 40	MDT 20	MDT 0	MDT 40/ratio	MDT 20/ratio
Calcium stearate	0.00	0.19	-0.11	-0.12	0.03	0.16	-0.21	-0.08
Carbopol 971 P NF	-0.09	0.02	-0.09	0.08	0.14	0.01	0.17	0.27
Carbopol 974 P	-0.03	-0.15	-0.02	-0.04	-0.06	-0.09	0.13	0.26
Ethylcellulose	-0.16	0.09	-0.07	-0.11	-0.02	-0.06	-0.12	0.01
Eudragit RS	0.03	-0.19	0.12	-0.17	-0.11	-0.16	-0.10	-0.13
Glycerol Dibehenate	-0.11	0.14	-0.10	0.12	0.03	0.05	0.09	-0.36
Guar gum	-0.10	0.12	-0.09	-0.07	-0.14	-0.07	-0.02	0.00
HPC	-0.07	NaN	NaN	-0.07	NaN	-0.08	0.01	NaN
НРМС	-0.06	0.07	-0.10	-0.04	-0.08	0.03	-0.07	-0.02
Hydroxypropylstarch	0.02	NaN	NaN	-0.12	NaN	-0.12	-0.06	NaN
Kollidon SR	0.23	NaN	NaN	0.67	NaN	0.17	0.61	-0.52
Lactose	-0.05	0.08	-0.10	-0.08	-0.22	-0.08	0.01	0.08
Mannitol	-0.06	NaN	NaN	-0.06	NaN	-0.08	0.02	NaN
МСС	-0.01	0.09	-0.08	0.22	-0.13	-0.01	0.30	-0.39
PEO	-0.08	NaN	NaN	-0.05	NaN	-0.08	0.06	NaN
PVA	-0.04	NaN	NaN	-0.09	NaN	-0.10	-0.01	NaN
Povidone	0.00	NaN	NaN	-0.04	NaN	-0.08	0.13	NaN
Propylenglycol alginate	-0.02	NaN	NaN	-0.16	NaN	-0.16	-0.10	NaN
Talc	-0.03	0.05	-0.08	-0.07	-0.09	-0.03	-0.09	0.02
Titanium dioxide	-0.05	0.08	-0.06	-0.08	-0.14	-0.08	-0.07	-0.01
Xanthan gum	-0.07	NaN	NaN	-0.05	NaN	-0.05	-0.04	NaN
Size[mm]	0.02	-0.03	0.16	0.36	-0.07	0.07	0.39	-0.16
Solubility dissolution								
media[g/L]	-0.06	0.07	-0.15	-0.06	-0.20	-0.11	0.09	0.06
log D	0.29	-0.26	0.51	0.04	0.05	0.25	-0.28	-0.26
40% EtOH solubility[g/L]	0.01	0.17	-0.20	0.05	-0.03	0.00	0.09	0.02
Solubility ratio 40	0.12	-0.35	0.56	-0.03	-0.10	0.03	-0.08	-0.15
Drug loading (%)	-0.09	-0.22	0.14	-0.15	0.05	-0.17	-0.01	0.49
Compression strength								
[MPa]	-0.13	-0.25	0.33	-0.04	0.21	0.02	0.03	0.35
Breaking Force [N]	-0.42	0.24	-0.30	-0.36	-0.50	-0.30	-0.20	0.05
Preparation[Melted]	0.21	-0.23	-0.18	0.17	0.05	0.00	-0.10	0.17
Tablet type								
[Coated=1;matrix=0]	0.07	-0.29	0.16	0.20	-0.06	0.13	-0.03	-0.66
F2 40	-0.69	0.50	-0.42	-0.02	0.23	-0.01	-0.07	0.28
ASD 40	1.00	-0.45	0.77	0.03	-0.25	0.08	-0.09	-0.40
F2 20	-0.45	1.00	-0.66	0.25	0.36	0.14	0.12	0.17
ASD 20	0.77	-0.66	1.00	-0.23	-0.26	0.06	-0.31	-0.49
MDT 40	0.03	0.25	-0.23	1.00	0.70	0.64	0.52	-0.35
MDT 20	-0.25	0.36	-0.26	0.70	1.00	0.73	-0.06	0.20
MDT 0	0.08	0.14	0.06	0.64	0.73	1.00	-0.14	-0.39
MDT 40/ratio	-0.09	0.12	-0.31	0.52	-0.06	-0.14	1.00	0.09
MDT 20/ratio	-0.40	0.17	-0.49	-0.35	0.20	-0.39	0.09	1.00

Variable	Aerosil	Copovidone	Dibutylsebacate	Magnesium stearate	Stearic acid	Weight[mg]	Height[mm]	20% EtOH solubility[g/L]	Coating level[%]
Aerosil	1.00	0.88	0.75	0.99	0.67	-0.01	0.21	0.07	-0.27
Calcium stearate	0.01	-0.02	-0.04	0.00	-0.05	0.12	-0.24	0.17	-0.11
Carbopol 971 P NF	0.16	0.11	0.07	0.17	0.05	-0.08	0.60	0.09	-0.11
Carbopol 974 P	0.10	0.07	0.04	0.12	0.02	-0.22	NaN	0.06	-0.09
Copovidone	0.88	1.00	0.63	0.88	0.53	-0.31	NaN	-0.09	-0.16
Dibutylsebacate	0.75	0.63	1.00	0.73	0.44	0.39	-0.49	-0.27	0.97
Ethylcellulose	0.33	0.25	0.84	0.31	0.13	0.39	-0.54	-0.22	0.99
Eudragit RS	0.19	0.60	0.06	0.20	0.03	-0.30	-0.09	-0.09	-0.16
Glycerol Dibehenate	0.14	0.05	0.00	0.10	0.51	0.13	-0.11	0.07	-0.11
Guar gum	0.64	0.54	0.62	0.62	0.38	0.31	-0.12	-0.07	0.26
НРС	0.02	0.00	-0.02	0.14	-0.02	-0.06	0.19	0.02	-0.07
НРМС	0.14	0.05	0.00	0.14	0.02	-0.02	0.48	0.03	-0.18
Hydroxypropylstarch	0.54	0.74	0.36	0.54	0.30	-0.21	NaN	-0.06	-0.11
Kollidon SR	0.09	0.02	-0.01	0.05	0.61	0.12	NaN	0.03	-0.06
Lactose	0.09	0.04	0.01	0.12	-0.01	-0.08	0.58	-0.05	-0.13
Magnesium stearate	0.99	0.88	0.73	1.00	0.63	-0.34	0.43	0.03	-0.34
Mannitol	0.05	0.03	0.01	0.15	0.00	-0.05	0.18	0.01	-0.06
мсс	0.31	0.18	0.08	0.26	0.50	0.14	0.58	0.04	-0.17
PEO	0.05	0.02	-0.01	0.08	-0.02	-0.07	0.16	-0.05	-0.10
PVA	0.37	0.49	0.23	0.38	0.25	-0.16	NaN	-0.03	-0.09
Povidone	0.67	0.57	0.49	0.67	0.41	-0.08	NaN	0.04	-0.07
alginate	0 19	0.61	0.05	0 19	0.03	-0 30	NaN	-0.09	-0.16
Stearic acid	0.67	0.53	0.44	0.63	1.00	0.19	NaN	0.04	-0.05
Talc	0.82	0.71	0.60	0.83	0.51	-0.08	0.50	0.04	-0.10
Titanium dioxide	0.14	0.11	0.08	0.14	0.07	0.07	-0.12	0.16	-0.06
Xanthan gum	0.06	0.01	-0.02	0.06	-0.02	-0.31	0.12	-0.15	-0.11
Weight[mg]	-0.01	-0.31	0.39	-0.34	0.19	1.00	-0.28	0.07	0.41
Height[mm]	0.21	NaN	-0.49	0.43	NaN	-0.28	1.00	0.10	-0.58
Size[mm]	0.51	0.11	-0.55	0.28	0.41	0.08	0.92	0.09	-0.61
Solubility dissolution media[g/L]	-0.03	-0.10	-0.20	-0.06	-0.03	0.11	-0.12	0.92	-0.15

## 7.3 Appendix C – Correlation coefficients of omitted variables

Variable	Aerosil	Copovidone	Dibutylsebacate	Magnesium stearate	Stearic acid	Weight[mg]	Height[mm]	20% EtOH solubility[g/L]	Coating level[%]
log D	0.00	-0.02	-0.17	0.00	-0.02	0.11	0.50	-0.21	-0.15
20% EtOH solubility[g/L]	0.07	-0.09	-0.27	0.03	0.04	0.07	0.10	1.00	-0.23
40% EtOH			•						••
solubility[g/L]	0.09	-0.10	-0.30	0.11	0.08	0.08	0.44	0.92	-0.26
Solubility ratio 40	0.05	-0.05	-0.05	-0.02	-0.05	-0.03	0.42	-0.12	-0.06
Drug loading (%)	-0.25	0.12	0.37	-0.06	-0.32	-0.07	0.05	-0.19	0.31
Compression strength									
[MPa]	-0.47	NaN	NaN	0.31	-0.29	-0.07	-0.99	-0.05	-0.09
Breaking Force [N] Preparation [Melted=1, compressed=0]	0.90 -0.46	NaN -0.26	NaN 0.57	0.34 -0.10	NaN -0.26	0.14	0.11	-0.01 -0.09	NaN 0.53
Tablet type									
[Coated=1;matrix=0]	-0.07	-0.21	0.63	-0.43	0.41	0.46	-0.63	-0.14	0.98
F2 40	-0.01	-0.05	0.22	0.20	-0.17	-0.01	0.06	-0.03	0.21
ASD 40	-0.01	0.00	-0.16	-0.15	0.10	0.05	-0.19	-0.02	-0.14
F2 20	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.07	0.12	0.00
ASD 20	-0.08	NaN	-0.05	-0.14	NaN	0.13	-0.21	-0.18	-0.05
MDT 40	0.24	-0.17	-0.10	-0.18	0.66	0.21	0.30	0.02	-0.08
MDT 20	-0.02	NaN	0.05	-0.07	NaN	-0.06	-0.08	-0.06	-0.02
MDT 0	-0.01	-0.17	-0.06	-0.21	0.24	0.27	-0.16	-0.05	-0.03
Coating level[%]	-0.27	-0.16	0.97	-0.34	-0.05	0.41	-0.58	-0.23	1.00
MDT 40/ratio	0.23	-0.09	-0.10	0.05	0.45	0.03	0.45	0.14	-0.13
MDT 20/ratio	-0.34	NaN	0.02	0.45	-0.70	-0.37	0.42	0.09	-0.10

## 7.4 Appendix D – VIF values for MLR

Original variables			After deletion of variables			
VIF	variable	VIF	variable			
3.18	Calcium stearate	2.20	Calcium stearate			
3.13	Carbopol 971 P NF	2.28	Carbopol 971 P NF			
2.72	Carbopol 974 P	2.04	Carbopol 974 P			
210.21	Ethylcellulose*	5.23	Ethylcellulose*			
9.16	Eudragit RS	6.60	Eudragit RS			
7.59	Glycerol Dibehenate	2.44	Glycerol Dibehenate			
2.64	Guar gum	2.21	Guar gum			
12.52	HPC	3.10	HPC			
3.17	НРМС	2.81	НРМС			
3.81	Hydroxypropylstarch	3.35	Hydroxypropylstarch			
7.26	Kollidon SR	2.54	Kollidon SR			
4.12	Lactose	2.77	Lactose			
3.18	Mannitol	2.89	Mannitol			
15.86	MCC**	11.39	MCC**			
1.82	PEO	1.59	PEO			
2.63	PVA	2.36	PVA			
4.68	Povidone	3.10	Povidone			
15.23	Propylenglycol alginate	7.46	Propylenglycol alginate			
12.52	Talc	4.71	Talc			
1.69	Titanium dioxide	1.63	Titanium dioxide			
1.82	Xanthan gum	1.43	Xanthan gum			
15.18	Size[mm]	4.49	Size[mm]			
79.71	Solubility dissolution media[g/L]	6.42	Solubility dissolution media[g/L]			
3.83	log D	3.02	log D			
100.55	40% EtOH solubility[g/L]	7.64	40% EtOH solubility[g/L]			
4.26	Solubility ratio 40	2.93	Solubility ratio 40			
14.82	Drug loading (%)	7.80	Drug loading (%)			
2.93	Compression strength [MPa]	2.09	Compression strength [MPa]			
12.19	Breaking Force [N]	5.69	Breaking Force [N]			
4.88	Preparation [Melted=1,compressed=0]	4 03	Preparation			
5.72	Tablet type [Coated=1;matrix=0]		[Melted=1,compressed=0]			
775.53	Aerosil	3.73	Tablet type [Coated=1;matrix=0]			
90.73	Dibutylsebacate					
6.05	Height[mm]					
792.14	Magnesium stearate					
326.09	Coating level[%]					
263.60	20% EtOH solubility[g/L]					
41.27	Stearic acid					
109.88	Copovidone					
15.73	Weight[mg]					

\* Ethylcellulose was not eliminated in order, due to the high correlation to Dibutylsebacate. The value reduced after deletion of Dibutylsebacate.

 $\ast\ast$  MCC was not removed, as there was no high correlation with another variable.

## 7.5 Appendix E – Correlation coefficients for %-release-via-diffusion ratios

Variable	TPD_40_0	TPD_20_0
Calcium stearate	-0.04	-0.06
Carbopol 971 P NF	0.09	0.06
Carbopol 974 P	-0.04	-0.13
Ethylcellulose	-0.12	-0.08
Eudragit RS	-0.06	-0.02
Glycerol Dibehenate	0.25	-0.08
Guar gum	-0.05	-0.07
НРС	-0.03	NaN
НРМС	0.18	0.12
Hydroxypropylstarch	-0.04	NaN
Kollidon SR	-0.01	NaN
Lactose	0.26	-0.04
Mannitol	-0.02	NaN
MCC	0.02	-0.11
PEO	-0.04	NaN
PVA	-0.04	NaN
Povidone	-0.03	NaN
Propylenglycol alginate	-0.06	NaN
Talc	-0.03	-0.03
Titanium dioxide	-0.02	-0.03
Xanthan gum	-0.05	NaN
Size[mm]	0.07	0.17
Solubility dissolution media[g/L]	-0.06	-0.10
log D	0.20	0.10
40% EtOH solubility[g/L]	-0.04	-0.12
Solubility ratio 40	0.49	0.11
Drug loading (%)	-0.12	-0.10
Compression strength [MPa]	0.01	0.43
Breaking Force [N]	0.00	-0.37
Preparation[Melted=1,compressed=0]	-0.17	-0.19
Tablet type[Coated=1;matrix=0]	0.12	0.05
F2 40	-0.05	-0.11
ASD 40	0.05	0.04
F2 20	-0.09	-0.14
ASD 20	0.00	0.04
MDT 40	0.07	0.07
MDT 20	0.19	0.13
MDT 0	0.10	0.05
MDT 40/ratio	-0.03	-0.03
MDT 20/ratio	-0.22	0.05
TPD_40_0	1.00	0.59
TPD_20_0	0.59	1.00